# IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA ATLANTA DIVISION

IN RE:	)	Chapter 11
MILES PROPERTIES, INC., et al., Debtors.	)	CASE NO. 10-60797-MHM
Debtors.	)	Jointly Administered
	,	

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT WITH RESPECT TO JOINT PLAN OF REORGANIZATION OF MPI PORTFOLIO I, LLC, MPI AZALEA, LLC, MILES-CHERRY HILL, LLC, MILES-OAK PARK, LLC, MILES-FOX HOLLOW, LLC, MPI CIMARRON, LLC, MPI SUNSET PLACE, LLC, MPI PALMS WEST, LLC, AND MPI BRITISH WOODS, LLC

#### **HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP**

/s/

Mark I. Duedall

Georgia Bar No. 231770

**Suite 4100** 

600 Peachtree Street, N.E. Atlanta, GA 30308-2216

Tel: (404) 888-4034 Fax: (404) 602-8864

E-mail: mduedall@hunton.com

and

Henry P. (Toby) Long, III Virginia Bar No. 75134 to be admitted pro hac vice Riverfront Plaza, East Tower 951 East Byrd Street

Richmond, Virginia 23219-4074

Tel: (804) 787-8036 Fax: (804) 343-4600

E-mail: hlong@hunton.com

Counsel for Arbor Realty SR, Inc., as Plan

Proponent

roponeni

BERGER SINGERMAN, P.A.

/s/

Brian K. Gart

Florida Bar No. 381152, admitted pro hac vice

Paul A. Avron

Florida Bar No. 0050814, admitted pro hac vice

350 East Las Olas Boulevard, Suite 1000

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Tel: (954) 525-9900 Fax: (954) 523-2872

E-mail: bgart@bergersingerman.com pavron@bergersingerman.com

and

#### **FOLTZ MARTIN, LLC**

/s/

Jimmy C. Luke, II (Ga. Bar No. 191817) 5 Piedmont Center, Suite 750

Atlanta, GA 30305-1541

Tel: (404) 231-9397 Fax: (404) 237-1659

E-mail: *jluke@foltzmartin.com* 

Counsel for Debtor Plan Proponents

Dated: November 11, 2010

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INT	RODUCTION	1
	A.	Exhibits to Disclosure Statement	1
II.	NOT	TICE TO HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS	1
III.	EXP	LANATION OF CHAPTER 11	3
	A.	Overview of Chapter 11	
	B.	Purpose of Disclosure Statement	4
	C.	Plan of Reorganization.	4
IV.	SUN	IMARY OF THE PLAN	6
	A.	General Overview	6
	B.	Classification and Treatment of Claims and Interests	7
	C.	Substantive Consolidation	11
V.	DEE	TORS' BANKRUPTCY CASE	13
	A.	Factors Leading to Chapter 11 Filing	
	B.	Commencement of the Bankruptcy Case	
	C.	Significant Events Since Commencement of Bankruptcy Case	
	D.	Potential Causes of Action and Preservation of Such Causes of Action	
VI.	Mea	ns of Implementation of the Plan	26
	A.	Termination of Equitable, Legal, and Contractual Subordination Rights	
	B.	Transfer and Vesting of Debtors' Assets	
	C.	Appointment of the Liquidating Trustee and Transfer of Unsecured Creditor	
		Assets	28
	D.	Management	30
	E.	Manner of Payments Under the Plan	
	F.	Unclaimed Consideration	
	G.	Term of Injunctions or Stays	
	H.	Date for Objections to Claims or Interests	
	I.	Corporate Action	
	J.	Compliance with Tax Requirements	
	K.	Dissolution of the Debtors	
	L.	Post-Confirmation Insurance Cancellation Reimbursement	
	M.	Plan Binding	
	N.	Discharge	
	Ο.	Release of Arbor Released Parties	
	P.	Release of Debtor Released Parties	
	Q.	Release of Wachovia Released Parties	
	R.	Section 1146 Exemption	
	S.	Exculpations and Injunctions	
VII.		FIRMATION OF THE PLAN	
	A.	Requirements For Confirmation of a Plan	
	B.	Cramdown	38
VIII.	FIN	ANCIAL INFORMATION AND FEASIBILITY	39

# 

IX.	RIS	K FACTORS	40
	A.	Insufficient Acceptances	40
	B.	Confirmation Risks	40
	C.	Conditions Precedent	41
	D.	The Debtors Have No Duty To Update	41
	E.	No Representations Outside The Disclosure Statement Are Authorized	41
	F.	Information Presented Is Based On The Debtors' Books And Records	41
	G.	All Information Was Provided by Debtors And Was Relied Upon By	
		Professionals	41
	H.	No Legal Or Tax Advice Is Provided To You By This Disclosure Statement	41
	I.	No Admissions Made	42
	J.	No Waiver Of Right To Object Or Right To Recover Transfers And Estate As	sets42
	K.	Bankruptcy Law Risks and Considerations	42
X.	ALT	TERNATIVES TO CONFIRMATIOn AnD CONSUMMATION OF THE PLAN	43
XI.	CER	RTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN	44
	A.	In General	44
	B.	U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to Debtors	
	C.	U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to Holders of Claims	
XII.	CON	NCLUSION	49

# I. INTRODUCTION

MPI Portfolio I, LLC, MPI Azalea, LLC, Miles-Cherry Hill, LLC, Miles-Oak Park, LLC, Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC, MPI Cimarron, LLC, MPI Sunset Place, LLC, MPI Palms West, LLC, and MPI British Woods, LLC, as Debtors and Debtors in Possession (individually, a "Debtor," and collectively, "Debtors"), herein submit this Disclosure Statement with Respect to the Joint Plan of Reorganization of MPI Portfolio I, LLC, MPI Azalea, LLC, Miles-Cherry Hill, LLC, Miles-Oak Park, LLC, Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC, MPI Cimarron, LLC, MPI Sunset Place, LLC, MPI Palms West, LLC, and MPI British Woods, LLC (the "Disclosure Statement"). This Disclosure Statement is to be used in connection with the solicitation of votes on the Joint Plan of Reorganization, dated November 9, 2010 (the "Plan"), filed and proposed jointly by Arbor Realty SR, Inc. ("Arbor") and Debtors (together with Arbor, the "Plan Proponents"). A copy of the Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit A. Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used herein have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Plan (see Article I of the Plan entitled "Definitions").

For a summary of the proposed treatment of your Claim or Interest under the Plan, please see the chart on pages 8-11 below.

#### A. Exhibits to Disclosure Statement

- (i) The Plan (attached hereto as Exhibit A);
- (ii) List of payments to third parties within the 90 day period preceding the Petition Date (attached hereto as Exhibit B and attached to the Plan as Exhibit J);
- (iii) Debtors' Liquidation Analysis (attached hereto as Exhibit C);
- (iv) Feasibility Analysis (attached hereto as Exhibit D).

# II. NOTICE TO HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

The purpose of this Disclosure Statement is to enable Creditors whose Claims are impaired under the Plan to make an informed decision in exercising their right to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT CONTAINS INFORMATION THAT MAY BEAR UPON YOUR DECISION TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN. PLEASE READ THIS DOCUMENT CAREFULLY.

On	, 2010, the Bankruptcy Court held a hearing on the	adequacy of
the Disclosure Statement	and subsequently entered an order pursuant to Section	1125 of the
Bankruptcy Code (the "Da	isclosure Statement Order") approving this Disclosure S	Statement as
containing information of	a kind, and in sufficient detail, adequate to enable a h	nypothetical,
reasonable investor, typica	al of the solicited holders of Claims against any or all of	Debtors, to
make an informed judgme	ent with respect to the acceptance or rejection of the Plan.	. A copy of

the Disclosure Statement Order is included in the materials accompanying this Disclosure Statement. Approval Of This Disclosure Statement By The Bankruptcy Court Does Not Constitute A Determination By The Bankruptcy Court Regarding The Fairness Or Merits Of The Plan.

Each holder of a Claim entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan should read this Disclosure Statement and the Plan in their entirety before voting. No solicitation of votes to accept or reject the Plan may be made except pursuant to this Disclosure Statement and Section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code. Except for the Plan Proponents and their professionals, no person has been authorized to use or promulgate any information concerning Debtors, their business, or the Plan, other than the information contained herein, in connection with the solicitation of votes to accept or reject the Plan. No holder of a Claim entitled to vote on the Plan should rely upon any information relating to Debtors, their business, or the Plan other than that contained in this Disclosure Statement and the exhibits hereto. Unless otherwise indicated, the source of all information set forth herein are Debtors and their professionals.

After carefully reviewing this Disclosure Statement, including the attached exhibits, please indicate your acceptance or rejection of the Plan by voting in favor of or against the Plan on the enclosed ballot and returning the same to the address set forth on the ballot, in the enclosed return envelope so that it will be received by the Office of the Clerk, United States Bankruptcy Court, Northern District of Georgia, 1340 United States Courthouse, 75 Spring Street, S.W., Atlanta, GA 30303-3637, no later than 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2010.

If you are a holder of a Claim in Class 2, 4, or 5 and you did not receive a Ballot with this Disclosure Statement, please contact:

Kerry Goins Berger Singerman, P.A. 350 East Las Olas Blvd., Suite 1000 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 Tel: (954) 525-9500

Tel: (954) 525-9500 Fax: (954) 523-2872

Email: kgoins@bergersingerman.com

If you do not vote to accept the Plan, or if you are the holder of an unimpaired Claim, you may be bound by the Plan if it is accepted by the requisite holders of Claims.

# TO BE SURE YOUR BALLOT IS COUNTED, YOUR BALLOT MUST BE RECEIVED NO LATER THAN 5:00 P.M. EASTERN TIME, ON \_\_\_\_\_, 2010.

F	ursu	ant to Sect	ion 1128 of the	Bar	ıkrupt	cy Coc	le, the	Bankruptcy Cour	t has schedu	ıled a
hearing	to	consider	confirmation	of	the	Plan	(the	"Confirmation	Hearing")	, on
		, 2010	, at n	n. E	asterr	ı Time	, in th	e United States I	Bankruptcy (	Court
for the l	North	nern Distric	ct of Georgia,	Atla	nta D	ivision	. The	Bankruptcy Co	urt has dir	ected
that ob	jectio	ons, if an	y, to confirm	atior	of t	the Pla	an be	filed and serve	d on or b	efore
`		, 2010.	•							

THE PLAN PROPONENTS SUPPORT CONFIRMATION OF THE PLAN AND URGE ALL HOLDERS OF IMPAIRED CLAIMS TO ACCEPT THE PLAN.

### **Identity of Persons to Contact For More Information**

Any interested party desiring further information about the Disclosure Statement or the Plan should contact counsel for Debtors, Brian K. Gart, Esq. or Paul A. Avron, Esq., Berger Singerman, P.A., 350 East Las Olas Blvd., Suite 1000, Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301, Tel: (954) 525-9900 or (561) 241-9500, or Jimmy C. Luke, Esq., Foltz Martin, LLC, 5 Piedmont Center, Ste. 750, Atlanta, GA 30305-1541, Tel: (404) 231-9397, or counsel for Arbor, Mark I. Duedall, Esq., Hunton & Williams, LLP, Bank of America Plaza, Ste. 4100, 600 Peachtree Street, N.E.. Atlanta, GA 30308, Tel: (404) 888-4034.

# III. EXPLANATION OF CHAPTER 11

### A. Overview of Chapter 11

Chapter 11 is the principal reorganization chapter of the Bankruptcy Code. Pursuant to Chapter 11, a debtor in possession attempts to reorganize its business for the benefit of the debtor, its creditors, and other parties in interest.

The commencement of a Chapter 11 case creates an estate comprising all the legal and equitable interests of a debtor in property as of the date the bankruptcy petition is filed. Sections 1101, 1107, and 1108 of the Bankruptcy Code provide that a debtor may continue to operate its business and remain in possession of its property as a "debtor in possession" unless the bankruptcy court orders the appointment of a trustee. In the present Chapter 11 case, Debtors have remained in possession of their properties as debtors in possession.

The filing of a Chapter 11 petition also triggers the automatic stay provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code provides, among other things, for an automatic stay of all attempts to collect prepetition claims from a debtor or otherwise interfere with its property or business. Except as otherwise ordered by the bankruptcy court, the automatic stay remains in full force and effect until the effective date of a confirmed plan of reorganization.

The formulation of a plan of reorganization is the principal purpose of a Chapter 11 case. The plan sets forth the means for satisfying the claims against and interests in a debtor. Generally, unless a trustee is appointed, only a debtor may file a plan during the first 120 days of a Chapter 11 case (the "Exclusive Period"). However, Section 1121(d) of the Bankruptcy Code permits the court to extend or reduce the Exclusive Period upon a showing of "cause." After the Exclusive Period has expired, a creditor or any other party in interest may file a plan, unless a debtor has filed a plan within the Exclusive Period, in which case, a debtor is generally given 60 additional days (the "Solicitation Period") during which it may solicit acceptances of its plan. The Solicitation Period may also be extended or reduced by the court upon a showing of "cause."

#### **B.** Purpose of Disclosure Statement

The purpose of this Disclosure Statement is to provide Creditors and other parties in interest who are entitled to vote on the Plan with sufficient information to enable them to make an informed decision with respect to acceptance or rejection of the Plan. This Disclosure Statement should be read in its entirety prior to voting on the Plan. This Disclosure Statement describes various transactions contemplated under the Plan. No solicitation of any vote for or against the Plan may be made except as is consistent with this Disclosure Statement, and no person has been authorized to utilize any information concerning Debtors, their businesses or the Plan other than the information contained in this Disclosure Statement. Each creditor or other party in interest is urged to carefully consider the Plan and this Disclosure Statement in their entirety and to consult legal or other counsel, if necessary, to understand the Plan and its effects, including possible tax consequences, before voting.

### C. Plan of Reorganization

Although referred to as a plan of reorganization, a plan may provide anything from a complex restructuring of a debtor's business and its related obligations to a simple sale of a debtor's assets. After a plan of reorganization has been filed, the holders of impaired claims against or interests in a debtor are permitted to vote to accept or reject the plan. Before soliciting acceptances of the proposed plan, Section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code requires a debtor to prepare a disclosure statement containing adequate information of a kind, and in sufficient detail, to enable a hypothetical reasonable investor to make an informed judgment about the plan. This Disclosure Statement is presented to holders of Claims against Debtors to satisfy the requirements of Section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code.

If all classes of claims and interests accept a plan of reorganization, the bankruptcy court may nonetheless deny confirmation of the plan unless the court independently determines that the requirements of Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code have been satisfied. Section 1129 sets forth the requirements for confirmation of a plan and, among other things, requires that a plan meet the "best interests" test and be "feasible." The "best interests" test generally requires that the value of the consideration to be distributed to the holders of claims and interests under a plan may not be less than those parties would receive if the debtor were liquidated pursuant to a hypothetical liquidation under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. Under the "feasibility" requirement, the court generally must find that there is a reasonable probability that a debtor will be able to meet its obligations under its plan without the need for further financial reorganization.

The Plan Proponents believe that the Plan satisfies all the applicable requirements of Section 1129(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, including, in particular, the "best interests of creditors" test and the "feasibility" requirement. The Plan Proponents support confirmation of the Plan and urge all holders of impaired Claims to accept the Plan.

Chapter 11 does not require that each holder of a claim against or interest in a debtor vote in favor of a plan of reorganization in order for the bankruptcy court to confirm the plan. At a minimum, however, the plan must be accepted by a majority in number and two-thirds in amount of those claims actually voting in at least one class of impaired claims under the plan. The Bankruptcy Code also defines acceptance of the plan by a class of interests (i.e., equity

securities) as acceptance by holders of two-thirds of the number of shares actually voting. In the present case, only the holders of Claims who actually vote will be counted as either accepting or rejecting the Plan. For example, if a hypothetical class has ten creditors that vote and the total dollar amount of those ten creditors' claims is \$1,000,000, then for such class to have accepted the Plan, six or more of those creditors must have voted to accept the Plan (a simple majority), and the claims of the creditors voting to accept the Plan must total at least \$666,667 (a two-thirds majority).

In addition, classes of claims or interests that are not "impaired" under a plan of reorganization are conclusively presumed to have accepted the plan pursuant to Section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code and thus are not entitled to vote. Accordingly, acceptances of a plan will generally be solicited only from those persons who hold claims or interests in an impaired class. A class is "impaired" if the legal, equitable, or contractual rights attaching to the claims or equity interests of that class are modified in any way under the plan. Modification for purposes of determining impairment, however, does not include curing defaults and reinstating maturity or payment in full in cash. The Claims in Classes 1 and 3 are unimpaired under the Plan, and, therefore, the holders of Claims in such Classes are conclusively presumed pursuant to Section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code to have accepted the Plan. The Claims in Classes are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan. The Interests in Class 6 are impaired under the Plan and will receive nothing under the Plan, and, therefore, are conclusively presumed pursuant to Section 1126(g) of the Bankruptcy Code to have rejected the Plan.

The Bankruptcy Court may confirm a plan of reorganization even though fewer than all the classes of impaired claims and interests accept it. For a plan of reorganization to be confirmed despite its rejection by a class of impaired claims or interests, the proponent of the plan must show, among other things, that the plan does not "discriminate unfairly" and that the plan is "fair and equitable" with respect to each impaired class of claims or interests that has not accepted the plan.

Under Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, a plan is "fair and equitable" as to a class of rejecting claims if, among other things, the plan provides: (a) with respect to secured claims, that each such holder will receive or retain on account of its claim property that has a value, as of the effective date of the plan, equal to the allowed amount of such claim; and (b) with respect to unsecured claims and equity interests, that the holder of any claim or equity interest that is junior to the claims or equity interests of such class will not receive or retain on account of such junior claim or equity interest any property at all unless the senior class is paid in full.

A plan does not "discriminate unfairly" against a rejecting class of claims if (a) the relative value of the recovery of such class under the plan does not differ materially from that of any class (or classes) of similarly situated claims, and (b) no senior class of claims is to receive more than 100% of the amount of the claims in such class.

The Plan Proponents believe that the Plan has been structured so that it will satisfy these requirements as to any rejecting Class of Claims or Interests, and can therefore be confirmed, if necessary, over the objection of any Class of Claims or Interests. The Plan Proponents, thus,

reserve the right to request confirmation of the Plan under the "cramdown" provisions of Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.

# IV. SUMMARY OF THE PLAN

#### A. General Overview

The Plan contemplates a sale of Debtors' apartment complex properties to Arbor, subject to higher or better bids at an auction to be convened in advance of the Confirmation Hearing. Under the Plan, Arbor will, through nine new entities, form a single holding company and then use the holding company's eight subsidiaries to purchase the eight residential apartment complexes owned by Debtors. These subsidiaries will also assume the debt, as modified by the various exhibits to the Plan owed to the Lender, which is Bank of America, N.A., Successor by Merger to Lasalle Bank National Association, as Trustee for the holders of Wachovia Bank Commercial Mortgage Trust, Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2007-Whale 8. Arbor will also re-capitalize the properties by injecting \$1,050,000 in equity, to be used to enhance the properties and their profitability, and to fund from Cash Collateral \$250,000 to the Liquidating Trust under the Plan, which will form the basis for a distribution to holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims. Arbor will also (i) provide a new guarantor of the debt owed to the Lender; (ii) form a new holding company for the eight subsidiaries, with that holding company assuming the debt (referred to in the Plan as the MPI Portfolio Note Claim) owed by MPI Portfolio to Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd. ("Arbor 2004-1"); and (iii) agree to retain Hediger Enterprises, Inc. ("Hediger") as property manager for the eight Properties for at least 90 days after closing. Because Miles Properties, Inc. ("MPI") shares in the management fees paid to Hediger pursuant to the Bankruptcy Court's order approving the sale of its management portfolio to Hediger, subject to the \$50,000 in Fee Based Payments to be paid to the Liquidating Trust, this could enhance the return available to MPI's estate. The Plan Proponents will demonstrate at the Confirmation Hearing that confirmation and consummation of the Plan are in the best interests of creditors and that the Plan will provide maximum return to creditors.

The Plan Proponents compared Debtors' prospects as ongoing business enterprises with the estimated recoveries to creditors in various other sale scenarios and concluded that the recovery for holders of Allowed Claims would be maximized by the sale to Arbor as outlined above, subject to higher and better bids. Consistent with the liquidation analysis described herein and other analyses prepared by Debtors and their professionals, the value of Debtors' estates would be significantly greater if Debtors were to continue operating as a going concern through a sale instead of liquidating.

The Plan Proponents believe that the Plan maximizes Debtors' value for the benefit of their creditors. The Plan Proponents also believe that any alternative to confirmation of the Plan, such as liquidation or attempts by another party-in-interest to file a competing plan of reorganization, would result in significant delays, unnecessary litigation, and additional costs, and ultimately would lower the recoveries for holders of Allowed Claims.

#### B. Classification and Treatment of Claims and Interests

The following is a summary of the classification and treatment of Claims and Interests under the Plan. The classification and treatment of Claims and Interests herein is without prejudice to a party in interest asserting that it is entitled to a different classification or treatment under the Plan or applicable law. The Administrative Expense Claims and Priority Tax Claims shown below constitute Debtors' estimate of the amount of such Claims, taking into account amounts, if any, paid or projected to be paid prior to the Effective Date. The total amount of Claims shown below reflects Debtors' current estimate of the likely amount of such Claims, subject to the resolution by settlement or litigation of Claims that Debtors believe are subject to disallowance or reduction. Reference should be made to the entire Disclosure Statement and to the Plan for a complete description of the classification and treatment of Claims and Interests.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS SECTION PROVIDES A SUMMARY OF THE STRUCTURE AND MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN AND THE CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS UNDER THE PLAN AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO THE PLAN (AS WELL AS THE EXHIBITS THERETO AND DEFINITIONS IN THE PLAN).

THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT INCLUDE SUMMARIES OF THE PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE PLAN AND IN THE DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN THE PLAN. THE STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT DO NOT PURPORT TO BE PRECISE OR COMPLETE STATEMENTS OF ALL THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THE PLAN OR DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN THE PLAN, AND REFERENCE IS MADE TO THE PLAN AND TO SUCH DOCUMENTS FOR THE FULL AND COMPLETE STATEMENT OF SUCH TERMS AND PROVISIONS.

THE PLAN ITSELF AND THE DOCUMENTS IN THE PLAN CONTROL THE ACTUAL TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AGAINST, AND INTERESTS IN, DEBTORS UNDER THE PLAN AND WILL, UPON THE OCCURRENCE OF THE EFFECTIVE DATE, BE BINDING UPON ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AGAINST, AND INTERESTS IN, DEBTORS, DEBTORS' ESTATES, ALL PARTIES RECEIVING PROPERTY UNDER THE PLAN AND OTHER PARTIES IN INTEREST. IN THE EVENT OF ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT, ON THE ONE HAND, AND THE PLAN OR ANY OTHER OPERATIVE DOCUMENT, ON THE OTHER HAND, THE TERMS OF THE PLAN AND/OR SUCH OTHER OPERATIVE DOCUMENT SHALL CONTROL.

Each Administrative Claim against Debtors as of the Effective Date that is or becomes an Allowed Claim against Debtors shall be paid in full in cash by the applicable Purchaser on the later of (i) the Effective Date or (ii) a date within 30 days after the date such Administrative Claim becomes an Allowed Claim; provided, however, that any undisputed Administrative Claims representing liabilities incurred by a Debtor in the ordinary course of business during the Reorganization Case shall be paid by the applicable Purchaser in accordance with the terms and provisions of the particular transactions and agreements and orders of the Bankruptcy Court, if any, relating thereto, or on such other terms as have been or may be agreed to between the holder

of such Claim and the Purchaser. Each Administrative Claim shall be filed by the Administrative Claim Bar Date. All Fee Requests shall be Filed no later than 30 days after the Effective Date, or by such other date established by the Bankruptcy Court, and the Bankruptcy Court shall convene a hearing to rule on such Fee Requests.

Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim has been paid prior to the Effective Date, or agrees to a different treatment, each holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim, in full satisfaction, release and discharge of and exchange for such Claim shall, at the option of the Purchasers, be paid by the Purchaser of that Debtor's assets (i) in full on the later of (A) the Effective Date or (B) a date within 30 days after the date such Priority Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Claim; (ii) in full by deferred cash payments over a period not exceeding six years after the date of assessment of such Claim, including an interest component as required by the provisions of 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(9)(C); or (iii) on such other terms as have been or may be agreed to between the holder of such Claim and the Purchaser. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim shall not be entitled to receive any payment on account of any penalty arising with respect to or in connection with the Allowed Priority Tax Claim.

Debtors shall be responsible for timely payment of United States Trustee quarterly fees incurred pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6). Any fees due as of the most recent quarterly invoice prior to the Confirmation Date will be paid in full within thirty (30) days after the Effective Date. After the Effective Date, Reorganized Debtors shall pay United States Trustee quarterly fees as they accrue until the Bankruptcy Case is closed. Debtors shall serve on the United States Trustee a quarterly financial report for each quarter (or portion thereof) that the Bankruptcy Case remains open.

#### 1. Classified Claims and Interests

The following is an estimate of the numbers and amounts of classified Claims and Interests to receive treatment under the Plan:

CLASS	ESTIMATED AMOUNT OF CLAIMS	TREATMENT
Class 1 —	\$0 <sup>1</sup>	Unimpaired.
Priority Claims.		
		To the extent not previously paid
		pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy
		Court, each Class 1 Claim that is or
		becomes an Allowed Claim against a
		particular Debtor shall be paid in full in

Approximately \$8,500 in Priority Claims were filed, and while the claims reconciliation process is ongoing, it appears most or all of these claims are either asserted improperly as Priority Claims, or were paid pursuant to a prior order of the Bankruptcy Court.

		cash by the Purchaser of that Debtor's assets on the later of (y) the Effective Date or (z) a date within 30 days of the date such Claim becomes an Allowed Claim.
Class 2 — Lender Claims.	\$73,300,544.20	Impaired.  On the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Class 2 Claims shall be assumed by the Purchasers pursuant to the Amended Loan Documents. Alternatively, on the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Lender shall receive the Free and Clear Sales Proceeds, plus the balance of the Cash Collateral pursuant to Section 6.2(d)(vi) of the Plan.
Class 3 — Other Secured Claims.  Each Other Secured Claim shall be deemed a different subclass.	\$290,000 <sup>2</sup>	Unimpaired.  To the extent not previously paid as allowed by the Bankruptcy Court, each Class 3 Claim (including all subclasses of Class 3) that is or becomes an Allowed Claim against a particular Debtor shall, at the option of the Purchaser of that Debtor's assets, either (i) retain all the legal, equitable, and contractual rights to which such Allowed Claim entitles the holder, with enforcement of those rights to be made against (y) the Purchaser of that Debtor's assets or (z) the particular assets acquired by the Purchaser which secured the Other Secured Claim, or (ii) be paid in full by the Purchaser of that Debtor's assets which was obligated on the Allowed Claim on the later of (y) the Effective Date and (z) a date within 30 days of the date such Claim becomes an Allowed Claim.

Most or all of these are property tax claims, which may or may not be entitled to priority status; certain of them may have also been filed in a protective nature for taxes that were later

Class 4 — The	¢11 970 020	Immained
MPI Portfolio	\$11,860.928	Impaired.
Note Claim.		On the Effective Date in a
Note Claim.		Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the
		MPI Portfolio Note Claim (owed to
		Arbor 2004-1) shall be assumed by GA
		Portfolio (or, if the Purchasers are not the
		Arbor Purchasers, the parent company of
		the Purchasers), as modified by the
		Amended MPI Portfolio Note.
		Alternatively, on the Effective Date in a
		Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale,
		the holder of the MPI Portfolio Note
		Claim shall receive any Free and Clear
		Sales Proceeds after payment in full of
		the Lender Claims; if the Lender Claims
		are not paid in full, then the holder of the
		MPI Portfolio Note Claim shall receive
		nothing in a Reorganization via Free and
		Clear Sale.
	04.000.0003	
Class 5 —	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	Impaired.
General	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	_
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of
General	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets,
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which,
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which, on the Effective Date, shall vest in the
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which, on the Effective Date, shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. Each holder of an
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which, on the Effective Date, shall vest in the
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which, on the Effective Date, shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim that is
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which, on the Effective Date, shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim that is a member of Class 4, on the Effective
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which, on the Effective Date, shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim that is a member of Class 4, on the Effective Date, shall receive its pro rata share of
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which, on the Effective Date, shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim that is a member of Class 4, on the Effective Date, shall receive its pro rata share of the proceeds of the Unsecured Creditors'
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which, on the Effective Date, shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim that is a member of Class 4, on the Effective Date, shall receive its pro rata share of the proceeds of the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, net of the costs of the Liquidating
General Unsecured	\$1,250,000 <sup>3</sup>	On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, other than the Retained Actions which, on the Effective Date, shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim that is a member of Class 4, on the Effective Date, shall receive its pro rata share of the proceeds of the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, net of the costs of the Liquidating Trustee, as and when the Liquidating

paid or are not due until future dates. The Plan Proponents are in the process of reconciling these claims.

Debtors are in the process of reconciling these claims. In addition, various creditors may have filed claims in affiliated cases that should be properly re-classified as claims against

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 14 of 126

Class 6 —	N/A	Impaired.
Interests.	IN/A	No property or assets of any kind shall be distributed to, or retained by, the holders of Interests classified in Class 6 in respect of any such Interest so classified, regardless of whether such Interest is Allowed inasmuch as all such Interests
		are being canceled.

Nothing herein shall be dispositive of the allowance of any Claims or constitute a waiver by Debtors or any other party in interest of the right to object to such Claims. Debtors are not stipulating to the validity or amount of any of the foregoing Claims. The amounts set forth above for the classes of Claims are simply estimates based upon Debtors' Schedules and/or the proofs of Claim filed as of the Claims Bar Date for filing such proofs of Claim.

#### C. Substantive Consolidation

The Plan proposes the substantive consolidation of Debtors' Estates. The entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute approval by the Bankruptcy Court, pursuant to Sections 105(a) and 1123(a)(5)(C) of the Bankruptcy Code, of substantive consolidation. To the extent the Plan is not confirmed, then the request of the Plan Proponents for substantive consolidation shall be deemed withdrawn, and absent any further order of the Bankruptcy Court, Debtors' Estates shall not be substantively consolidated. Under the Plan, substantive consolidation, if granted, shall not affect or change any Avoidance Action or Retained Actions that any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor would possess, respectively, or any defenses that any defendant in respect of any Avoidance Actions or Retained Actions would have in connection therewith, in the absence of such substantive consolidation.

In bankruptcy cases with affiliated debtors, a bankruptcy court may exercise its equitable powers to authorize the "substantive consolidation" of the estates of debtor affiliates for purposes of the plan of reorganization. Substantive consolidation involves the pooling of assets and liabilities of the affected debtors. Generally, all debtors in the substantively consolidated group are treated as if they were a single corporate entity and economic entity. In that circumstance, a creditor of one of the substantively consolidated group of debtors will be treated as a creditor of the substantively consolidated group of debtors, and issues of individual corporate ownership or property and individual corporate liability or obligations are ignored.

Established case law in this circuit provides that substantive consolidation is appropriate when a movant demonstrates that (i) there is a substantial identity between entities to be consolidated, and (ii) consolidation is necessary to avoid some harm or to realize some benefit. See Eastgroup Props. v. Southern Motel Assocs., Ltd., 935 F.2d 245 (11th Cir. 1991). Moreover,

Debtors. Accordingly, this number may vary substantially once the claims reconciliation process is done.

in appropriate circumstances, bankruptcy courts have the power to order limited or partial substantive consolidation, or to place conditions on the substantive consolidation, such as the preservation of avoidance claims by the formerly separate estates. See In re Levitt & Sons, LLC, et al., Case No. 07-19845-RBR (Bankr. S.D. Fla. Feb. 20, 2009) (Doc. No. 4646) (amended order confirming Chapter 11 liquidating plan approved, among other things, substantive consolidation of multiple estates while preserving avoidance actions); In re Avery, 337 B.R. 264, 268 (Bankr. D. Alaska 2007) ("A bankruptcy court has discretion to order *nunc pro tunc* consolidation. This may enable a trustee to preserve fraudulent transfer and avoidance proceedings with regard to related entities which might otherwise be barred due to statutes of limitation."); see also In re Creditors Serv. Corp., 195 B.R. 680, 689 (Bankr. S.D. Ohio 1996) ("Substantive consolidation may be limited to certain classes of claims, specific property, or may be appropriately conditioned.").

There is a substantial identity between the eight Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers (defined below and eight of the nine Debtors) as they share a single senior secured Lender, and their equity interests secure the claim of another lender of Debtors. The eight Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers are all jointly and severally liable on the Lender's claims, and all of the Lender's claims are cross-collateralized with all of the Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers' assets. Arbor Realty Funding LLC ("Arbor Funding") is a junior participant in the Lender's secured debt. Arbor 2004-1, which is affiliated with Arbor Funding, has the only claim (which is the MPI Portfolio Note Claim) against the parent company of the eight Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers, MPI Portfolio. And as noted above, the equity interests in the eight Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers serve as collateral for the claims of Arbor 2004-1. In short, the combined debt owed to these senior and junior secured lenders predominates the total claim pool: \$85 million of the estimated total \$87 million in claims against Debtors are held by the Lender and Arbor 2004-1.

Moreover, substantive consolidation is consistent with the Court's prior ruling, in its amended final cash collateral order (Doc. No. 819), that "Cash Collateral may be used on a consolidated basis among ... Debtors for the [Properties], but Debtors may not use any Cash Collateral for the benefit of any apartment complex, asset, or property owned by any non-Debtor." Allowing Debtors to use the Lender's Cash Collateral has allowed them to continue operating their respective Properties during their Reorganization Cases and facilitated the transaction contemplated by this Disclosure Statement and Plan through which the substantial debt owed to the Lender and Arbor 2004-1 will be assumed by the Purchaser. This transaction is also the basis upon which funds are being made available to unsecured creditors for distribution on the Effective Date--the Lender has indicated its willingness, if the Plan is confirmed, to allow \$250,000 of its Cash Collateral to go to fund a distribution to holders of allowed Class 5 Claims. Hence, substantive consolidation is necessary to benefit all Debtors' estates. Debtors expect that Wachovia, on behalf of the Lender, will not object to the Plan and the funds available for distribution to each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim from Cash Collateral are equally available to such eligible claimants based on their pro rata share of such Claims.

Pursuant to the Plan, the Plan Proponents seek to place certain conditions on substantive consolidation, including specifically as it relates to preservation of Avoidance Actions and Retained Actions possessed by a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, respectively. For the avoidance of doubt, the elimination of intercompany claims between and among Debtors in respect of the

ZBA shall in no way impair the right or ability of Debtors, or any one or more Debtors, to prosecute claims or causes of action against any third parties including, but not limited to, former officers and directors of any Debtor, Affiliated Debtor or any non-Debtor affiliate (excluding Ronald L. Glass and James L. Mauck, Jr.) arising out of the implementation and operation of the ZBA and any transfers of property belonging to any Debtor to any other Debtor, Affiliated Debtors or non-Debtor affiliate. Moreover, in an abundance of caution, the elimination of intercompany claims between and among these Debtors in respect of the ZBA shall in no way impair the right or ability of Affiliated Debtors, including MPI, and non-Debtor affiliates, from prosecuting claims or causes of action against any third parties including, but not limited to, former officers and directors of any Debtor, Affiliated Debtor or any non-Debtor affiliate (excluding Ronald L. Glass and James L. Mauck, Jr.) arising out of the implementation and operation of the ZBA and any transfers of property belonging to any Debtor to any other Debtor, Affiliated Debtors or non-Debtor affiliate.

Accordingly, the Plan Proponents believe that the facts and circumstances support substantive consolidation of Debtors and will further demonstrate at the Confirmation Hearing that substantive consolidation is in the best interests of Debtors' Estates.

# V. DEBTORS' BANKRUPTCY CASE

### A. Factors Leading to Chapter 11 Filing

# 1. Industry/Business Conditions

With the exception of MPI Portfolio I, LLC, Debtors' operations are in the real estate industry, with each of them owning and, through a management company, operating residential real estate projects, i.e., multi-family apartment complexes (collectively, the "*Properties*"). The economy, generally, and the real estate industry, specifically, suffered a dramatic slowdown after years of strong growth driven, in part, by low consumer confidence and tightening credit availability. Debtors, certain Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliates (collectively, the "*Company*") accumulated past due payables that created operational issues as vendor refusal to continue to provide goods and services precluded or slowed down unit turnover. Moreover, bad debt losses were significantly above historical levels as the available tenant base had a lower economic/credit profile than historically normal for multi-family properties of the type owned and operated by the Company. This was the result of several factors, including rising unemployment and the large "shadow market" of available single-family homes and condominiums for rent that applied downward pricing pressure to apartment rents. Further, turnover rates were also well above normal levels, primarily due to the circumstances noted

Some of the information contained in this section of this Disclosure Statement was derived from a review of publicly available information.

Additional affiliated entities also filed Chapter 11 cases with Debtors in January 2010: (i) MPI, (ii) MPI Development Group, Inc., (iii) Miles-April Ridge, LLC and (iv) MPI Chaucer, LLC (collectively, "*Affiliated Debtors*"). Affiliated Debtor entities are *not* the subject of this Disclosure Statement and accompanying Plan.

above. These higher turnover rates negatively impacted both repair and maintenance expenses and utility costs, which, in conjunction with a lack of adequate capital, negatively affected the Company's ability to turn and lease units and, consequently, led to a decline in occupancy rates.

In respect to the economy, the commercial real estate capital markets experienced considerable liquidity and other business challenges stemming from, among other things, high default rates on the loans, declining asset values and a steep decline in loan originations, impairing the ability to originate loans that could be sold on profitable terms and substantially reducing lender cash flows and net income. According to the FDIC, one hundred forty banks failed between January 2009 and November 2009,6 including Corus Bank, N.A. (Chicago, Illinois), Colonial Bank (Montgomery, Alabama) and BankUnited, FSB (Coral Gables, Florida), as well as two Atlanta area banks—Silverton Bank, N.A. and Integrity Bank—that through either the FDIC or subsequent note buyers are creditors of certain non-Debtor affiliates. The turmoil in the U.S. economy resulted in the acquisition of Bear Stearns by JP Morgan Chase, a bankruptcy filing for Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., an \$85 billion bailout of AIG and a massive economic rescue plan exceeding \$700 billion approved by Congress. While the stock market, and other macro economic indicators generally improved prior to the filing of the Reorganization Cases, the fundamental problems associated with the real estate market and the lack of liquidity remained as substantial obstacles.

As described above, certain of Debtors' financial conditions deteriorated, in large part due to the substantial economic downturn, including tightening capital markets, rising unemployment and declining rents, among other items. Further, certain Debtors were severely impacted by intercompany claims through use of a zero balance account system.

Prior to February 2009, Debtors shared a common cash management system. Specifically, MPI and most affiliates, including Debtors, utilized a so-called "Zero Balance Account System" (the "ZBA") as their primary cash management system since 1999, or inception of the respective entity, whichever came later. The ZBA was comprised of a top-level master account and sub-accounts for MPI and the aforementioned affiliates, including Debtors. Each day, funds deposited into the sub-accounts were up-streamed into the master account. When checks or other debits were presented for a particular entity sub-account, the necessary funds were down-streamed from the master account into the respective sub-account, regardless of whether or not the specific sub-account was owed money from the master account, and then processed like any other debit. Remaining funds in the master account in excess of the downstreamed amounts were not returned to their respective sub-accounts. Beginning in November 2008, at the advice and direction of counsel, no additional funds were down-streamed from the master account into sub-accounts which constituted affiliate advances. The use of the ZBA was subsequently discontinued in February 2009 and all existing ZBA sub-accounts were either closed, converted into a stand-alone account at the existing depository bank, or closed and opened as a stand-alone account at a new depository bank.

As a result of the manner in which Debtors previously operated their cash management system, there are significant intercompany claims owed by and among the Debtors (and their Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliates), as cash generated by one Debtor, Affiliated Debtor

See http://www.fdic.gov/bank/historical/bank.html.

or non-Debtor affiliate was used to pay expenses of another Debtor, Affiliated Debtor or non-Debtor affiliate on a regular basis.

As explained in his *Declaration in Support of First Day Pleadings* (Doc. No. 10), based on a review by then Chief Restructuring Officer now Interim Chief Executive Officer of Debtors Ronald L. Glass of the books and records of Debtors (and their Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliates), the exact amount of intercompany claims cannot be readily or precisely quantified. Mr. Glass concluded that it would require the expenditure of an inordinate amount of professional fees in order to re-create thousands of transactions between Debtors (and their Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliates), spanning up to ten years, and that it was not practically or economically feasible to do so. Mr. Glass explained that, even if the forensic recreation of such intercompany claims were practical and economically feasible, it is highly doubtful that the results achieved would be reliable as there is substantial doubt as to the accuracy of the books and records of Debtors (and their Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliates) over the past ten years. Mr. Glass further explained that it is impossible to recover in respect of intercompany claims from affiliated LLC entities whose underlying properties have since been foreclosed and otherwise have no assets.<sup>7</sup>

# 2. Retention of CFO, Interim Management and Counsel; Pre-Bankruptcy Restructuring Efforts

In September 2007, James L. Mauck Jr. was hired to serve as Chief Financial Officer (the "CFO") for MPI. Mr. Mauck was brought in to assume responsibility for overseeing Debtors' (and their Affiliated Debtors and certain non-Debtor affiliates') accounting, financial planning & analysis, cash management and purchasing functions. Shortly after beginning his employment, the CFO discovered, among other things, that most balance sheet accounts for most of Debtors (and their Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliates) had not been fully reconciled in quite some time, including the ZBA cash accounts. The CFO began implementing processes for improving balance sheet controls, starting with cash, including basic bank reconciliations. In January 2008, the CFO, on behalf of MPI, engaged Tatum, LLC ("Tatum"), a professional Accounting and Finance firm, to assist with completing bank reconciliations and other cash-related internal control improvements, among other items. Tatum was engaged for approximately three months, during which time two additional CPAs were hired and significant accounting and internal control improvements were made; however, all cash sub-accounts within the ZBA were not fully reconciled to the top-level master account until August of 2008. Shortly

Mr. Glass advised that, based on the foregoing and at his direction, management of Debtors (and their Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliates) had taken a balance sheet approach to establishing the estimated intercompany claims. Specifically, each Debtor (and Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliate) established its reconciled general ledger account balance upon closing of the ZBA in February 2009. Next, based on the actual master account bank balance and the general ledger balances of the master account and each sub-account upon ZBA closing, each Debtor (and Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliate) calculated their prorata portion of actual cash in the bank. The difference between this calculated pro-rata cash balance and the reconciled general ledger balance of each Debtor (and Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliate) was used to establish the amount of the intercompany claim.

thereafter, in light of the economic downturn noted above, coupled with the potential intercompany claims resulting from the use of the ZBA, MPI began interviewing legal and financial advisory firms specializing in corporate restructuring.

In October 2008, Mr. Miles retained GlassRatner Advisory & Capital Group, LLC ("GlassRatner") and the law firm of Berger Singerman, P.A. to help address Debtors' financial issues and assist in restructuring or reorganizing Debtors, Affiliated Debtors and certain non-Debtor affiliates.

In March 2009, Debtors, Affiliated Debtors and certain non-Debtor affiliates retained GlassRatner to provide interim management services, including providing the services of Ronald L. Glass as Chief Restructuring Officer.

From October of 2008 through July of 2009, as the economy continued to deteriorate, the above referenced professionals attempted to address the Company's financial issues. Despite the best efforts of Mr. Glass and the other professionals, occupancy levels and revenues at MPI and many of Debtors, Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor affiliates continued to decline as a result of the economic and market conditions discussed above, coupled with tightening cash balances. Property maintenance, advertising and the ability to turn units to lease to new residents suffered. In addition, employee turnover increased due, in part, to the lack of capital and growing frustration over the inability to appropriately manage the Properties. Generally speaking, the situation at many Debtors, Affiliated Debtors and non-Debtor Affiliates continued to deteriorate and several Properties had reached critical points where it was clear that the only possible way to protect certain Properties worth saving was through a Chapter 11 filing.

Additionally, Debtors' cases were necessitated because Wachovia, as special servicer under the Wachovia Portfolio Debt (defined below), asserted a technical default based upon an artificially high debt service coverage ratio resulting in the establishment of a Curtailment Reserve. This curtailment had a significant negative impact on the capital necessary to operate and maintain the Properties which were otherwise capable of meeting debt service.

Debtors (and Affiliated Debtors) commenced these Reorganization Cases in order to gain breathing room to allow them to pursue a financial restructuring intended to maximize the value of their assets for all constituents. Debtors (and Affiliated Debtors) engaged in discussions with certain lenders and noteholders regarding loan restructuring or extension options. In addition, significant steps were taken to reduce operating expenses, including the reduction in discretionary expenses, property tax appeals. Debtors (and Affiliated Debtors) have continued to pursue cost reductions, where applicable, during the course of their Reorganization Cases.

#### 3. Liquidity and Capital Structure

#### (i) MPI Portfolio I, LLC

MPI Portfolio I, LLC ("MPI Portfolio") is indebted to Arbor 2004-1, as successor to Wachovia Bank, N.A. n/k/a Wells Fargo, N.A. ("Wachovia") in the approximate amount

of \$11,860,930.00 (the "*MPI Portfolio I Debt*"). The MPI Portfolio I Debt is secured by a lien on the equity of MPI Azalea, Miles-Cherry Hill, Miles-Oak Park, Miles-Fox Hollow, MPI Cimarron, MPI Sunset Place, MPI Palms West, and MPI British Woods. The MPI Portfolio Debt is evidenced by that Loan and Security Agreement (Mezzanine Loan) entered into on May 17, 2007, in favor of Arbor 2004-1, as successor to Wachovia, and by the following: (a) Promissory Note, dated May 17, 2007, in the amount of \$15,000,000.00 in favor of Arbor 2004-1 as successor to Wachovia; (b) Collateral Assignment of Interest Rate Hedge Agreement, dated May 17, 2007, in favor of Arbor 2004-1 as successor to Wachovia; and (c) Mezzanine Lockbox Agreement, dated May 17, 2007, in favor of Arbor 2004-1 as successor to Wachovia (collectively the "*MPI Portfolio I Loan Documents*").

Under the MPI Portfolio I Loan Documents, MPI Portfolio was required to pay, on a monthly basis, beginning on July 9, 2007, and through and including June 9, 2010, all accrued but unpaid interest on the outstanding principal amount of the loan at the Interest Rate as provided in the MPI Portfolio I Loan Documents. The unpaid principal balance of the Note, together with all accrued and unpaid interest, was due and payable in full on June 9, 2010.

# (ii) MPI Azalea, Miles-Cherry Hill, Miles-Oak Park, Miles-Fox Hollow, MPI Cimarron, MPI Sunset Place, MPI Palms West, and MPI British Woods

MPI Azalea, Miles-Cherry Hill, Miles-Oak Park, Miles-Fox Hollow, MPI Cimarron, MPI Sunset, MPI Palms West and MPI British Woods (collectively, the "*Wachovia Portfolio*" or the "*Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers*"), are jointly and severally liable for and indebted to the Lender, for which Wachovia serves as special servicer, in the approximate amount of \$73,300,543.00 (the "*Wachovia Portfolio Debt*"). The Wachovia Portfolio Debt is evidenced by the following: (a) Promissory Note, dated May 17, 2007, as amended, in favor of Wachovia, in the principal amount of \$92,700,000.00; (b) Deed to Secure Debt, Security Agreement, Assignment of Rents and Fixture Filing, dated May 17, 2007, in favor of Wachovia; (c)

The MPI Portfolio I Debt is guaranteed by Daniel J. Miles. Mr. Miles is a Chapter 7 debtor before the Bankruptcy Court (Case No. 09-92601-MHM), and James Cifelli is the Chapter 7 Trustee. The MPI Portfolio I Debt is nonrecourse to MPI Portfolio pursuant to section 4.1 of the Promissory Note entered into on May 17, 2007, which provides, in part, as follows: "Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Note or the other Loan Documents, the obligations of Borrower hereunder shall be non-recourse except with respect to the Property and as otherwise provided in Section 8.01 of the Security Instrument...."

The Wachovia Portfolio Debt is guaranteed by Daniel J. Miles. The Wachovia Portfolio Debt is nonrecourse to the entities comprising the Wachovia Portfolio Debtors pursuant to section 4.1 of the Promissory Note entered into on May 17, 2007, as amended, which provides, in part, as follows: "Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Note of the other Loan Documents, the obligations of Borrower hereunder shall be non-recourse except with respect to the Property and as otherwise provided in Section 18.32 of the Security Instrument...." There were two non-Debtor obligors on the Promissory Note, MPI Fountain Square, LLC and MPI Timbers, LLC; however, the properties owned by these two entities were sold to unrelated third parties in the first quarter of 2008 and the Wachovia Portfolio Loan Documents (as defined below) were modified to reflect, among other things, the sale of these properties.

Assignment of Leases and Rents and Security Deposits, dated May 17, 2007, in favor of Wachovia; and (d) Rent Account Agreement, dated May 17, 2007, in favor of Wachovia (collectively, the "Wachovia Portfolio Loan Documents"). The outstanding principal amount on the Note reflects indebtedness of the entities comprising the Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers. The underlying assets held by the entities comprising the Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers are cross-collateralized and cross-defaulted. Pre-petition, the Wachovia Portfolio Debt was transferred to the Lender, but Wachovia remains as special servicer of the Wachovia Portfolio Debt.

Under the Wachovia Portfolio Loan Documents, each of the Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers was required to pay interest, on a monthly basis, at the Interest Rate as provided in the Wachovia Portfolio Loan Documents. The Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers were also required to pay replacement reserve, property tax and insurance escrows on a monthly basis. The principal balance of the Note, together with all accrued and unpaid interest and any other amounts due and payable thereon, was due and payable in full on June 9, 2010, or, if such date was not a business day, the immediately preceding business day. The maturity on the Note was eligible for a one-year extension through June 9, 2011, if certain conditions were met, including a DCSR of 1.20 to 1.00 on the consolidated Wachovia Portfolio and a Loan-To-Value Ratio of .75 on the consolidated Wachovia Portfolio.

On October 9, 2009, the entities comprising the Wachovia Portfolio received notice from the Wachovia, as the special servicer, that because the DCSR for the Wachovia Portfolio had fallen below 1.05:1.00, the Note entered into an O&M Operative Period in which all cash flow in excess of required interest payments, escrows and budgeted operating expenses were to be held in a Curtailment Reserve at Wachovia. This curtailment had a significant impact on the availability of working capital needed to operate and maintain the Properties. As a result of the lack of necessary working capital, the Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers' monthly revenue, on a combined basis, declined significantly from approximately \$1,100,000 in September 2009 to approximately \$1,006,000 in December 2009. These cases were commenced, in part, as a result of the foregoing.

Since the inception of the Loan, the entities comprising the Wachovia Portfolio have made all prepetition loan and escrow payments required of them, including payments for November 2009 and December 2009 in the aggregate amounts of \$274,316.50 and \$270,043.65, respectively, and have continued to do so pursuant to the various cash collateral orders of the Bankruptcy Court. As of the Petition Date, the entities comprising the Wachovia Portfolio had a cash position, inclusive of cash held in Lender-controlled accounts in excess of the January 2010 required interest and escrow payments, as follows: (i) MPI Azalea—approximately \$83,000; (ii) Miles-Cherry Hill—approximately \$146,000; (iii) Miles-Oak Park—approximately \$78,000; (iv) Miles-Fox Hollow—approximately \$103,000; (v) MPI Cimarron—approximately \$266,000; (vi) MPI Sunset—approximately \$80,000; (vii) MPI Palms West—approximately \$85,000; and (viii) MPI British Woods—approximately \$199,000.

#### B. Commencement of the Bankruptcy Case

Debtors filed for protection under the Bankruptcy Code on January 8, 2010. Debtors' Reorganization Cases were initially assigned to the Honorable Paul W. Bonapfel, but after his

recusal, which was memorialized in an Order dated January 12, 2010 (Doc. No. 11), the Reorganization Cases were reassigned to the Honorable Margaret H. Murphy, United States Bankruptcy Judge, in the Northern District of Georgia. The Bankruptcy Court entered an Order dated January 25, 2010 authorizing the joint administration of Debtors' Reorganization Cases (Doc. No. 78).

# C. Significant Events Since Commencement of Bankruptcy Case

# 1. Stay of Litigation

An immediate effect of the filing of a bankruptcy case is the imposition of the automatic stay under the Bankruptcy Code, which, with limited exceptions, enjoins the commencement or continuation of all litigation against Debtors. This injunction will remain in effect until the Effective Date unless otherwise modified by the order of the Bankruptcy Court.

### 2. Retention of Professionals

By Order dated February 4, 2010 (Doc. No. 177), the Bankruptcy Court granted Debtors' application to retain Berger Singerman, P.A. ("Berger Singerman") as general bankruptcy counsel to the Debtors (and Affiliated Debtors) in their Reorganization Cases subject to objection, if any, filed by the U.S. Trustee. Certain persons filed a motion for reconsideration denominated as an Objection to the Order (Doc. No. 204), to which Berger Singerman filed a response (Doc. No. 366), with the moving parties filed a supplemental pleading (Doc. No. 349). After conducting multiple hearings the Bankruptcy Court, by subsequent Order dated May 17, 2010 (Doc. No. 465), granted the Debtors' (and Affiliated Debtors') application to retain Berger Singerman as general bankruptcy counsel to Debtors (and Affiliated Debtors) in the Reorganization Cases and overruled the Objection to the extent not withdrawn. The Order provided that the \$450,000.00 retainer obtained by Berger Singerman from Daniel J. Miles could not be applied absent further Order of the Bankruptcy Court; however, as a result of a settlement by and between Berger Singerman and Mr. Cifelli in his capacity as Chapter 7 Trustee for Daniel J. Miles' bankruptcy estate, Berger Singerman retained \$112,500.00 of the \$450,000.00 retainer provided, with the balance of the funds--\$337,500.00--returned to Mr. Cifelli, as Trustee. This settlement was memorialized in an Order of the Bankruptcy Court dated August 17, 2010 (Doc. No. 670). The \$112,500.00 being held is to be applied to fees and costs incurred by Berger Singerman to the extent there is a shortfall regarding any awards of compensation and reimbursement of expenses. If and to the extent that this \$1125,500.00 is not needed to satisfy legal fees and reimbursement of expenses awarded by the Bankruptcy Court during Debtors' (and Affiliated Debtors') Reorganization Cases then such excess amounts, if any, shall be turned over by Berger Singerman to the Liquidating Trustee for distributions to Creditors as provided for in the Plan.

By Order dated February 4, 2010 (Doc. No. 179), the Bankruptcy Court granted Debtors' (and Affiliated Debtors') application to retain Foltz Martin, LLC ("Foltz Martin") as (local) general bankruptcy counsel to Debtors (and Affiliated Debtors) in their Reorganization Cases subject to objection, if any, filed by the U.S. Trustee. The Objection filed to the application to retain Berger Singerman (Doc. No. 204), contained a footnote which suggested that the issues raised also applied to Foltz Martin. To the extent that the Objection applied to Foltz Martin and

was not withdrawn, it was overruled. Foltz Martin received a pre-Petition Date fee retainer in the amount of \$39,295.00. If and to the extent that legal fees awarded by the Bankruptcy Court during Debtors' (and Affiliated Debtors') Reorganization Cases is less than the retainer provided to Foltz Martin then such excess amounts, if any, shall be turned over by Foltz Martin to the Liquidating Trustee for distributions to Creditors as provided for in the Plan.

#### 3. Use of Cash Collateral

By various orders of the Bankruptcy Court, including supplements thereto (Doc. Nos. 178, 185, 440, 459, 500, 506, 510 and 819), Debtors have had authority to use cash collateral of the Lender to operate their apartment properties pursuant to agreed budgets. Other salient terms of the cash collateral orders have included the following:

- An investigation period during which time Debtors and other parties in interest
  were permitted to investigate and, if needed challenge the liens of the Lender or
  assert any claims against the Lender; no such challenges were filed nor were any
  claims asserted, and the liens and claims of the Lender, as set forth in the cash
  collateral orders, became final and no longer subject to challenge;
- The sharing of financial information relating to Debtors' operation among key creditors and parties in interest, including the Lender, Arbor Funding, and the Office of the United States Trustee; and
- The granting of replacement liens and a superpriority claim for the benefit of the Lender.

The most recent cash collateral order was entered on November 8, 2010 (Doc. 819). This order amended the previously entered "final" cash collateral order and extended Debtors' right to use the Lender's Cash Collateral up to and through December 5, 2010. To the extent that further use of Cash Collateral is required—which will almost certainly be the case—Debtors, the Lender and Arbor Funding will work together as they have done throughout the Reorganization Cases to submit an agreed order and budget(s) that will allow Debtors to continue using the Lender's Cash Collateral through the Effective Date.

#### 4. Schedules and Statement of Financial Affairs

On January 29, 2010, Debtors filed their schedules of assets and liabilities and statements of financial affairs (Doc. Nos. 102, 103, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, and 115). From time to time these have been updated and amended, and all information contained therein has been incorporated into the Plan and this Disclosure Statement.

#### 5. Retention of Brokers

In April, 2010, Debtors retained three separate brokers pursuant to an orders of the Bankruptcy Court (Doc. Nos. 411, 415, and 438) to market all of their apartment properties. In addition, both prior to the Petition Date and since, Debtors, and their professionals have solicited

interest from real estate investment firms to acquire some, or the entire Debtors' portfolio of properties, either through a sale under Section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code or by sponsoring a plan of reorganization.

After several months of working with their professionals and discussions with other potential plan sponsors, it appeared to Debtors that the sale of their properties to Arbor, through the Plan, subject to higher and better offers, would provide the greatest recovery for creditors.

### 6. Negotiations with Arbor

Since early in the case, Debtors have, in conjunction with their discussions with other potential equity sponsors, engaged in discussions with two affiliated parties in interest in these cases, Arbor 2004-1, and Arbor Realty Funding LLC ("Arbor Funding"). As noted above, Arbor 2004-1 is owed approximately \$11.8 million by MPI Portfolio on account of the MPI Portfolio Note Claim, secured by MPI Portfolio's equity interests in the Wachovia Portfolio Borrowers. Arbor Funding is the holder of a "Junior Participation Interest" in the amount of \$17.9 million; that is part of the \$73.3 million outstanding amount owed by all Debtors except MPI Portfolio to the Lender.

In August of 2010, negotiations among Arbor 2004-1, Arbor Funding, and Debtors came to a head, resulting in the execution of a letter of intent (the "*Letter of Intent*", a copy of which is attached to the Plan as Exhibit I). The Letter of Intent provides for a plan funding arrangement whereby Arbor has become the co-sponsor of the Plan.

#### D. Potential Causes of Action and Preservation of Such Causes of Action

#### 1. Potential Bankruptcy Causes of Action

Debtors' Avoidance Actions, if any, will be pursued by Debtors prior to the Effective Date and by the Liquidating Trustee after the Effective Date. Proceeds of the Avoidance Actions will be used to make Distributions under the Plan, including to holders of Allowed Claims. Debtors' Avoidance of Actions, if any, are each preserved herein and pursuant to Sections 6.2(c) and 6.3 of the Plan. Debtors' Retained Actions, if any, will be pursued by Debtors prior to the Effective Date and the Reorganized Debtors after the Effective Date. Proceeds of the Retained Actions will be used to make Distributions under the Plan, including to holders of Allowed Claims.

Included in the Avoidance Actions that Debtors may have under state and other federal laws and pursuant to Section 541 of the Bankruptcy Code are causes of action that allow a debtor to recover transfers it has made prior to its bankruptcy filing. The most common such causes of action are those to recover preferences and fraudulent transfers.

#### 2. Preference Actions

Under Sections 547 and 550 of the Bankruptcy Code, a debtor may seek to avoid and recover certain payments made by the debtor to or for the benefit of a creditor, within the ninety days prior to the petition date, in respect of an antecedent debt if such transfer was made when

the debtor was insolvent. Transfers made to a creditor that was an "insider" of the debtor are subject to these provisions if the payment was made within one year of a debtor's filing of a petition under Chapter 11. Under Section 547, certain defenses, in addition to the solvency of the debtor at the time of the transfer, are available to a creditor from which a preference recovery is sought. Among other defenses, a debtor may not recover a payment to the extent such creditor subsequently gave new value to the debtor for which the creditor was not paid pursuant to a payment that is not otherwise avoidable (the "New Value Defense"). A debtor may not recover a payment to the extent such payment was part of a substantially contemporaneous exchange between the debtor and the creditor (the "Substantially Contemporaneous Exchange Defense"). Further, a debtor may not recover a payment if such payment was made in the ordinary course of business of both the debtor and the creditor (the "Ordinary Course Defense"). The debtor has the initial burden of proof in demonstrating the existence of all the elements of a preference, although there is a rebuttable presumption that the debtor was insolvent during the ninety days prior to the commencement of its bankruptcy case. The creditor has the initial burden of proof as to the foregoing defenses.

Each of Debtors' Schedules include a listing of payments made in the 90 days immediately preceding the Petition Date and a listing of all payments to insiders made in the one year prior to the Petition Date. As set forth in such Schedules, Debtors made approximately \$1.5 million of payments during the applicable preference period. Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a listing of all such transfers, as well as the recipient and amount of money transferred to such recipients, by Debtors during the 90 day period prior to the Petition Date. Debtors have not performed an analysis of such payments. Because Debtors have yet to conduct an analysis of the potential for recovery of all of these payments, the Plan Proponents cannot estimate the amount of any potential recovery, if any, from litigation surrounding such payments. Debtors and/or the Liquidating Trustee will review such transfers and determine whether and which transfers will be pursued in future litigation.

THE SCHEDULE OF POTENTIAL PREFERENCE PAYMENTS ATTACHED TO THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AS EXHIBIT B IS NON-EXHAUSTIVE AND MEANT TO BE ILLUSTRATIVE AND SHALL NOT PRECLUDE THE DEBTORS, THE ESTATES, THE LIQUIDATING TRUSTEE OR ANY OTHER AUTHORIZED PERSON OR ENTITY FROM PURSUING OTHER AND ADDITIONAL AVOIDANCE ACTIONS. THE DEBTORS HAVE EXCLUDED PAYMENTS TO RONALD L. GLASS, IN HIS THEN-CAPACITY AS CHIEF RESTRUCTURING OFFICER, GLASSRATNER ADVISORY & CAPITAL GROUP, LLC, AND OTHER PRE-PETITION DATE PROFESSIONALS, INCLUDING DEBTORS' COUNSEL, BERGER SINGERMAN, P.A. AND FOLTZ MARTIN, LLP.

### 3. Fraudulent Conveyances and Transfers

Under Sections 548 and 550 of the Bankruptcy Code and under state law made applicable in bankruptcy cases by Section 544(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, a debtor in possession or a trustee in bankruptcy, if a trustee is appointed or elected, may recover a transfer of property if the transfer was made while the debtor was insolvent, was unable to pay its debts as they mature, or has unreasonably small capital if, or to the extent, the debtor received less than reasonably equivalent consideration or fair value for such property and may recover a transfer made by the

debtor with actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud its creditors. Such rights of the debtor or trustee preclude any creditor as to whom a transfer was also fraudulent from pursuing a similar action unless the trustee declines to bring such action or to administer such claim. Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code applies to transfers made during the two years prior to the Petition Date. Various State laws may provide a considerably longer period of up to six years within which such action may be brought.

### 4. Disallowance of Claims

Under Section 502(d) of the Bankruptcy Code, any Claim asserted by a Creditor shall be disallowed in its entirety if such Creditor has received a transfer, such as a preference or fraudulent transfer, that is voidable under the Bankruptcy Code and has failed to repay such transfer.

### 5. Specific Claims

Debtors have not yet conducted an investigation into potential preference and fraudulent conveyance causes of action under Sections 547, 548 and 544 of the Bankruptcy Code and applicable state law. Debtors and/or the Liquidating Trustee will conduct this investigation and, if warranted, preference and fraudulent conveyance claims will be asserted.

Debtors are continuing to analyze the ZBA previously in place and investigate claims based thereon that might be pursued against, among others, Daniel J. Miles' Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate (Mr. Miles is a Chapter 7 debtor before the Bankruptcy Court, Case No. 09-92601-MHM). With respect to such a claim, and other claims against Mr. Miles' estate, Debtors (excepting MPI Portfolio) filed a Proof of Claim (Claim No. 65-1). In relevant part, the Proof of Claim asserts any claims on behalf of limited liability companies for which MPI served or serves as property manager, that is, Debtors (excepting MPI Portfolio), as well as claims by Debtor MPI Portfolio=, against Mr. Miles' estate for contribution and/or indemnification or other legal theory. Any ZBA-related claims might be asserted against other directors and officers of MPI, excluding Ronald L. Glass, Debtors' Interim Chief Executive Officer, and James L. Mauck, Jr., Miles Properties, Inc.'s Chief Financial Officer.

Debtors and the Liquidating Trustee intend to continue such investigation into the above Retained Actions and Avoidance Actions, respectively, and any other causes of action that may exist.

#### 6. Preservation of Claims and Causes of Action

Section 6.2(c) of the Plan provides, in part, that the Avoidance Actions "are hereby preserved and retained for enforcement solely and exclusively and in the discretion of the Liquidating Trustee and are vested in the Liquidating Trustee on the Effective Date, who shall be designated as the representative of the Debtors' Estates pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1123(b)(3)(B)." The Liquidating Trustee shall, therefore, have the right to prepare, file, pursue, prosecute and settle the Avoidance Actions, whether or not such Avoidance Actions have been asserted or commenced as of the Effective Date, as a representative of the estate pursuant to Section

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 27 of 126

1123(b)(3)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code appointed for such purpose for the benefit of holders of Allowed Claims.

To the extent that certain Avoidance Actions are filed by Debtors and are not resolved prior to the Effective Date, such Avoidance Actions will be transferred to and vest in the Reorganized Debtors under the control of the Liquidating Trustee pursuant to the terms of the Plan.

The Avoidance of Action include specifically, but without limitation, the following: 10

- (a) Any and all claims and causes of action under state or federal law against any and all of the members, managers, shareholders, principals, employees, agents and affiliates of, and professionals employed by, Debtors and of any affiliates of Debtors, including without limitation, in any way related to, including providing aid and assistance in connection with: (i) the operation, management, funding and fund raising of Debtors, including without limitation, breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, negligent management, fraud, civil theft, civil RICO or conspiracy, conversion, alter ego, misrepresentation, professional malpractice, corporate advantage, theft of corporate opportunities, wasting of corporate assets, equitable subordination of claims, breach of contract and federal or state statutory claims (including securities laws violations), as well as aiding and abetting any of the above; (ii) the sale, transfer, exchange or disposition of any property of Debtors or any of their respective affiliates, or any preferred stock, common stock or equity or similar interest or securities therein, either prior to or after the Petition Date; or (iii) the conversion, misappropriation or misapplication of property of Debtors or any of their respective affiliates or any products or proceeds therefrom.
- (b) Any and all claims and causes of action, including Avoidance Actions, under state or federal law, including federal or state securities laws, against those persons or entities, who participated or had any involvement in, as transferor, transferee, recipient or otherwise, related to the sale, transfer, exchange or disposition of any property of Debtors or any of their respective affiliates, any preferred stock, common stock, or equity or similar interests or securities in Debtors or any of their respective affiliates or the products or proceeds thereof, including without limitation, under and pursuant to state preference and fraudulent conveyance laws and Sections 542 through 550 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- (c) Any and all claims and causes of action involving or in any way related to the collection of accounts receivables, notes receivables, loans receivables or other receivables owed to Debtors.
- (d) Any and all claims and causes of action seeking to subordinate, equitably or otherwise Claims filed against the Debtors' Estates, or to re-characterize such Claims as equity Interests in Debtors.

Notwithstanding the specificity of the claims and causes of action described in this Disclosure Statement, nothing in the Plan or this Disclosure Statement will limit or restrict in any way the rights of the Liquidating Trustee in connection with pursuing any and all Avoidance Actions, and pursuant to the terms of the Plan.

The Retained Actions include specifically, but without limitation, the following: <sup>11</sup> Any claims or causes of action not included among the claims comprising Avoidance Actions including, but not limited to, claims or causes of actions against former directors and officers, <sup>12</sup> including Daniel J. Miles or his bankruptcy estate, Case No. 09-92601-MHM, but excluding Ronald L. Glass, Debtors' Interim Chief Executive Officer, and James L. Mauck, Jr., Miles Properties, Inc.'s Chief Financial Officer, in any way related to providing aid and assistance in connection with: (i) the operation, management, funding and fund raising of Debtors, including without limitation, breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, negligent management, fraud, civil theft, civil RICO or conspiracy, conversion, alter ego, misrepresentation, professional malpractice, corporate advantage, theft of corporate opportunities, wasting of corporate assets, equitable subordination of claims, breach of contract and federal or state statutory claims (including securities laws violations), as well as aiding and abetting any of the above; (ii) the sale, transfer, exchange or disposition of any property of Debtors or any of their respective affiliates, or any preferred stock, common stock or equity or similar interest or securities therein, either prior to or after the Petition Date; (iii) the conversion, misappropriation or misapplication of property of Debtors or any of their respective affiliates or any products or proceeds therefrom; and (iv) concerning the ZBA.

In addition to the above, there may be claims and causes of action which currently exist or may subsequently arise that are not set forth specifically herein because the facts upon which such claims and causes of action rest are not fully or currently known by Debtors. The failure to list any such claims or causes of action is not intended to limit the rights of Reorganized Debtors and the Liquidating Trustee to pursue their respective claims and causes of action at such time as the facts giving rise thereto become fully known.

Unless any of the above described claims and causes of action are expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised or settled in the Plan or by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, all such claims and causes of action are expressly reserved and preserved for later adjudication and, therefore, no preclusion doctrine, including without limitation, the doctrines of res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, estoppel (judicial, equitable or otherwise) or laches shall apply to such claims and causes of action upon or after confirmation or consummation of the Plan.

Furthermore, notwithstanding any provision or interpretation to the contrary, nothing in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, including the entry thereof, shall be deemed to constitute a release, waiver, impediment, relinquishment or bar, in whole or in part, of or to any recovery

Notwithstanding the specificity of the claims and causes of action described in this Disclosure Statement, nothing in the Plan or this Disclosure Statement will limit or restrict in any way the rights of Reorganized Debtors in connection with pursuing any and all Retained Actions, and pursuant to the terms of the Plan.

All such claims and causes of action shall include and encompass, without limitation, any and all claims, including bad faith claims, under any policies of insurance maintained by Debtors applicable to such claims and causes of action, including, without limitation, any directors' and officers' liability insurance policies.

rights or any other claim, right or cause of action possessed by Debtors or Debtors' Estates prior to the Effective Date.

ANY CREDITOR OR PARTY IN INTEREST VOTING ON THE PLAN SHOULD ASSUME IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH VOTE THAT AVOIDANCE ACTIONS AND RETAINED ACTIONS EXIST AGAINST SUCH CREDITOR OR PARTY IN INTEREST, AND THAT REORGANIZED DEBTORS AND THE LIQUIDATING TRUSTEE INTEND TO AND SHALL PURSUE SUCH CAUSES OF ACTION.

# VI. MEANS OF IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN

#### A. Termination of Equitable, Legal, and Contractual Subordination Rights

The classification and manner of satisfying all Claims and Interests under the Plan takes into consideration all contractual, legal, and equitable subordination and subrogation rights, whether arising under general principles of equitable subordination, Section 510(c) of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise, that any Creditor or holder of an Interest may have against any other Creditor or holder of an Interest with respect to any distribution made pursuant to the Plan. Upon Confirmation, all contractual, legal, or equitable subordination or subrogation rights that a Creditor or holder of an Interest may have with respect to any distribution to be made pursuant to the Plan shall be discharged and terminated, and all actions related to the enforcement of such subordination or subrogation rights shall be permanently enjoined. Accordingly, holders of Allowed Claims shall not be subject to payment to a beneficiary of such terminated subordination or subrogation rights, or to levy, garnishment, attachment, or other legal process by any such beneficiary, on account of such terminated subordination or subrogation rights. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall in any way alter the subordination provisions or other rights of the parties under the Participation Agreement Amendment or the Amended Intercreditor Agreement, which shall be fully enforceable according to their terms.

#### B. Transfer and Vesting of Debtors' Assets

### 1. Reorganization via Debt Assumption

On the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Purchasers shall (i) acquire all assets set forth in the Purchase and Sale Agreement from Debtors, (ii) make the Arbor Contribution (or the amount of the Arbor Contribution plus the Auction Overbid, if higher) to the Cash Collateral, and (iii) execute the Amended Loan Documents, and assume all obligations of Debtors thereunder. Also on the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Arbor Guarantor (or, if the Purchasers are not the Arbor Purchasers, an affiliate of the Purchasers) shall execute the Arbor Guaranty, and GA Portfolio (or, if the Purchasers are not the Arbor Purchasers, the parent company of the Purchasers) shall execute the Amended MPI Portfolio Note, and assume all obligations of MPI Portfolio thereunder. As a result, Debtors and their Estates shall no longer own any assets, except for the Unsecured Creditors' Assets; nor shall Debtors or their Estates have any interest in the Cash Collateral, except for the distributions from Cash Collateral required by Section 6.2(d) of the Plan.

#### 2. Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale

Alternatively, on the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Purchasers shall acquire all assets set forth in the Purchase and Sale Agreement from Debtors. As a result, Debtors and their Estates shall no longer own any assets except for the Unsecured Creditors' Assets; nor shall Debtors or their Estates have any interest in the Cash Collateral, except for the distributions from Cash Collateral required by Section 6.2(d) of the Plan.

### 3. Vesting of the Debtors' Assets

Regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, on the Effective Date all assets and property of each Debtors' Estate transferred to the Purchasers pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement shall vest in the applicable Purchaser free and clear of all liens and other encumbrances, except for the liens and encumbrances of the Lender in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, and the liens and encumbrances of any party holding an Allowed Class 3 Claim that is reinstated under Section 4.3(i) of the Plan. All Unsecured Creditors' Assets, except the Retained Actions, which on the Effective Date shall vest in Reorganized Debtors, are hereby preserved and retained for enforcement solely and exclusively and in the discretion of the Liquidating Trustee and are vested in the Liquidating Trustee on the Effective Date, who shall be designated as the representative of the Debtors' Estates for purposes of liquidating all Unsecured Creditors' Assets (except the Retained Actions), pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1123(b)(3)(B). The Retained Actions shall vest solely in the Reorganized Debtors pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1123(b)(3)(B).

#### 4. Distributions on the Effective Date

First, no later than two business days after the Confirmation Date, all parties expecting to submit a Fee Request shall provide an estimate of their unpaid and expected fees and expenses through the Effective Date to Arbor and Wachovia. On the Effective Date, an amount equal to that estimate shall be segregated from the Cash Collateral and placed in escrow pending approval of the Fee Requests. To the extent that amount is insufficient to pay all Fee Requests in full once approved by a Final Order, Wachovia shall supplement the amount from Cash Collateral upon entry of a Final Order; and to the extent that amount is greater than what is necessary to pay all Fee Requests in full once approved by a Final Order, the balance of the funds set aside shall be returned to Wachovia as Cash Collateral.

Second, the Liquidating Trust shall receive the Estates' Share of Proceeds, \$250,000 of which shall come from Cash Collateral and \$50,000 of which shall be delivered by MPI in connection with certain monthly fee based payments received from Hediger, pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, related to the management of Miles-Cherry Hill, Miles-Fox Hollow, Miles-Oak Park, MPI Azalea, MPI British Woods, MPI Cimarron, MPI Palms West and MPI Sunset Place ("the "Fee Based Payments"). MPI shall deliver to the Liquidating Trust the Fee Based Payments no later than the 20<sup>th</sup> day of each month until \$50,000 has been delivered in aggregate. If MPI ceases receiving the Fee Based Payments prior to delivering \$50,000 in aggregate to the Liquidating Trust, then MPI shall deliver the balance of the \$50,000 due to the Liquidating Trust within 10 business days of receiving notice that the Fee Based Payments will

be discontinued. The Liquidating Trust shall also receive the Estates' Share of Auction Overbid which shall be delivered by the Purchasers.

Third, to the extent not already paid, Wachovia's Expenses shall be paid out of Cash Collateral.

Fourth, in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Purchasers shall receive \$150,000 from the Cash Collateral to be applied against their professional fees incurred in connection with the Reorganization Cases. To the extent the Arbor Purchasers are not the Successful Bidder at the Auction, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, Arbor shall receive the break-up fee from the Free and Clear Sale Proceeds on the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan Support and Bidding Procedures Order.

Any Cash Collateral distributed or advanced by Wachovia prior to the Effective Date to Debtors or their property manager for the payment of Allowed Administrative Claims against the Debtors shall, if such funds have not be paid to holders of Allowed Administrative Claims (with checks in float assumed to be amounts paid as long as the funds subsequently clear the payor's account) either be (i) immediately paid to holders of Allowed Administrative Claims designated by the Purchasers, or (ii) returned to Wachovia and treated as Cash Collateral.

The balance of the remaining Cash Collateral after the distributions described above shall be retained by Wachovia and (y) in Reorganization via Debt Assumption, allocated to the various reserves and escrow accounts in accordance with the Amended Loan Documents, or (z) in a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, applied against the Lender's Claims, provided, however, that in either case, sufficient reserves or escrows shall be established in the event the amount set aside for Fee Requests is insufficient to pay all Allowed Fee Requests.

# C. Appointment of the Liquidating Trustee and Transfer of Unsecured Creditors' Assets

- (a) Subject to subpart (b) immediately below, on the Effective Date or as soon thereafter as is practicable, the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, except the Retained Actions (which shall, upon the Effective Date, vest in Reorganized Debtors), shall be transferred to the Liquidating Trust. The Liquidating Trust shall also assume all Administrative Claims which arise after the Effective Date, including, without limitation, all fees payable pursuant to Section 1930 of Title 28 of the United States Code arising after the Effective Date, until a final decree is entered in the Reorganization Cases.
- (b) At any time prior to the Effective Date, Ronald L. Glass, Debtors' Interim Chief Executive Officer, may determine in his sole discretion to liquidate and distribute the Unsecured Creditors' Assets by use of a plan administrator instead of a Liquidating Trustee if (i) in his business judgment he determines that doing so is advantageous to the holders of General Unsecured Claims and (ii) doing so does not diminish the expected distribution to holders of General Unsecured Claims under the Plan. If such an election is made, then there shall not be a Liquidating Trust and all references to the Liquidating Trust or the Liquidating Trustee under the Plan shall be deemed to refer to the plan administrator.

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 32 of 126

- (c) On or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, the Liquidating Trustee shall be authorized to pay from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets all Allowed Administrative Claims, to the extent not assumed by the Purchasers.
- (d) As of the Effective Date, the Liquidating Trustee shall act in a fiduciary capacity for the holders of all Allowed General Unsecured Claims and shall have only those rights, powers, and duties conferred to him/her by the Plan, as well as the rights and powers of a trustee under Sections 542 through 552 of the Bankruptcy Code and the duties of a trustee under Sections 704(1), (2), (4), (5), (7), and (9) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Liquidating Trustee shall administer the Plan subject to the foregoing duties and powers, which shall include the following:
- (i) To prosecute, compromise, or settle objections to General Unsecured Claims and to make or direct that Distributions be made to holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims:
- (ii) To make decisions regarding the retention or engagement of professionals and to pay all reasonable fees and expenses incurred by such professionals after the Effective Date:
- (iii) To make or direct distributions to holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims and to otherwise implement and administer the Plan;
- (iv) To pursue, litigate or settle all Avoidance Actions, and to the extent reasonable or necessary, to cooperate with the Reorganized Debtors to the extent any Retained Actions prosecuted by Reorganized Debtors are also pursued against a party that may be liable on an Avoidance Action;
- (v) To file with the Bankruptcy Court the reports and other documents, and to pay any and all fees required by the Plan or otherwise required, to close the Reorganization Cases;
- (vi) To set off amounts owed to Debtors against any and all amounts otherwise due to be distributed to the holder of any Allowed Claim under the Plan; and
- (vii) To take all other actions not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan deemed necessary or desirable in connection with administering the Plan.
- (e) The Liquidating Trustee shall be compensated from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets. The Liquidating Trustee shall be entitled to bill for his services at the hourly rate he/she charges in the ordinary course of business and shall be compensated for such services from available Cash. The Liquidating Trustee may engage counsel and other professionals to represent him/her in connection with his/her duties hereunder (the "Post-Confirmation Professionals"); provided, however, that Post-Confirmation Professionals shall not be precluded from representing the Liquidating Trustee to the extent that certain of their Administrative Claims remain unpaid. Any fees and expenses of such Post-Confirmation Professionals shall constitute post-confirmation Administrative Claims, but shall be paid solely from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets.

- (f) The Post-Confirmation Professionals shall be paid 90% of their fees and 100% of their costs on a monthly basis from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets. Post-Confirmation Professionals shall file fee applications no less frequently than every 120 days seeking approval of fees and expenses to be awarded by the Bankruptcy Court, including approval of the amounts paid on a monthly basis. A Post-Confirmation Professional who fails to file an application seeking approval of compensation and expenses previously paid when such application is due every 120 days shall preclude such Post-Confirmation Professional from being paid monthly as provided herein until an interim fee application has been filed and heard by the Bankruptcy Court. Upon the filing of each such application, the Post-Confirmation Professionals shall be entitled to request the payment of some or all of any pending holdbacks in fees. Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to allow or disallow all post-confirmation Administrative Claims of the Liquidating Trustee and the Post-Confirmation Professionals. The invoices for services rendered and out-of-pocket expenses incurred which are to be submitted shall be sufficiently detailed to identify the hours worked, the rates charged, and the work performed.
- (g) The Liquidating Trustee may employ such staff as is reasonably necessary to carry out his/her functions and duties, store the books and records of Reorganized Debtors, and compensate such staff and pay for such premises from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets.
- (h) The Liquidating Trustee may resign at any time; provided, however, that he/she shall file a motion with the Bankruptcy Court in connection therewith and request that a successor or replacement be appointed in accordance herewith, which motion shall be on notice to the twenty (20) largest creditors of each Debtor holding Allowed General Unsecured Claims and the Office of the United States Trustee. The Office of the United States Trustee or any party in interest, by motion filed with the Bankruptcy Court, or the Bankruptcy Court on it own order to show cause, may seek to remove the Liquidating Trustee for cause, including under Section 324 of the Bankruptcy Code, for the violation of any material provision of the Plan, or in the event the Liquidating Trustee becomes incapable of acting hereunder as a result of physical or mental disability and such physical or mental disability continues for a period in excess of thirty (30) days (except in the case of death, in which instance the procedures for replacement will begin immediately). In the event of a resignation or removal, the Liquidating Trustee, unless he/she is incapable of doing so, shall continue to perform his/her duties hereunder until such a time as a successor is approved by a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court. In the event the Liquidating Trustee resigns or is removed, the successor shall be elected in the manner prescribed by Section 1104(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

#### D. Management

On the Effective Date, all managers, officers, or other officials of Debtors shall be deemed to have resigned, without any further action on the part of any Person. Unless already set forth in the Disclosure Statement, on or before the Plan Documents Filing Date, the Plan Proponents shall have Filed a notice listing the Liquidating Trustee and the responsible party or parties of Reorganized Debtors, and such notice shall include, in accordance with Section 1129(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, (i) identity of and affiliations of the Liquidating Trustee and the responsible party or parties of Reorganized Debtors, and (ii) the identity of any insider (as such term is defined in Section 101(13) of the Bankruptcy Code) that will be employed and

retained by the Liquidating Trustee or Reorganized Debtors, and the nature of any compensation for such insider.

# E. Manner of Payments Under the Plan

At the option of the applicable payer, any cash payment to be made pursuant to the Plan may be made by a check or wire transfer or as otherwise required or provided in applicable agreements. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, any payment or other distribution which any payer is required by the Plan to make to the holder of an Allowed Claim on the Effective Date shall be deemed timely made if made on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Date.

#### F. Unclaimed Consideration

If any Person entitled to receive cash or other consideration under the Plan cannot be located, does not respond to mailings to such Person's last known address according to Debtors' books and records, or does not negotiate any check representing a distribution within six months of receipt thereof, any such cash or other consideration (and accrued interest or dividends thereon) will revert to the payer, and in the case of the Liquidating Trust as payer, shall remain for the benefit of all other beneficiaries of the Liquidating Trust. The Liquidating Trustee shall not be required to attempt to locate such Person beyond six months after the Effective Date.

### G. Term of Injunctions or Stays

Unless otherwise provided, all injunctions or stays provided for in the Reorganization Cases pursuant to Section 105 or 362 of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise in effect on the Confirmation Date shall remain in full force and effect until the Effective Date. All distributions and transfers of property pursuant to the terms of the Plan shall be made free and clear of all Claims and Interests, except for in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption (i) the liens and encumbrances of the Lender, (ii) the liens and encumbrances granted to Arbor 2004-1 in the equity interests of the Arbor Purchasers, and (iii) the liens and encumbrances of any party holding an Allowed Class 3 Claim that is reinstated under Section 4.3(i) of the Plan. Upon the Confirmation of the Plan, all holders of Claims or Interests will be permanently enjoined from and restrained against commencing or continuing any suit, action, or proceeding, or asserting against any of Debtors, the Purchasers, or their assets or property, any Claim, Interest or cause of action based upon any act or omission, transaction or other activity of any kind or nature that occurred before the Confirmation Date.

### H. Date for Objections to Claims or Interests

Unless an earlier date has been set by the Bankruptcy Court or a later date is set by the Bankruptcy Court upon a motion (that may be Filed *ex parte* by Reorganized Debtors or Liquidating Trustee), all objections to Claims or Interests shall be Filed no later than the later of (i) 120 days after the Effective Date, or (ii) 120 days after a particular proof of Claim or Interest is Filed; provided, however, that all proofs of Claim or proofs of Interest Filed after the Effective Date shall be deemed disallowed by operation of the Plan and without any Person having to File

an objection thereto, with the exception of those Claims which may be filed after the Confirmation Date pursuant to Section 7.2 of the Plan.

# I. Corporate Action

On the Effective Date, the cancellation of all Interests, the execution and delivery of all documents contemplated by the Plan or any exhibit thereto to be executed and delivered in connection with the Plan, and all other matters provided for by the Plan involving corporate action by Debtors shall be deemed to have occurred and shall be in effect from and after the Effective Date pursuant to applicable state law governing Debtors, without any requirement of further action by any members, managers, or holders of Interests in Debtors or Reorganized Debtors.

#### J. Compliance with Tax Requirements

To the extent applicable, Reorganized Debtors and the Liquidating Trustee will comply with all tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed on them in connection with any distribution made pursuant to the Plan.

#### **K.** Dissolution of the Debtors

After the entry of a final decree in the Reorganization Cases, or earlier if deemed appropriate by Reorganized Debtors, Reorganized Debtors shall be dissolved. To the extent necessary or appropriate, Reorganized Debtors or the Liquidating Trustee shall file papers with the appropriate Governmental Unit (as defined under the Bankruptcy Code) to effectuate such dissolution, and the Plan and Confirmation Order shall be conclusive evidence of all necessary corporate authority to cause such dissolution to occur and be recognized.

#### L. Post-Confirmation Insurance Cancellation Reimbursement

To the extent there are fees, unpaid premiums and/or taxes arising out of the cancellation of insurance policies covering Debtors' Properties such fees, unpaid premiums and/or taxes, if any, shall be reimbursed to MPI or Affiliated Debtors in whose names the policies were issued, through the Arbor Contribution.

#### M. Plan Binding

The provisions of the Plan shall bind all Creditors and holders of Interests, regardless of whether they accept the Plan as contemplated by Section 1141(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

#### N. Discharge

Pursuant to Sections 363(f), 524, and 1141(d)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, and except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, as of the Effective Date, Confirmation shall discharge and release Debtors and their Estates, Reorganized Debtors, the Purchasers, and all property of Debtors and their Estates or the Purchasers from any and all Claims, debts, liens, security interests, encumbrances and Interests that arose before the Confirmation Date including, but not limited to, all principal and any interest accrued thereon,

and all liabilities in respect thereof shall be extinguished completely. The distributions of cash and other property or other performance under the Plan shall be in exchange for and in complete satisfaction, discharge, and release of all Claims against and Interests in Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, the Purchasers, or any of their assets or properties that arose prior to the Confirmation Date, including any Claim for interest accruing after the Petition Date and prior to the Effective Date. On and after the Effective Date, except as specifically provided in the Plan, all holders of Claims and Interests arising prior to the Confirmation Date shall be permanently barred and enjoined from asserting against any Debtor, Reorganized Debtor, the Purchasers, or their respective assets any other or further Claims or Interest that arose prior to the Confirmation Date, including Claims based on any act or omission, transaction, or other activity of any kind or nature that occurred prior to the Confirmation Date.

#### O. Release of Arbor Released Parties

As of the Effective Date, and except for the specific obligations and Claims assumed under the Plan, the Arbor Released Parties shall be released by the Debtor Released Parties and the Wachovia Released Parties from any and all Claims, Avoidance Actions, Retained Actions, debts, liens, security interests, encumbrances, and Interests that arose before the Confirmation Date (including, but not limited to, all principal and any interest accrued thereon) held by the Debtor Released Parties or the Wachovia Released Parties and that are in any way relating to Debtors or their bankruptcy cases.

Under the Plan, the "Arbor Released Parties" means Arbor, Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd., Arbor Realty Funding, LLC, Arbor Realty Trust, Inc., and their respective affiliates, including their respective officers, directors, members, managers, representatives, legal counsel, financial advisors, and/or other agents, and their respective successors and assigns.

#### P. Release of Debtor Released Parties

As of the Effective Date, and except for the specific obligations and Claims assumed under the Plan, the Debtor Released Parties shall be released by the Arbor Released Parties and the Wachovia Released Parties from any and all Claims, including the Lender Claims and the MPI Portfolio Note Claim, Avoidance Actions, debts, liens, security interests, encumbrances, and Interests that arose before the Confirmation Date (including, but not limited to, all principal and any interest accrued thereon) held by the Arbor Released Parties and the Wachovia Released Parties and that are in any way relating to Debtors or their bankruptcy cases.

Under the Plan, the "*Debtor Released Parties*" means Miles-Cherry Hill, Miles-Fox Hollow, Miles-Oak Park, MPI Azalea, MPI British Woods, MPI Cimarron, MPI Palms West, MPI Portfolio, and MPI Sunset Place, and their respective officers, including Ronald L. Glass, Debtors' Interim Chief Executive Officer, directors, members, managers, representatives, legal counsel, financial advisors and/or other agents, and their respective successors and assigns, and James L. Mauck, Jr., Miles Properties, Inc.'s Chief Financial Officer; provided, however, that

Debtor Released Parties shall not under any circumstances include Daniel J. Miles or his Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate, Case No. 09-92601-MHM, which case is also pending before the Bankruptcy Court.

### Q. Release of Wachovia Released Parties

As of the Effective Date, and except for the specific obligations and Claims assumed under the Plan, the Wachovia Released Parties shall be released by the Arbor Released Parties and Debtor Released Parties from any and all Claims, Avoidance Action, Retained Actions, debts, liens, security interests, encumbrances, and Interests that arose before the Confirmation Date (including, but not limited to, all principal and any interest accrued thereon) held by the Arbor Released Parties or the Debtor Released Parties and that are in any way relating to Debtors or their bankruptcy cases.

Under the Plan, the "Wachovia Released Parties" means Wachovia and its affiliates, the Lender and its affiliates, and Wachovia Bank Commercial Mortgage Trust, Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2007-Whale 8, including their respective officers, directors, members, managers, representatives, legal counsel, financial advisors, and/or other agents, and their respective successors and assigns.

# R. Section 1146 Exemption

Pursuant to Section 1146(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, the issuance, transfer, or exchange of any security under the Plan, the making or delivery of any and all instruments evidencing the transfer of property interests, or the making or delivery of mortgages, deeds to secure debt, or other security instruments executed pursuant to, in implementation of, or as contemplated by the Plan including, without limitation, deeds and mortgages to which any Debtor or Purchaser is a party whether as grantor or grantee, shall not be taxed under any law imposing a stamp tax, deed stamps, documentary stamp tax, transfer tax, mortgage recording tax, intangible tax, or similar tax.

The exempt transfer instruments shall include, without limitation, all instruments evidencing the transfer of the Properties to the Purchasers and, in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Purchasers' granting of security interests, mortgages, deeds of trust, or deeds in favor of Wachovia or the Lender.

## S. Exculpations and Injunctions

Exculpations. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, on the Effective Date, the Debtor Released Parties, the Arbor Released Parties, and the Wachovia Released Parties (collectively, the "Exculpated Parties"), shall be deemed to have been released by each other, the Purchasers, the Newco SPEs (as defined in the Letter of Intent), and all holders of Claims or Interests, of and from any Claims, obligations, rights, causes of action and liabilities for any act or omission occurring from and after the Petition Date in connection with, or arising out of, the Reorganization Cases, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any sales of assets of some or all of Debtors' Estates, the negotiation of the terms of the Plan and the Disclosure Statement, the

pursuit of approval of the Disclosure Statement, the pursuit of confirmation of the Plan, the consummation of the Plan, and the administration of the Plan or the property to be distributed under the Plan, except for acts or omissions which constitute bad faith, willful misconduct, self dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, or gross negligence, and all such Persons, in all respects, shall be entitled to rely upon the advice of counsel with respect to their duties and responsibilities under the Plan and under the Bankruptcy Code. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the exculpations and releases provided for herein shall not apply to any acts or omissions that occurred prior to the Petition Date, and for the avoidance of doubt, the defined term "Exculpated Parties" does not include Daniel J. Miles or his Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate, Case No. 09-92601-MHM, which case is also pending before the Bankruptcy Court.

**Injunctions.** As of the Confirmation Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, the Purchasers, the Newco SPEs (as defined in the Letter of Intent), the Wachovia Released Parties, the Arbor Released Parties, and any Persons that have held, currently hold, or may hold a Claim, Interest, or other debt or liability that is treated pursuant to the terms of the Plan are enjoined from taking any of the following actions on account of any such Claims, Interests, debts, or liabilities, other than actions brought to enforce any rights or obligations under the Plan, against Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, the property of Debtors' respective estates, the Liquidating Trustee, or the Purchasers (or any of the foregoing parties respective affiliates): (i) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding; (ii) enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering in any manner any judgment, award, decree, or order; (iii) creating, perfecting, or enforcing any lien or encumbrance; (iv) asserting a setoff or right of recoupment of any kind against any debt, liability, or obligation; and (v) commencing or continuing, in any manner or in any place, any action that does not comply with or is inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan or the Confirmation Order. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan does not release, impair, waive, or serve as any impediment whatsoever of the prosecution of any Retained Actions, except for those Retained Actions against the Arbor Released Parties and the Wachovia Released Parties that are released under Sections 8.3 and 8.5 of the Plan.

# VII. CONFIRMATION OF THE PLAN

### A. Requirements For Confirmation of a Plan

At the Confirmation Hearing, the Bankruptcy Court must determine whether the Bankruptcy Code's requirements for confirmation of the Plan have been satisfied, in which event the Bankruptcy Court will enter an order confirming the Plan. As set forth in Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, these requirements are as follows:

- The plan complies with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
- The proponent of the plan complied with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

- The plan has been proposed in good faith and not by any means forbidden by law.
- Any payment made or promised by the debtors, by the plan proponents, or by a
  person issuing securities or acquiring property under the plan, for services or for
  costs and expenses in or in connection with the case, or in connection with the
  plan and incident to the case, has been approved by, or is subject to the approval
  of, the Bankruptcy Court as reasonable.
- The proponent of the plan has disclosed the identity and affiliations of any individual proposed to serve, after confirmation of the plan, as a director, officer, or voting trustee of the debtor, an affiliate of the debtor participating in a joint plan with the debtor, or a successor to the debtor under the plan; and the appointment to, or continuance in, such office of such individual, is consistent with the interests of creditors and equity security holders and with public policy.
- The proponent of the plan has disclosed the identity of any insider that will be employed or retained by the debtor, and the nature of any compensation for such insider.
- Any governmental regulatory commission with jurisdiction, after confirmation of the plan, over the rates of the debtor has approved any rate change provided for in the plan, or such rate change is expressly conditioned on such approval.
- With respect to each impaired class of claims or interests: each holder of a claim or interest of such class has accepted the plan or will receive or retain under the plan on account of such claim or interest property of a value, as of the effective date of the plan, that is not less than the amount that such holder would so receive or retain if the debtor was liquidated on such date under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code on such date; or if Section 1111(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code applies to the claims of such class, the holder of a claim of such class will receive or retain under the plan on account of such claim property of a value, as of the effective date of the plan, that is not less than the value of such holder's interest in the estate's interest in the property that secures such claims.
- With respect to each class of claims or interests: such class has accepted the plan or such class is not impaired under the plan.
- Except to the extent that the holder of a particular claim has agreed to a different treatment of such claim, the plan provides that:
- (a) with respect to a claim of a kind specified in Section 507(a)(2) or 507(a)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code, on the effective date of the plan, the holder of such claim will receive on account of such claim cash equal to the allowed amount of such claim;

- (b) with respect to a class of claims of a kind specified in Section 507(a)(1), 507(a)(4), 507(a)(5), 507(a)(6), or 507(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code, each holder of a claim of such class will receive:
  - (i) if such class has accepted the plan, deferred cash payments of a value, as of the effective date of the plan, equal to the allowed amount of such claim; or
  - (ii) if such class has not accepted the plan, cash on the effective date of the plan equal to the allowed amount of such claim; and
- (c) with respect to a claim of a kind specified in Section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code, the holder of a claim will receive on account of such claim regular installment payments in cash
  - (i) of a total value, as of the effective date of the plan, equal to the allowed amount of such claim;
  - (ii) over a period ending not later than five years after the date of the order for relief under Section 301, 302, or 303; and
  - (iii) in a manner not less favorable than the most favored nonpriority unsecured claim provided for by the plan (other than cash payments made to a class of creditors under Section 1122(b); and
- (d) with respect to a secured claim which would otherwise meet the description of an unsecured claim of a governmental unit under Section 507(a)(8), but for the secured status of that claim, the holder of that claim will receive on account of that claim, cash payments, in the same manner and over the same period, as described in subparagraph (c) above.

If a class of claims is impaired under the plan, at least one class of claims that is impaired has accepted the plan, determined without including any acceptance of the plan by any insider holding a claim of such class.

Confirmation of the plan is not likely to be followed by the liquidation, or the need for further financial reorganization, of the debtor or any successor to the debtor under the plan, unless such liquidation or reorganization is proposed in the plan.

All fees payable under 28 U.S.C. § 1930, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court at the hearing on confirmation of the plan, have been paid or the plan provides for the payments of all such fees on the effective date of the plan.

The plan provides for the continuation after its effective date of payment of all retiree benefits, as that term is defined in Section 1114 of the Bankruptcy Code, at the level established pursuant to Subsection (e)(1)(B) or (g) of Section 1114, at any time prior to confirmation of the plan, for the duration of the period the debtor has obligated itself to provide such benefits.

The Plan Proponents believe that the Plan satisfies all the statutory requirements of Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, that they have complied or will have complied with all the requirements of Chapter 11, and that the Plan is proposed in good faith.

The Plan Proponents believe that holders of all Allowed Claims impaired under the Plan will receive payments under the Plan having a present value as of the Effective Date not less than the amounts likely to be received if Debtors were liquidated in a case under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. At the Confirmation Hearing, the Bankruptcy Court will determine whether holders of Allowed Claims would receive greater distributions under the Plan than they would receive in a liquidation under Chapter 7.

#### B. Cramdown

In the event that any impaired Class of Claims does not accept the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court may still confirm the Plan at the request of the Plan Proponents if, as to each impaired Class that has not accepted the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court determines that the Plan "does not discriminate unfairly" and is "fair and equitable" with respect to that Class. A plan of reorganization "does not discriminate unfairly" within the meaning of the Bankruptcy Code if no Class receives more than it is legally entitled to receive for its claims or equity interests.

"Fair and equitable" has different meanings with respect to the treatment of secured and unsecured claims. As set forth in Section 1129(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, those meanings are as follows:

With respect to a class of secured claims, the plan provides:

- (a) (i) that the holders of such claims retain the liens securing such claims, whether the property subject to such liens is retained by the debtor or transferred to another entity, to the extent of the allowed amount of such claims; and
  - (ii) that each holder of a claim of such class receive on account of such claim deferred cash payments totaling at least the allowed amount of such claim, of a value, as of the effective date of the plan, of at least the value of such holder's interest in the estate's interest in such property;
- (b) for the sale, subject to Section 363(k) of the Bankruptcy Code, of any property that is subject to the liens securing such claims, free and clear of such liens, with such liens to attach to the proceeds of such sale, and the treatment of such liens on proceeds under clause (a) and (b) of this subparagraph; or
- (c) the realization by such holders of the "indubitable equivalent" of such claims.

With respect to a class of unsecured claims, the plan provides:

(a) that each holder of a claim of such class receive or retain on account of such claim property of a value, as of the effective date of the plan, equal to the allowed amount of such claim; or

(b) the holder of any claim or interest that is junior to the claims of such class will not receive or retain under the plan on account of such junior claim or interest any property.

With respect to a class of equity interests, the plan provides:

- (a) that each holder of an interest of such class receive no Distribution under the Plan and that all existing Interests shall be cancelled on the Effective Date; or
- (b) that the holder of any interest that is junior to the interests of such class will not receive or retain under the plan on account of such junior interest any property.

In the event that any impaired Class of Claims does not accept the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court will determine at the Confirmation Hearing whether the Plan is fair and equitable with respect to, and does not discriminate unfairly against, any rejecting impaired Class of claims or equity interests. For the reasons set forth above, the Plan Proponents believe the Plan does not discriminate unfairly against, and is fair and equitable with respect to, each impaired Class of Claims

# VIII. FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND FEASIBILITY

See Exhibit D hereto for an analysis of the feasibility of the Plan and certain financial information relating to Debtors' operating performance.

Under section 1129(a)(11) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Plan Proponents must show that confirmation of the Plan is not likely to be followed by the liquidation, or the need for further financial reorganization, of Debtors or any successor to Debtors (unless such liquidation or reorganization is proposed in the Plan). The Bankruptcy Code does not require a guarantee of a successful reorganization, only that the Debtors can realistically carry out the provisions of the Plan and that the Plan offers a reasonable prospect of success. In the Matter of IPC Atlantic Ltd. P'ship, 142 B.R. 547, 559-60 (Bankr. N.D. Ga. 1992). The Plan complies with this requirement because (A) the Liquidating Trustee will use (i) \$250,000 to be funded through Cash Collateral, (ii) \$50,000 in Fee Based Payments, and (iii) funds added to Cash on hand after the Effective Date from the prosecution and/or settlement of Causes of Action and Retained Actions to fund the Plan; and (B) all of the Retained Actions shall vest in and be retained by the Reorganized Debtors under their sole and exclusive control for the benefit of all holders of Allowed Claims under the Plan pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of section 1123(b)(3)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise. The cash or property that is and will be made available to the Liquidating Trust will be sufficient to meet all obligations set forth in this Disclosure Statement and the accompanying Plan including, but not limited to, payments to holders of Allowed Claims. Provided the Plan is confirmed and consummated, confirmation of the Plan is not likely to be followed by the liquidation, or the need for a future reorganization or liquidation, and the Plan offers more than a reasonable prospect of success. See id.; 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(11).

DEBTORS' PROJECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OTHER FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT ARE

BASED ON VARIOUS ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES WILL NOT BE UPDATED TO REFLECT EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE DATE HEREOF. SUCH INFORMATION AND STATEMENTS ARE SUBJECT TO INHERENT UNCERTAINTIES AND TO A WIDE VARIETY OF SIGNIFICANT RISKS INCLUDING, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THOSE DESCRIBED HEREIN. CONSEQUENTLY, ACTUAL EVENTS, CIRCUMSTANCES, EFFECTS AND RESULTS MAY VARY SIGNIFICANTLY FROM THOSE INCLUDED IN OR CONTEMPLATED BY SUCH PROJECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND SUCH OTHER FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS.

# IX. RISK FACTORS

The following is intended as a summary of certain risks associated with the Plan, but it is not exhaustive and must be supplemented by the analysis and evaluation made by each holder of a Claim or Interest of the Plan and this Disclosure Statement as a whole with such holder's own advisors.

#### A. Insufficient Acceptances

For the Plan to be confirmed, each impaired Class of Claims is given the opportunity to vote to accept or reject the Plan. With regard to such impaired voting Classes, the Plan will be deemed accepted by a Class of impaired Claims if the Plan is accepted by claimants of such Class actually voting on the Plan who hold at least two-thirds (2/3) in amount and more than one-half (1/2) in number of the total Allowed Claims of the Class voted. Only those members of a Class who vote to accept or reject the Plan will be counted for voting purposes. The Plan Proponents reserve the right to request confirmation pursuant to the cramdown provisions in Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, which will allow confirmation of the Plan regardless of the fact that a particular Class of Claims or Interests has not accepted the Plan. However, there can be no assurance that any impaired Class of Claims under the Plan will accept the Plan or that the Debtors would be able to use the cramdown provisions of the Bankruptcy Code for confirmation of the Plan.

### **B.** Confirmation Risks

The following specific risks exist with respect to confirmation of the Plan:

First, any objection to confirmation of the Plan filed by a member of a Class of Claims or Interests can either prevent confirmation of the Plan or delay confirmation for a significant period of time.

Second, since the Plan Proponents may be seeking to obtain approval of the Plan over the rejection of one or more impaired Classes of Claims or Interests, the cramdown process could delay confirmation.

### **C.** Conditions Precedent

Confirmation of the Plan and occurrence of the Effective Date are subject to certain conditions precedent that may never occur. The Plan Proponents, however, are working diligently with all parties in interest to ensure that all conditions precedent are satisfied.

### D. The Debtors Have No Duty To Update

The statements contained in this Disclosure Statement are made by the Plan Proponents as of the date hereof, unless otherwise specified herein, and the delivery of this Disclosure Statement after that date does not imply that there has been no change in the information set forth herein since that date. The Plan Proponents have no duty to update this Disclosure Statement unless otherwise ordered to do so by the Bankruptcy Court.

## E. No Representations Outside The Disclosure Statement Are Authorized

No representations concerning or related to the Debtors, the Reorganization Cases or the Plan are authorized by the Bankruptcy Court or the Bankruptcy Code, other than as set forth in this Disclosure Statement. Any representations or inducements made to secure your acceptance, or rejection, of the Plan that are other than as contained in, or included with, this Disclosure Statement should not be relied upon by you in arriving at your decision. You should promptly report unauthorized representations or inducements to the Debtors' counsel and the Office of the United States Trustee.

#### F. Information Presented Is Based On The Debtors' Books And Records

While the Plan Proponents have endeavored to present information fairly in this Disclosure Statement, because of Debtors' financial difficulties, as well as the complexity of Debtors' financial matters, Debtors' books and records upon which this Disclosure Statement is based might be incomplete or inaccurate. The financial information contained herein, unless otherwise expressly indicated, is unaudited.

### G. All Information Was Provided by Debtors And Was Relied Upon By Professionals

All counsel and other professionals for Debtors, including Interim Chief Executive Officer Ronald L. Glass, have relied upon information provided by Debtors in connection with preparation of this Disclosure Statement. Although counsel for Debtors and the other Plan Proponents have performed certain limited due diligence in connection with the preparation of this Disclosure Statement, counsel has not verified independently the information contained herein.

# H. No Legal Or Tax Advice Is Provided To You By This Disclosure Statement

The contents of this Disclosure Statement should <u>not</u> be construed as legal, business, or tax advice. Each Creditor or holder of an Interest should consult his, her, or its own legal counsel and accountant as to legal, tax, and other matters concerning his, her, or its Claim or Interest. This Disclosure Statement is <u>not</u> legal advice to you. This Disclosure Statement may <u>not</u> be

relied upon for any purpose other than to determine how to vote on the Plan or object to confirmation of the Plan.

#### I. No Admissions Made

Nothing contained herein shall constitute an admission of any fact or liability by any party (including, without limitation, Debtors) or to be deemed evidence of the tax or other legal effects of the Plan on Debtors or on holders of Claims or Interests.

# J. No Waiver Of Right To Object Or Right To Recover Transfers And Estate Assets

A creditor's vote for or against the Plan does not constitute a waiver or release of any Claims or rights of Debtors (or any party in interest, as the case may be) to object to that creditor's Claim, or recover any Avoidance Action, Retained Action or other estate claim against that creditor, regardless of whether any Claims of Debtors or their respective estates are specifically or generally identified herein or in the Plan.

# K. Bankruptcy Law Risks and Considerations

# 1. Confirmation of the Plan is Not Assured

Although Debtors believe that the Plan will satisfy all requirements necessary for Confirmation by the Bankruptcy Court, there can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will reach the same conclusion. There can also be no assurance that modifications to the Plan will not be required for Confirmation or that such modifications would not necessitate re-solicitation of votes.

# 2. The Plan May Be Confirmed Without the Approval of All Creditors Through So-Called "Cramdown"

If one or more Impaired Classes of Claims does not accept the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court may nonetheless confirm the Plan at Debtors' request, if all other conditions for Confirmation have been met and at least one Impaired Class of Claims has accepted the Plan (without including the vote of any insider in that Class) and, as to each Impaired Class that has not accepted the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court determines that the Plan does not discriminate unfairly and is fair and equitable. The votes of holders of Interests under Class 6 are not being solicited because such holders are not entitled to receive or retain under the Plan any interest in property on account of their Interests and such Interests are being canceled as part of the confirmation process. That Class therefore is deemed to have rejected the Plan pursuant to Section 1126(g) of the Bankruptcy Code. Accordingly, Debtors are seeking confirmation of the Plan pursuant to Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to all impaired Classes and may seek confirmation pursuant to "cramdown" if such Classes vote to reject the Plan. Notwithstanding the actual or deemed rejection by such Classes, Debtors believe that impaired Classes are being treated fairly and equitably under the Bankruptcy Code. Debtors therefore believe the Plan may be confirmed despite its deemed rejection by these Classes.

### 3. The Effective Date Might Be Delayed or Never Occur

There can be no assurance as to the timing of the Effective Date or that it will occur. If the conditions precedent to the Effective Date set forth in the Plan have not occurred or been waived, the Confirmation Order shall be vacated in accordance with the Plan and such Confirmation Order. In that event, no Distributions would be made, and the holders of Claims and Interests would be restored to their previous position as of the moment before Confirmation, and the Debtors' obligations for Allowed Claims and the Interests would remain unchanged.

# 4. Allowed Claims in the Various Classes May Exceed Projections

Debtors have also projected the allowed amount of Claims in each Class in the Best Interests Analysis. Certain Classes, and the Classes below them in priority, could be significantly affected by the allowance of Claims in an amount that is greater than projected.

# X. <u>ALTERNATIVES TO CONFIRMATION AND CONSUMMATION OF THE PLAN</u>

The Plan Proponents' primary alternative to the Plan is the liquidation of Debtors' assets under Chapter 7. After studying this alternative, the Plan Proponents have concluded that the Plan is the best option for creditors because the Plan was drafted to maximize recoveries by holders of Claims, assuming confirmation of the Plan and consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Plan. The following discussion provides a summary of the Plan Proponents' analysis leading to their conclusion that the Plan will provide the highest value to holders of Claims.

The Plan Proponents have analyzed whether a Chapter 7 liquidation of Debtors' assets would be in the best interest of holders of Claims. That analysis reflects a liquidation value that is substantially lower than the value that may be realized through the Plan. The Plan Proponents believe that a Chapter 7 conversion would result in substantial diminution in the value to be realized by holders of Claims because of (1) additional administrative expenses involved in the appointment of a trustee or trustees, attorneys, accountants, and other professionals to assist such trustee(s) in the case of a Chapter 7 proceeding; (2) additional expenses and claims, some of which would be entitled to priority in payments, that would arise by reason of the liquidation and from the rejection of leases and other executory contracts in connection with an immediate sale or cessation of Debtors' operations; and (3) the substantial time that would elapse before creditors would receive any distribution in respect of their Claims. Consequently, the Plan Proponents believe that the Plan, which provides for satisfaction of all priority and administrative claims, assumption of the Lenders' claims, and cash distributions to all other creditors, provides a greater return to holders of Claims than would liquidation under Chapter 7.

A preliminary liquidation analysis is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C</u>. The liquidation analysis assumes an orderly three month liquidation under Chapter 11, is based upon Debtors' unaudited and estimated financial statements as of September 30, 2010, and utilizes other figures estimated by Debtors' management and professionals. Nothing in the liquidation analysis shall be dispositive of the allowance of any Claims or constitute a waiver by Debtors of their right to object to such Claims. Debtors are not stipulating to the validity or amount of any of the Claims

set forth in the liquidation analysis. The amounts set forth in the liquidation analysis are simply based upon the proofs of Claim filed as of the bar date for filing such proofs of Claim, as well as amounts reflected on Debtors' Schedules. The liquidation analysis will continue to be updated as Debtors continue to analyze the Claims and bring any appropriate objections to the Claims.

# XI. CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN

#### A. In General.

The following discussion summarizes certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences expected to result from the consummation of the Plan. This discussion is based on current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "IRC"), applicable Treasury Regulations, judicial authority and current administrative rulings and pronouncements of the Internal Revenue Service.(the "Service"). There can be no assurance that the Service will not take a contrary view. No ruling from the Service has been or will be sought nor will any counsel provide a legal opinion as to any of the expected tax consequences set forth below.

Legislative, judicial or administrative changes or interpretations may be forthcoming that could alter or modify the statements and conclusions set forth herein. Any such changes or interpretations may or may not be retroactive and could affect the tax consequences to the beneficial owners of Claims (each a "<u>Holder</u>" and collectively, the "Holders") or the Debtors. It cannot be predicted at this time whether any tax legislation will be enacted or, if enacted, whether any tax law changes contained therein would affect the tax consequences described herein.

The following summary is for general information only. The tax treatment of a Holder may vary depending upon such Holder's particular situation. This summary does not address all of the tax consequences that may be relevant to a Holder, including any alternative minimum tax consequences and does not address the tax consequences to a Holder that has made an agreement to resolve its claim in a manner not explicitly provided for in the Plan. This summary also does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences to persons not entitled to vote on the Plan or Holders subject to special treatment under the U.S. federal income tax laws, such as brokers or dealers in securities or currencies, certain securities traders, tax-exempt entities, financial institutions, insurance companies, foreign persons, partnerships and other pass-through entities, Holders that hold Claims as a position in a "straddle" or as part of a "synthetic security," "hedging," "conversion" or other integrated transaction, Holders that have a "functional currency" other than the United States dollar and Holders that have acquired Claims in connection with the performance of services. The following summary assumes that the Claims are held by Holders as "capital assets" within the meaning of Section 1221 of the IRC and that all Claims denominated as indebtedness are properly treated as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The tax treatment of Holders and the character, amount and timing of income, gain or loss recognized as a consequence of the Plan and the distributions provided for by the Plan may vary, depending upon, among other things: (i) whether the Claim (or portion thereof) constitutes a Claim for principal or interest; (ii) the type of consideration received by the Holder in exchange

for the Claim and whether the Holder receives distributions under the Plan in more than one taxable year; (iii) whether the Holder is a citizen or resident of the United States for tax purposes, is otherwise subject to U.S. federal income tax on a net basis, or falls into any special class of taxpayers, such as those that are excluded from this discussion as noted above; (iv) the manner in which the Holder acquired the Claim; (v) the length of time that the Claim has been held; (vi) whether the Claim was acquired at a discount; (vii) whether the Holder has taken a bad debt deduction with respect to the Claim (or any portion thereof) in the current or prior years; (viii) whether the Holder has previously included in income accrued but unpaid interest with respect to the Claim; (ix) the method of tax accounting of the Holder; (x) whether the Claim is an installment obligation for U.S. federal income tax purposes; and (xi) whether the "market discount" rules are applicable to the Holder. Therefore, each Holder should consult its tax advisor for information that may be relevant to its particular situation and circumstances, and the particular tax consequences to such Holder of the transactions contemplated by the Plan.

THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION IS INTENDED ONLY AS A SUMMARY OF CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN AND IS NOT A SUBSTITUTE FOR CAREFUL TAX PLANNING WITH A TAX PROFESSIONAL. THE FOLLOWING DISCUSSION IS FOR INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TAX ADVICE. THE TAX CONSEQUENCES ARE IN MANY CASES UNCERTAIN AND MAY VARY DEPENDING ON A HOLDER'S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES. ACCORDINGLY, EACH HOLDER IS STRONGLY URGED TO CONSULT ITS TAX ADVISOR REGARDING THE U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND APPLICABLE NON-U.S. INCOME AND OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN.

TO COMPLY WITH INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE CIRCULAR 230, TAXPAYERS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT (A) ANY DISCUSSION OF U.S. FEDERAL TAX ISSUES CONTAINED OR REFERRED TO IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT (INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS) IS NOT INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE USED, BY ANY TAXPAYER FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING PENALTIES THAT MAY BE IMPOSED ON A TAXPAYER UNDER THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE, (B) ANY SUCH DISCUSSION IS WRITTEN IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROMOTION OR MARKETING OF THE TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS ADDRESSED HEREIN, AND (C) TAXPAYERS SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR.

### B. U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to Debtors.

If there is a discharge of a debt obligation by a debtor (in the case of indebtedness with multiple obligors, indebtedness that is allocable to such debtor) for an amount less than the adjusted issue price (in most cases, the amount the debtor received on incurring the obligation, with certain adjustments), such discharge generally would give rise to cancellation of debt ("COD") income, which must be included in the debtor's income. However, Debtors should be able to utilize a special tax provision which excludes from income debts discharged in a chapter 11 case (the "Bankruptcy Exception").

Under Section 108(b) of the IRC and Treasury Regulations that apply to members of a consolidated group, if Debtors do not recognize COD income under the Bankruptcy Exception they will be required to reduce certain tax attributes, including consolidated attributes, such as consolidated net operating losses and net operating loss carryforwards (and certain other losses, credits and carryforwards, if any) attributable to Debtors, attributes that arose in separate return limitation years of Debtors (if any), and Debtors' tax basis in their assets (but not below the amount of their liabilities remaining immediately after the discharge of indebtedness), in an amount generally equal to the amount of Debtors' COD income excluded from income under the Bankruptcy Exception. A "look-through rule" applies when asset basis reduction reduces the basis of stock of another member of the consolidated group and requires corresponding adjustments to be made to the attributes attributable to the lower-tier member.

As a result of the required attribute reduction resulting from the discharge of indebtedness, Debtors believe that a significant portion of NOLs (and alternative minimum tax NOLs) of Debtors will be eliminated after consummation of the Plan. Because Debtor is liquidating rather than continuing to operate in reorganized form, and because substantially all of Debtors' assets were sold to Hediger, any remaining NOLs allocable to Debtor are not expected to have material value.

The sale to Hediger and the liquidation of Debtors may trigger income or gain recognition by Debtors, However, Debtors' existing NOLs and capital losses (prior to being reduced as a result of any attribute reduction) should generally first be available to offset any such income or gain (with any capital losses available to only offset capital gains). Based on the amount of the Debtors' NOLs, Debtors do not anticipate owing regular U.S. federal income tax with respect to taxable years ending after the Petition Date. If, however, the Service were to prevail in assessing U.S. federal income tax for any of these years or for tax years ending prior to the Petition Date, payments of such taxes could reduce the amounts otherwise available for distribution under the Plan.

A corporation or a consolidated group of corporations may incur alternative minimum tax ("AMT") liability even where a NOL is generated for regular corporate income tax purposes or where NOL carryovers and certain other tax attributes are sufficient to eliminate taxable income as computed under the regular corporate income tax. In general, the AMT is imposed on a corporation's alternative minimum taxable income at a twenty percent (20%) rate to the extent such tax exceeds the corporation's regular U.S. federal income tax. For purposes of computing taxable income for AMT purposes, certain tax deductions and other beneficial allowances allowed in computing a corporation's regular U.S. federal income tax are modified or eliminated. In particular, even though a corporation otherwise might be able to offset all of its taxable income for regular tax purposes by available NOL carryforwards, a portion of a corporation's taxable income for AMT purposes may not be offset by available NOL carryforwards (as computed for AMT purposes). Although it is possible that Debtors could be liable for the AMT, at this time Debtors do not expect to incur a material amount of AMT.

### C. U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences to Holders of Claims.

The U.S. federal income tax consequences of the implementation of the Plan to the Claimants, typical of the holders of Claims and Interests who are entitled to vote to confirm or

reject the Plan, will depend on a number of factors, including (i) whether the Claim constitutes a "security" for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (ii) the nature and origin of the Claim, (iii) the manner in which the holder acquired the Claim, (iv) the length of time the Claim has been held, (v) whether the Claim was acquired at a discount, (vi) whether the holder has taken a bad debt deduction or loss with respect to the Claim (or any portion thereof) in the current year or in any prior year, (vii) whether the holder has previously included in its taxable income accrued but unpaid interest with respect to the Claim; (viii) the holder's method of tax accounting, (ix) whether the Claim is an installment obligation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and (x) the timing of any distributions under the Plan.

# 1. Gain or Loss Recognition on the Satisfaction of Claims and Character of Gain or Loss

Claimants will generally not recognize gain, but may recognize loss, with respect to the amount in which the Claimants receive on their Claims (generally, the amount of cash and the fair market value of any other property received in satisfaction of Debtors' obligations) that either exceeds, on one hand, or is less than, on the other hand, the Claimant's basis in the Claim. Thus, it is possible that certain Claimants may recognize a gain or loss as a result of distributions under the Plan.

In general, gain or loss recognized by any such Claimant is either capital or ordinary in character. The character is dependent upon the underlying nature of the Claim and whether such Claim, in the hands of the Claimant, constitutes a capital asset. To the extent that a debt instrument is acquired after its original issuance for less than the issue price of such instrument, it will have market discount. A holder of a Claim with market discount must treat any gain recognized on the satisfaction of such Claim as ordinary income to the extent that it does not exceed the market discount that has already been accrued with respect to such Claim. There may also be state, local or foreign tax considerations applicable to particular holders of Claims, none of which are discussed herein. Claimants should consult their own tax advisors for information that may be relevant to their particular situations and circumstances and the particular tax consequences to them of the transactions contemplated by the Plan.

### 2. Interest Income with respect to Allowed Claims

Holders of Allowed Claims will be treated as receiving a payment of interest (includible in income in accordance with the Holder's method of accounting for tax purposes) to the extent that any cash or other property received (or deemed received) pursuant to the Plan is attributable to accrued but unpaid interest, if any, on such Allowed Claims. The extent to which the receipt of cash or other property should be attributable to accrued but unpaid interest is unclear. The Liquidating Trustee intends to take the position, and the Plan provides, that such cash or property distributed pursuant to the Plan will first be allocable to the principal amount of an Allowed Claim and then, to the extent necessary, to any accrued but unpaid interest thereon. Each Holder should consult its tax advisor regarding the determination of the amount of consideration received under the Plan that is attributable to interest (if any). A Holder generally will be entitled to recognize a loss to the extent any accrued interest was previously included in its gross income and is not paid in full.

## 3. Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Certain payments, including payments in respect of accrued interest or market discount, are generally subject to information reporting by the payor to the IRS. Moreover, such reportable payments may be subject to backup withholding. Under the Tax Code's backup withholding rules, a U.S. Claimant may be subject to backup withholding at the applicable rate with respect to certain distributions or payments pursuant to the Plan, unless the Claimant: (i) comes within certain exempt categories (which generally include corporations) and, when required, demonstrates this fact or (ii) provides a correct U.S. taxpayer identification number and certifies under penalty of perjury that the holder is a U.S. person, the taxpayer identification number is correct and that the holder is not subject to backup withholding because of a failure to report all dividend and interest income. Payments made to Foreign Claimants, if any, may also be subject to withholding, which may be reduced under an applicable Treaty.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be credited against a holder's U. S. federal income tax liability, and a the Claimant may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules by filing an appropriate claim for refund with the IRS.

THE FOREGOING DISCUSSION OF CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS IS FOR GENERAL INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TAX ADVICE. ACCORDINGLY, EACH HOLDER SHOULD CONSULT ITS TAX ADVISOR WITH RESPECT TO THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN DESCRIBED HEREIN AND THE APPLICATION OF FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL AND FOREIGN TAX LAWS. NEITHER THE DEBTORS NOR THEIR PROFESSIONALS SHALL HAVE ANY LIABILITY TO ANY PERSON OR HOLDER ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO THE U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL OR FOREIGN TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN OR THE FOREGOING DISCUSSION.

# XII. CONCLUSION

The Plan Proponents believe that acceptance of the Plan is in the best interest of Creditors and urge holders of Claims to vote to ACCEPT the Plan.

DATED: November 11, 2010 Atlanta, Georgia

/s/

Ronald L. Glass Interim Chief Executive Officer

#### **HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP**

/s/

Mark I. Duedall Georgia Bar No. 231770

Suite 4100

600 Peachtree Street, N.E. Atlanta, GA 30308-2216

Tel: (404) 888-4034 Fax: (404) 602-8864

E-mail: mduedall@hunton.com

and

Henry P. (Toby) Long, III Virginia Bar No. 75134 to be admitted pro hac vice Riverfront Plaza, East Tower 951 East Byrd Street Richmond, Virginia 23219-4074

Tel: (804) 787-8036 Fax: (804) 343-4600

E-mail: *hlong@hunton.com* 

Counsel for Arbor Realty SR, Inc., as Plan

Proponent

### BERGER SINGERMAN, P.A.

/s/

Brian K. Gart

Florida Bar No. 381152, admitted pro hac vice

Paul A. Avron

Florida Bar No. 0050814, admitted pro hac vice

350 East Las Olas Boulevard, Suite 1000

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Tel: (954) 525-9900 Fax: (954) 523-2872

E-mail: bgart@bergersingerman.com pavron@bergersingerman.com

and

### **FOLTZ MARTIN, LLC**

/s/

Jimmy C. Luke, II (Ga. Bar No. 191817) 5 Piedmont Center, Suite 750 Atlanta, GA 30305-1541

Tel: (404) 231-9397 Fax: (404) 237-1659

E-mail: *jluke@foltzmartin.com* 

Counsel for Debtor Plan Proponents

# EXHIBIT A PLAN OF REORGANIZATION

# IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA ATLANTA DIVISION

IN RE:	)	Chapter 11
	)	
MILES PROPERTIES, INC., et al.,	)	CASE NO. 10-60797-MHM
Debtors.	)	
	)	Jointly Administered

JOINT PLAN OF REORGANIZATION OF MPI PORTFOLIO I, LLC, MPI AZALEA, LLC, MILES-CHERRY HILL, LLC, MILES-OAK PARK, LLC, MILES-FOX HOLLOW, LLC, MPI CIMARRON, LLC, MPI SUNSET PLACE, LLC, MPI PALMS WEST, LLC, AND MPI BRITISH WOODS, LLC

### **HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP**

/s/

Mark I. Duedall

Georgia Bar No. 231770

Suite 4100

600 Peachtree Street, N.E.

Atlanta, GA 30308-2216

(404) 888-4034 Tel: (404) 602-8864 Fax:

Email: *mduedall@hunton.com* 

and

Henry P. (Toby) Long, III Virginia Bar No. 75134 to be admitted pro hac vice Riverfront Plaza, East Tower 951 East Byrd Street

Richmond, Virginia 23219-4074

Tel: (804) 787-8036 Fax: (804) 343-4600

E-mail: *hlong@hunton.com* 

Counsel for Arbor Realty SR, Inc., as Plan

Proponent

BERGER SINGERMAN, P.A.

/s/

Brian K. Gart

Florida Bar No. 381152, admitted pro hac vice

Paul A. Avron

Florida Bar No. 0050814, admitted pro hac vice

350 East Las Olas Boulevard, Suite 1000

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Tel: (954) 525-9900 Fax: (954) 523-2872

E-mail: bgart@bergersingerman.com pavron@bergersingerman.com

and

### **FOLTZ MARTIN, LLC**

Jimmy C. Luke, II (Ga. Bar No. 191817) 5 Piedmont Center, Suite 750

Atlanta, GA 30305-1541

Tel: (404) 231-9397

Fax: (404) 237-1659

E-mail: *iluke@foltzmartin.com* 

Counsel for Debtor Plan Proponents

Dated: November 11, 2010

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I.	DEFINITIONS	1
SECTION 1.1 SECTION 1.2	DEFINED TERMS. UNDEFINED TERMS.	
ARTICLE II.	TREATMENT OF CLAIMS NOT SUBJECT TO CLASSIFICATION	12
SECTION 2.1 SECTION 2.2 SECTION 2.3	SUBSTANTIVE CONSOLIDATION.  ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS; FEE REQUESTS.  PRIORITY TAX CLAIMS.	12
ARTICLE III.	CLASSIFICATION OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS	13
SECTION 3.1 SECTION 3.2 SECTION 3.3 SECTION 3.4 SECTION 3.5 SECTION 3.6	CLASS 1 – PRIORITY CLAIMS.  CLASS 2 – LENDER CLAIMS.  CLASS 3 – OTHER SECURED CLAIMS.  CLASS 4 - THE MPI PORTFOLIO NOTE CLAIM.  CLASS 5 – GENERAL UNSECURED CLAIMS.  CLASS 6 – INTERESTS.	13 13 13 14
ARTICLE IV.	IDENTIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLASSES NOT IMPAIRED UNDER PLAN	14
SECTION 4.1 SECTION 4.2 SECTION 4.3	IDENTIFICATION OF UNIMPAIRED CLASSES.  CLASS 1 – PRIORITY CLAIMS.  CLASS 3 – OTHER SECURED CLAIMS.	14
ARTICLE V.	IDENTIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLASSES AND INTERESTS IMPAIRED UNDER THIS PLAN	15
SECTION 5.1 SECTION 5.2 SECTION 5.3 SECTION 5.4 SECTION 5.5	IDENTIFICATION OF IMPAIRED CLASSES AND IMPAIRED INTERESTS.  CLASS 2 – LENDER CLAIMS.  CLASS 4 - THE MPI PORTFOLIO NOTE CLAIM.  CLASS 5 - GENERAL UNSECURED CLAIMS.  CLASS 6 – INTERESTS.	15 15 15
ARTICLE VI.	MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS PLAN	16
SECTION 6.1 SECTION 6.2 SECTION 6.3	TERMINATION OF EQUITABLE, LEGAL, AND CONTRACTUAL SUBORDINATION RIGHTS.  TRANSFER AND VESTING OF DEBTORS' ASSETS.  APPOINTMENT OF THE LIQUIDATING TRUSTEE AND TRANSFER OF UNSECURED	
SECTION 6.4 SECTION 6.5	CREDITORS' ASSETS.  MANAGEMENT.  MANNER OF PAYMENTS UNDER THIS PLAN.	21
SECTION 6.6 SECTION 6.7	UNCLAIMED CONSIDERATION TERM OF INJUNCTIONS OR STAYS	21 21
SECTION 6.8 SECTION 6.9 SECTION 6.10 SECTION 6.11	DATE FOR OBJECTIONS TO CLAIMS OR INTERESTS.  CORPORATE ACTION.  COMPLIANCE WITH TAX REQUIREMENTS.  DISSOLUTION OF REORGANIZED DEBTORS.	22 22
ARTICLE VII.	EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES	23
SECTION 7.1 SECTION 7.2	ASSUMPTION AND REJECTION	
ARTICLE VIII.	DISCHARGE OF DEBTORS AND RELEASES	23

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 57 of 126

SECTION 8.1	PLAN BINDING.	23
SECTION 8.2	DISCHARGE	
SECTION 8.3	RELEASE OF ARBOR RELEASED PARTIES.	
SECTION 8.4	RELEASE OF DEBTOR RELEASED PARTIES.	24
SECTION 8.5	RELEASE OF WACHOVIA RELEASED PARTIES.	24
ARTICLE IX.	NOTICES	25
ARTICLE X.	RETENTION OF JURISDICTION	26
SECTION 10.1	JURISDICTION OVER CLAIMS AND ACTIONS	26
SECTION 10.2	RETENTION OF ADDITIONAL JURISDICTION.	
SECTION 10.3	MODIFICATIONS OF THIS PLAN.	28
SECTION 10.4	REVOCATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF THIS PLAN	28
SECTION 10.5	SECTION 1146 EXEMPTION.	28
ARTICLE XI.	DISPUTED CLAIMS RESERVE	29
SECTION 11.1	RESERVE FOR DISPUTED CLAIMS.	29
ARTICLE XII.	CONDITIONS TO CONFIRMATION AND TO THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THIS PLAN	29
SECTION 12.1	CONDITIONS TO CONFIRMATION.	29
SECTION 12.2	CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVE DATE	
SECTION 12.3	NOTICE OF EFFECTIVE DATE.	30
ARTICLE XIII.	MISCELLANEOUS	30
SECTION 13.1	HEADINGS	30
SECTION 13.2	BINDING EFFECT, SUCCESSORS, AND ASSIGNS.	
SECTION 13.3	CRAM DOWN.	
SECTION 13.4	GOVERNING LAW.	
SECTION 13.5	SEVERABILITY.	
SECTION 13.6	TIME.	
Section 13.7	VOTING AND OBJECTIONS TO CLAIMS OR INTERESTS.	
SECTION 13.8	EXCULPATIONS AND INJUNCTIONS	
SECTION 13.9	DE MINIMIS DISTRIBUTIONS.	
SECTION 13.10	CONSTRUCTION.	
SECTION 13.11	OTHER DOCUMENTS AND ACTIONS.	

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 58 of 126

# Exhibits to the Plan

Exhibit A: Arbor Guaranty

Exhibit B: Amended MPI Portfolio Note Exhibit C: Liquidating Trust Agreement

Exhibit D: List of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Exhibit E: Management Agreement Exhibit F: Purchase and Sale Agreement

Exhibit G: Participation Agreement Amendment

Exhibit H: Transfer Agreement Exhibit I: Letter of Intent

Exhibit J: List of Transfers Within 90 Days of Petition Date

Exhibit K: Amended Intercreditor Agreement

MPI Azalea, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, Miles-Cherry Hill, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, MPI Cimarron, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, MPI Sunset Place, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, MPI Palms West, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, MPI British Woods, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, and MPI Portfolio I, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, as Debtors and Debtors in Possession, along with their co-proponent Arbor Realty SR, Inc., propose the following joint plan of reorganization pursuant to Section 1121(a) of the Bankruptcy Code (as hereinafter defined). Reference is made to the Disclosure Statement accompanying this Plan, which discusses Debtors and their management, business, assets, and liabilities, and which contains a summary and description of this Plan.

All holders of impaired Claims (as hereinafter defined) against and Interests in Debtors are encouraged to read this Plan and the Disclosure Statement in their entirety before voting to accept or reject this Plan or making any elections under this Plan.

#### Article I. DEFINITIONS

#### **Section 1.1 Defined Terms**

The following terms used in this Plan shall have the meanings specified below, and such meanings shall be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of such terms.

Administrative Claim means any Allowed Claim of the kind described in Section 507(a)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, and shall include, without limitation, (a) all Fee Requests to the extent approved and allowed by the Bankruptcy Court, and (b) all fees payable pursuant to Section 1930 of Title 28 of the United States Code until a final decree is entered in the Reorganization Cases.

Administrative Claim Bar Date means December 1, 2010, the date by which Administrative Claims have to be filed with the Bankruptcy Court; provided, however, that pursuant to an Order of the Bankruptcy Court (Doc. No. 778), the Administrative Claims Bar Date **did not apply** to (i) Administrative Claims which arose in the ordinary course of Debtors' post-petition business operations contemplated by any cash collateral order entered by the Bankruptcy Court, (ii) rejection damage claims for executory contracts and unexpired leases not yet rejected, (iii) applications for approval of professional fees and expenses pursuant to Sections 327, 328, or 330 of the Bankruptcy Code, (iv) obligations owed to the Office of the United States Trustee, (v) Administrative Claims, whether asserted pursuant to Section 507(b) of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise, that may be asserted by the Lender, Wachovia, Arbor Realty Funding, LLC, or Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd., or (vi) Administrative Claims that may

arise for any "break-up fee" that may be allowed via subsequent order of the Bankruptcy Court.

<u>Allowed</u> when used to describe a specific type of Claim or Interest (<u>e.g.</u>, an "Allowed Administrative Claim"), means an Allowed Claim or Interest of that particular type of Claim or Interest.

Allowed Claim means any Claim (i) (a) proof of which has been Filed on or before the Bar Date (or any other applicable bar date fixed by the Bankruptcy Court) to the extent it has not been withdrawn, paid, or otherwise deemed satisfied, and (b) as to which no objection to the allowance thereof has been interposed within the applicable period of limitation fixed by this Plan, the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, or the Bankruptcy Court, or, if an objection has been interposed, to the extent that any such Claim has been allowed by a Final Order, (ii) set forth in the schedules of assets and liabilities filed by Debtors, and not listed as disputed, contingent, or unliquidated, or subsequently removed from such schedules or revised with an amended amount, or (iii) to the extent represented by a Fee Request, in the amount as shall be approved by a Final Order; provided, however, that notwithstanding the provisions of sub-clauses (i)-(iii) of this definition, any Claim specifically deemed allowed or disallowed in this Plan shall be, or not be (as the case may be), an Allowed Claim to the extent so specifically provided in this Plan. Unless otherwise specified, an Allowed Claim shall not include (w) interest on the principal amount of such Claim maturing or accruing from and after the Petition Date, (x) any fees for services rendered in conjunction with or to collect the Claim, including attorneys' fees, (y) punitive or exemplary damages, or (z) any fine, penalty, or forfeiture, nor shall any claim be an Allowed Claim if the holder thereof or its predecessor in interest is the subject of an Avoidance Action, unless and until (i) the Liquidating Trustee has determined not to pursue such Avoidance Action, or (ii) the entry of a Final Order ruling in favor of the holder thereof or its predecessor on such Avoidance Action.

Amended Intercreditor Agreement means the amended version, substantially in the form of Exhibit K hereto, of the Intercreditor Agreement.

Amended Loan Documents means the Loan Documents, as amended by the Arbor Guaranty, the Participation Agreement Amendment, and the Transfer Agreement (and any other documents referred to therein)

Amended MPI Portfolio Note means the amended version, substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto, of the MPI Portfolio Note.

Arbor means Arbor Realty SR, Inc., a Maryland corporation.

<u>Arbor Contribution</u> means \$1,050,000, to be paid if Arbor is the Successful Bidder at the Auction under its proposed Reorganization Via Debt Assumption.

Arbor Guarantor means Arbor Realty SR, Inc., a Maryland corporation.

<u>Arbor Guaranty</u> means that certain replacement guaranty, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto, in favor of the Lender.

<u>Arbor Purchasers</u> means GA Hampton Forest, GA Highland Brooke, GA Highland Enclave, GA Highland Estates, GA Highland North, GA Royal Oaks, GA Royal Ridge, and GA Royal Springs.

<u>Arbor Released Parties</u> means Arbor, Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd., Arbor Realty Funding, LLC, Arbor Realty Trust, Inc., and their respective affiliates, including their respective officers, directors, members, managers, representatives, legal counsel, financial advisors, and/or other agents, and their respective successors and assigns.

Auction means the auction for the sale of substantially all of Debtors' assets under this Plan, pursuant to the Plan Support and Bidding Procedures Order, whereby the bid of Arbor contemplated by this Plan is tested against (i) the bid of any other qualified bidder submitting a higher and better offer for a Reorganization via Debt Assumption by increasing the Arbor Contribution and otherwise assuming the rights and obligations of the Arbor Purchasers, GA Portfolio, and the Arbor Guarantor under this Plan and the Plan Documents, (ii) the bid of any other qualified bidder (or an aggregate of them) submitting a higher and better bid of at least \$70,350,000 in cash to acquire Debtors' assets pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, it being understood that the Lender shall waive its right to credit bid under Section 363(k) of the Bankruptcy Code once a qualified bid (or an aggregate of them) reaches that price.

<u>Auction Overbid</u> means (i) in the event of a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the amount of additional proceeds above the Arbor Contribution, or (ii) in the event of a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the amount of additional proceeds from the sale which exceeds \$70,350,000. In either instance, 20% of the Auction Overbid shall be added to the Estates' Share of Proceeds as the Estates' Share of Auction Overbid, and the balance of the Auction Overbid shall be added to the Cash Collateral.

Avoidance Actions means any and all avoidance or recovery action which a trustee, Debtors, or their Estates may assert under Sections 502, 510, 541, 542, 543, 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, 550, 551, or 553 of the Bankruptcy Code or under other similar or related state or federal statutes or common law, including, without limitation, any action to recover any of the amounts set forth on Exhibit J hereto.

<u>Ballot</u> means that form of ballot to be approved by the Bankruptcy Court for soliciting votes on this Plan from members of Classes entitled to vote on this Plan.

Bankruptcy Code means the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978, as amended, as set forth in Title 11 of the United States Code, as the same was in effect on the Petition Date, together with all later amendments to the extent applicable to the Reorganization Cases. Reference to any specific section of the Bankruptcy Code shall be in the form "11 U.S.C. § \_\_\_\_\_" or "Section \_\_\_\_ of the Bankruptcy Code."

<u>Bankruptcy Court</u> means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Georgia, Atlanta Division.

<u>Bankruptcy Rules</u> means the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, as amended and promulgated under Section 2075, Title 28, United States Code, as the same were in effect on the Petition Date, together with all later amendments to the extent applicable to the Reorganization Cases.

Bar Date means with respect to Pre-Petition Claims, May 17, 2010, in accordance with the Bankruptcy Court's Corrected Order and Notice Establishing May 17, 2010 as Last Day to File Claim, entered on April 2, 2010 [Doc. No. 364]; provided, however, that the Bar Date for the following claimants identified in Exhibit A to Debtors' Motion to Fix Bar Additional Bar Date for Filing Pre-Petition Claims; and to Designate Form and Manner of Notice of Additional Bar Date (Doc. No. 770), First Advantage Saferent and Republic Services of GA (regarding Miles-Oak Park); Answer Florida and The Drain Team (regarding MPI Cimarron); Answer Florida (regarding MPI Sunset Place), and A-Plus Refinishing and Stephanie Lyons (regarding MPI British Woods) is December 1, 2010, as established by the Bankruptcy Court in an Order dated October 18, 2010 (Doc. No. 777).

<u>Business Day</u> means any day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday, a "legal holiday" as defined in Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a), or not a day on which commercial banks in the State of Georgia are authorized or obligated by law, executive order, or governmental decree to be closed.

<u>Cash Collateral</u> means all funds held by Wachovia pursuant to the Loan Documents.

<u>Claim</u> shall have the meaning set forth in Section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Class</u> means a class or subclass of Claims or Interests designated in Article III of this Plan.

Clerk means the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court.

<u>Confirmation</u> means the entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Confirmation Date</u> means the date on which the Confirmation Order is entered on the docket of the Bankruptcy Court.

<u>Confirmation Hearing</u> means the hearing held before the Bankruptcy Court in which the Plan Proponents will seek Confirmation of this Plan, including any and all adjournments thereof.

<u>Confirmation Order</u> means an order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming this Plan pursuant to Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Creditor</u> means any entity that is the holder of any Claim against a Debtor that arose (or is based on an obligation incurred) on or before the Petition Date or any Claim

against a Debtor's Estate of a kind specified in Section 502(g), 502(h), or 502(i) of the Bankruptcy Code.

Debtor Released Parties means Miles-Cherry Hill, Miles-Fox Hollow, Miles-Oak Park, MPI Azalea, MPI British Woods, MPI Cimarron, MPI Palms West, MPI Portfolio, and MPI Sunset Place, and their respective officers, including Ronald L. Glass, Debtors' Interim Chief Executive Officer, directors, members, managers, representatives, legal counsel, financial advisors and/or other agents, and their respective successors and assigns, and James L. Mauck, Jr., Miles Properties, Inc.'s Chief Financial Officer; provided, however, that Debtor Released Parties shall not under any circumstances include Daniel J. Miles or his Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate, Case No. 09-92601-MHM, which case is also pending before the Bankruptcy Court.

<u>Debtors</u> means collectively, MPI Azalea, MPI British Woods, MPI Cimarron, MPI Palms West, MPI Portfolio, MPI Sunset Place, Miles-Cherry Hill, Miles-Fox Hollow, and Miles-Oak Park in their corporate or other capacities and in their capacities as debtors and debtors in possession under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Debtors In Possession</u> means Debtors, when exercising their rights, powers, and duties in the Reorganization Cases under Sections 1107(a) and 1108 of the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Disclosure Statement</u> means the Plan Proponents' disclosure statement accompanying this Plan.

<u>Disputed Claim</u> means any Claim that is the subject of a pending application, motion, objection, complaint, or any other legal proceeding seeking to disallow, subordinate, or estimate such Claim.

<u>Effective Date</u> means the first Business Day on which each of the conditions set forth in Section 12.1 of this Plan is satisfied or waived pursuant to this Plan, or such other date thereafter chosen jointly by the Plan Proponents.

Equity Security shall have the meaning set forth in the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Estate</u> means the respective Debtor's estate created by Section 541 of the Bankruptcy Code upon commencement of the Reorganization Cases.

<u>Estates' Share of Auction Overbid</u> means 20% of the Auction Overbid of the Successful Bidder at the Auction.

<u>Estates' Share of Proceeds</u> means \$300,000, funded as set forth in Section 6.2(d)(ii) of this Plan, plus the Estates' Share of the Auction Overbid, if an Auction Overbid is submitted and the transactions contemplated thereby are consummated under this Plan.

<u>Fee Request</u> means a request for compensation or reimbursement of expenses incurred through the Effective Date pursuant to Section 327, 328, 330, 331, 503(b), 506,

or 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code in connection with an application made to the Bankruptcy Court in the Reorganization Cases.

<u>Filed</u> means filed with the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 5005.

<u>Final Order</u> means a docketed order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court or of another court of competent jurisdiction that the Bankruptcy Court has specifically permitted to proceed to enter such order or judgment, to the extent that it has (i) been deemed final under applicable Bankruptcy Rules or (ii) not been reversed, stayed, modified, vacated, or amended and as to which any appeal, reargument, or petition for certiorari that has been or may be taken has been finally resolved and as to which the time for further appeal, reargument or for filing any petition for certiorari has expired.

<u>Free and Clear Sales Proceeds</u> means in the case of a Reorganization via a Free and Clear Sale, the purchase price under the Purchase and Sale Agreement (or the summation of all purchase prices if there is an aggregate of buyers under several Purchase and Sale Agreements), less (i) the Estates' Share of the Auction Overbid, if any, and less (ii) any deductions required by Section 6.2(d)(i)-(v) of the Plan.

- GA Hampton Forest means GA Hampton Forest, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- <u>GA Highland Brooke</u> means GA Highland Brooke, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- GA Highland Enclave means GA Highland Enclave, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- GA Highland Estates means GA Highland Estates, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- GA Highland North means GA Highland North, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
  - GA Portfolio means GA Portfolio, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- GA Royal Oaks means GA Royal Oaks, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- GA Royal Ridge means GA Royal Ridge, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- GA Royal Springs means GA Royal Springs, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
- General Unsecured Claims means all Claims against Debtors that are not Administrative Claims, Priority Claims, Priority Tax Claims, Lender Claims, Other Secured Claims, the MPI Portfolio Note Claim, or Claims represented by, related to,

arising under, or in connection with the ownership of an Interest, such as derivative claims and claims that would be subordinated by operation of Section 510(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, but including, without limitation, (i) Claims arising Pre-Petition in the ordinary course of Debtors' business for goods and services, whether supplied to Debtors on account or otherwise, and (ii) all Rejection Claims. Under no circumstances shall any part of the Lender Claims or the MPI Portfolio Note Claim (or any unsecured deficiency claim relating to the Lender Claims or the MPI Portfolio Note Claim, under Section 506(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise) be included in the Class of General Unsecured Claims.

<u>Intercreditor Agreement</u> means the Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of 2007, by and between Wachovia Bank, National Association, as senior lender, and Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd., as mezzanine lender.

<u>Interest</u> means any right, interest, or benefit related to or represented by any Equity Security of any Debtor, including, without limitation, any membership interests, and shall also include any Claims represented by, related to, arising under, or in connection with the ownership of an Interest, such as derivative claims and claims that would be subordinated by operation of Section 510(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Lender</u> means Bank of America, N.A., Successor by Merger to Lasalle Bank National Association, as Trustee for the holders of Wachovia Bank Commercial Mortgage Trust, Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2007-Whale 8.

<u>Lender Claims</u> means all Claims of the Lender against Debtors represented by, related to, or arising under or in connection with the Loan Documents. Pursuant to this Plan, the Lender Claims shall be Allowed in the amount of \$73,300,544.20.

Letter of Intent means that certain letter agreement dated August 9, 2010, attached as Exhibit I hereto, entered into by and between Arbor Realty Trust, Inc., on behalf of to-be-formed affiliates, and Ronald L. Glass, Debtors' Interim Chief Executive Officer, on behalf of Debtors through which the parties agreed to a proposed transaction effectuating a sale of substantially all of Debtors' assets to Arbor Realty Trust, Inc. or its designee herein, which is Arbor and the Arbor Purchasers.

<u>Loan Documents</u> means that certain promissory note dated as of May 17, 2007, in the original principal amount of \$92,700,000, obligating MPI Azalea, MPI British Woods, MPI Cimarron, MPI Palms West, MPI Sunset Place, Miles-Cherry Hill, Miles-Fox Hollow, and Miles-Oak Park and payable to the order of Wachovia Bank, National Association, and the documents associated therewith, including the mortgages, deeds of trust, deeds to secure debt, assignment of leases and rents, central account agreement, and guaranty.

<u>Liquidating Trust</u> means the trust established pursuant to Article VI of this Plan, under which the Liquidating Trustee shall, subject to Section 6.3(b) of this Plan, administer and liquidate the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, excluding the Retained Actions, and make pro rata distributions to the holders of General Unsecured Claims.

<u>Liquidating Trust Agreement</u> means the agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit C hereto, establishing the Liquidating Trust.

<u>Liquidating Trustee</u> means the entity identified by the Plan Proponents on or before the Plan Documents Filing Date.

<u>Management Agreement</u> means the management agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit E hereto, between the Purchasers and Carroll Property Management, LLC, governing the management of the properties acquired by the Purchasers for a period of not less than ninety days following the Effective Date.

<u>Miles-Cherry Hill</u> means Miles-Cherry Hill, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, which owns that apartment complex known as Highland North Apartments, located in Atlanta, Georgia.

<u>Miles-Fox Hollow</u> means Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, which owns that apartment complex known as Highland Enclave Apartments, located in Clarkston, Georgia.

<u>Miles-Oak Park</u> means Miles-Oak Park, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, which owns that apartment complex known as Highland Estates Apartments, located in Decatur, Georgia.

MPI Azalea means MPI Azalea, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, which owns that apartment complex known as Highland Brooke Apartments, located in Atlanta, Georgia.

<u>MPI British Woods</u> means MPI British Woods, LLC a Georgia limited liability company, which owns that apartment complex known as Hampton Forest Apartments, located in Durham, North Carolina.

MPI Cimarron means MPI Cimarron, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, which owns that apartment complex known as Royal Oaks Apartments, located in Tampa, Florida.

<u>MPI Palms West</u> means MPI Palms West, LLC a Georgia limited liability company, which owns that apartment complex known as Royal Springs Apartments, located in Orlando, Florida.

MPI Portfolio means MPI Portfolio I, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company.

MPI Portfolio Note Claim means the debt evidenced by that certain promissory note by and between the Lender and MPI Portfolio, dated May 17, 2007, in the original principal amount of \$15,000,000.00, which promissory note is currently held by Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd., provided that the MPI Portfolio Note Claim shall exclude any claims arising thereunder against Daniel Miles or his bankruptcy estate, Case No. 09-92601-MHM, which case is also pending before the Bankruptcy Court.

Pursuant to this Plan, the MPI Portfolio Note Claim shall be Allowed in the amount of \$11,860,928.

MPI Sunset Place means MPI Sunset Place, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, which owns that apartment complex known as Royal Ridge Apartments, located in St. Petersburg, Florida.

Other Secured Claims means all Allowed Claims, other than the Lender Claims, that are Secured Claims.

<u>Participation Agreement Amendment</u> means the amendment, substantially in the form of Exhibit G hereto, to the Participation and Servicing Agreement, dated as of June, 2007, by and between Wachovia Bank, National Association, as senior participant, and Arbor Realty Funding LLC, as junior participant.

<u>Person</u> means an individual, a corporation, a limited liability company, a partnership, an association, a joint stock company, a joint venture, an estate, a trust, an unincorporated organization, a government, or any political subdivision thereof or other entity.

Petition Date means January 8, 2010.

<u>Plan</u> means this document and all exhibits hereto, as the same may be amended or modified jointly by the Plan Proponents from time to time pursuant to this Plan, the Bankruptcy Code, and the Bankruptcy Rules.

<u>Plan Documents</u> means the documents and forms of documents specified or referenced in, and/or to be executed by any of the Plan Proponents or Wachovia pursuant to the terms of this Plan, including, without limitation, the Arbor Guaranty, the Amended Intercreditor Agreement, the Amended MPI Portfolio Note, the Liquidating Trust Agreement, the Management Agreement, the Purchase and Sale Agreement, the Participation Agreement Amendment, the Transfer Agreement, and the Letter of Intent, in each case as such documents and forms of documents may be amended and/or supplemented from time to time in accordance with their respective terms, including any and all documents, certificates, and instruments necessary for any to become effective.

<u>Plan Documents Filing Date</u> means the date by which Debtors shall have Filed the Plan Documents, to the extent not attached hereto, which date shall be no later than December 6, 2010, unless such date is further extended with the consent of Debtors, Wachovia, and Arbor.

Plan Proponents means Arbor and Debtors.

Plan Support and Bidding Procedures Order, means that certain Order on the Motion of MPI Portfolio I, LLC and Wachovia Debtors for Entry of an Order (I) Extending Exclusivity Periods, (II) Approving the Execution of a Letter of Intent for a Plan Funding Agreement, (III) Approving Bidding Procedures, (IV) Scheduling a Bidding Deadline and Auction Date, (V) Authorizing a Break-Up Fee, and (VI)

Approving Form and Manner of Notice, entered on November \_\_\_, 2010 [Docket No. \_\_\_], whereby Debtors were authorized to, among other things, (i) act in accordance with the terms of the Letter of Intent, and (ii) conduct the Auction.

<u>Pre-Petition</u> means arising before the Petition Date.

<u>Priority Claim</u> means any Claim (other than an Administrative Claim or a Priority Tax Claim) to the extent such Claim is entitled to a priority in payment under Section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Priority Tax Claim</u> means any Claim for an amount entitled to priority under Section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Purchase and Sale Agreement</u> means the agreement (or summary of terms to be incorporated into the Confirmation Order), substantially in the form of Exhibit F hereto, pursuant to which the Purchasers are acquiring substantially all of the assets of Debtors.

<u>Purchasers</u> means either (i) the Arbor Purchasers or (ii) the Successful Bidder(s) at the Auction.

<u>Rejection Claims</u> means any Claims arising from the rejection of any executory contract or unexpired lease pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code.

<u>Reorganization Case</u> means each Debtor's reorganization case under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code pending in the Bankruptcy Court.

<u>Reorganization via Debt Assumption</u> means a reorganization of Debtors in the manner described in Section 6.2(a) of the Plan.

<u>Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale</u> means a reorganization of Debtors in the manner described in Section 6.2(b) of the Plan.

Reorganized Debtors means Debtors from and after the Effective Date.

Retained Actions means any claims or causes of action (but not including any claims or causes of action comprising Avoidance Actions) including, but not limited to, claims or causes of actions (i) against former directors and officers of Debtors or their affiliates, including Daniel J. Miles or his bankruptcy estate, Case No. 09-92601-MHM, which case is also pending before the Bankruptcy Court, but excluding Ronald L. Glass, Debtors' Interim Chief Executive Officer, and James L. Mauck, Jr., Miles Properties, Inc.'s Chief Financial Officer, and (ii) concerning the Zero Balance Account System utilized by Debtors, as discussed in the Disclosure Statement, all of which shall, upon the Effective Date, vest in Reorganized Debtors pursuant to Section 6.2(c) of this Plan.

<u>Secured Claim</u> means a Claim that is (i) secured by a valid, perfected, and enforceable security interest, lien, mortgage, or other encumbrance, that is not subject to avoidance under applicable bankruptcy or non-bankruptcy law, in or upon any right, title, or interest of any Debtor in and to property of such Debtor's Estate, to the extent of the

value of the holder's interest in such Debtor's interest in such property as of the Confirmation Date, or (ii) subject to setoff under Section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code, to the extent of the amount subject to setoff, each as determined by Sections 506(a) and 1111(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 3012.

<u>Successful Bidder</u> means the party or parties that are the successful bidder at the Auction, determined in accordance with the Plan Support and Bidding Procedures Order and which are otherwise ready, willing, and able to perform under the provisions of Section 6.2 of the Plan.

<u>Transfer Agreement</u> means the Transfer, Consent, Affirmation, Extension and Modification Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit H hereto, pursuant to which, in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Purchasers will assume the modified obligations under the Amended Loan Documents.

<u>Unsecured Creditors' Assets</u> means (i) the Estates' Share of Proceeds, plus (ii) the Avoidance Actions (and their proceeds), plus (iii) the proceeds of all Retained Actions, net of the costs of collection and any other administrative costs incurred by Reorganized Debtors.

<u>Wachovia</u> means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., a national banking association, successor-by-merger to Wachovia Bank, National Association, as special servicer to the Lender.

<u>Wachovia's Expenses</u> means any Allowed Claim of Wachovia for its unpaid, reasonable, out-of-pocket costs, including reasonable fees and expenses of legal counsel, for which Wachovia has a right to payment under the Loan Documents or Amended Loan Documents.

<u>Wachovia Released Parties</u> means Wachovia and its affiliates, the Lender and its affiliates, and Wachovia Bank Commercial Mortgage Trust, Commercial Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2007-Whale 8, including their respective officers, directors, members, managers, representatives, legal counsel, financial advisors, and/or other agents, and their respective successors and assigns.

ZBA means that certain "Zero Balance Account System" utilized by Debtors, Affiliated Debtors and certain non-Debtor affiliates as their primary cash management system since 1999, or the inception of the respective entity, whichever came later, through February 2009.

#### **Section 1.2 Undefined Terms**

A capitalized term used in this Plan that is not defined in this Plan or the Disclosure Statement, but that is defined in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, has the meaning defined in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules.

#### Article II. TREATMENT OF CLAIMS NOT SUBJECT TO CLASSIFICATION

#### **Section 2.1 Substantive Consolidation**

This Plan proposes the substantive consolidation of Debtors' Estates. The entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute approval by the Bankruptcy Court, pursuant to Sections 105(a) and 1123(a)(5)(C) of the Bankruptcy Code, of substantive consolidation. To the extent this Plan is not confirmed, then the request of the Plan Proponents for substantive consolidation shall be deemed withdrawn, and absent any further order of the Bankruptcy Court, Debtors' Estates shall not be substantively consolidated. Under this Plan, substantive consolidation, if granted, shall not affect or change any Avoidance Action or Retained Actions that any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor would possess, respectively, or any defenses that any defendant in respect of any Avoidance Actions or Retained Actions would have in connection therewith, in the absence of such substantive consolidation.

Pursuant to this Plan, the Plan Proponents seek to place certain conditions on substantive consolidation, including specifically as it relates to preservation of Avoidance Actions and Retained Actions possessed by a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, respectively. For the avoidance of doubt, the elimination of intercompany claims between and among Debtors in respect of the ZBA shall in no way impair the right or ability of Debtors', or any one or more Debtors, to prosecute claims or causes of action against any third parties including, but not limited to, former officers and directors of any Debtor, Affiliated Debtor or any non-Debtor affiliate (excluding Ronald L. Glass and James L. Mauck, Jr.) arising out of the implementation and operation of the ZBA and any transfers of property belonging to any Debtor to any other Debtor, Affiliated Debtors or non-Debtor affiliate. Moreover, the elimination of intercompany claims between and among Debtors in respect of the ZBA shall in no way impair the right or ability of Affiliated Debtors, including Miles Properties, Inc. ("MPI"), and non-Debtor affiliates, from prosecuting claims or causes of action against any third parties including, but not limited to, former officers and directors of any Debtor, Affiliated Debtor or any non-Debtor affiliate (excluding Ronald L. Glass and James L. Mauck, Jr.) arising out of the implementation and operation of the ZBA and any transfers of property belonging to any Debtor to any other Debtor, Affiliated Debtors or non-Debtor affiliate.

### **Section 2.2** Administrative Claims; Fee Requests

(a) Each Administrative Claim against Debtors as of the Effective Date that is or becomes an Allowed Claim against Debtors shall, to the extent not already paid or otherwise satisfied under this Plan, be paid in full in cash by the Purchasers on the later of (i) the Effective Date and (ii) a date within 30 days after the date such Administrative Claim becomes an Allowed Claim; provided, however, that any undisputed Administrative Claims representing liabilities incurred by any Debtor in the ordinary course of business during the Reorganization Case shall be paid by the Purchasers in accordance with the terms and provisions of the particular transactions and agreements and orders of the Bankruptcy Court, if any, relating thereto, or on such other terms as

have been or may be agreed to between the holder of such Claim and the Purchasers. Except as specifically excluded under the terms of the order establishing the Administrative Claim Bar Date, each Administrative Claim shall be filed by the Administrative Claim Bar Date.

(b) All Fee Requests shall be Filed no later than 30 days after the Effective Date, or by such other date established by the Bankruptcy Court, and the Bankruptcy Court shall convene a hearing to rule on such Fee Requests.

## Section 2.3 Priority Tax Claims

Each Priority Tax Claim that is or becomes an Allowed Claim against any Debtor, shall, at the option of the Purchasers, be paid by the Purchasers (i) in full on the later of (A) the Effective Date and (B) a date within 30 days after the date such Priority Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Claim; (ii) in full by deferred cash payments over a period not exceeding six years after the date of assessment of such Claim including an interest component as required by the provisions of 11 U.S.C. § 1129(a)(9)(C); or (iii) on such other terms as have been or may be agreed to between the holder of such Claim and the Purchasers. Except as specifically excluded under the terms of the order establishing the Administrative Claim Bar Date, each Priority Tax Claim shall be filed by the Administrative Claim Bar Date.

#### Article III. CLASSIFICATION OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

### **Section 3.1** Class 1 – Priority Claims

Class 1 consists of all Priority Claims against Debtors.

#### Section 3.2 Class 2 – Lender Claims

Class 2 consists of all Lender Claims against Debtors.

#### Section 3.3 Class 3 – Other Secured Claims

Class 3 consists of all Other Secured Claims against Debtors. Each Other Secured Claim shall be deemed a different subclass of Class 3.

#### **Section 3.4** Class 4 - The MPI Portfolio Note Claim

Class 4 consists of the MPI Portfolio Note Claim against Debtors.

#### Section 3.5 Class 5 – General Unsecured Claims

Class 5 consists of all General Unsecured Claims against Debtors. For the avoidance of doubt, no Lender Claims nor the MPI Portfolio Note Claim (or any unsecured deficiency claim relating to the Lender Claims or the MPI Portfolio Note Claim, under Section 506(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise) shall be included in the Class of General Unsecured Claims.

### **Section 3.6** Class 6 – Interests

Class 6 consists of all Interests in any Debtor.

# Article IV. IDENTIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLASSES NOT IMPAIRED UNDER PLAN

#### **Section 4.1 Identification of Unimpaired Classes**

The Claims in Classes 1 and 3 are unimpaired under this Plan, and, therefore, the holders of Claims in such Classes are conclusively presumed pursuant to Section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code to have accepted this Plan.

### **Section 4.2** Class 1 – Priority Claims

To the extent not previously paid as allowed by the Bankruptcy Court, each Class 1 Claim that is or becomes an Allowed Claim shall be paid in full in cash by the Purchasers on the later of (y) the Effective Date and (z) a date within 30 days of the date such Claim becomes an Allowed Claim.

#### Section 4.3 Class 3 – Other Secured Claims

To the extent not previously paid as allowed by the Bankruptcy Court, each Class 3 Claim (including all subclasses of Class 3) that is or becomes an Allowed Claim shall, at the option of the Purchasers, either (i) retain (with this Plan leaving unaltered) the legal, equitable, and contractual rights to which such Allowed Claim entitles the holder, with enforcement of those rights to be made, at the option of the holder of such Allowed Claim, against (y) the Purchasers or (z) the particular assets acquired by the Purchasers which secured the Other Secured Claim, or (ii) be paid in full by the Purchasers on the later of (y) the Effective Date and (z) a date within 30 days of the date such Claim becomes an Allowed Claim.

# Article V. IDENTIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF CLASSES AND INTERESTS IMPAIRED UNDER THIS PLAN

# **Section 5.1 Identification of Impaired Classes and Impaired Interests**

The Claims in Classes 2, 4, and 5 are impaired under this Plan and, therefore, the holders of Claims in such Classes are entitled to vote to accept or reject this Plan. The Interests in Class 6 are impaired under this Plan as such Interests are being canceled and are therefore conclusively presumed pursuant to Section 1126(g) of the Bankruptcy Code to have rejected this Plan.

#### Section 5.2 Class 2 – Lender Claims

On the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Lender Claims shall be assumed by the Purchasers pursuant to the Amended Loan Documents. Alternatively, on the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Lender shall receive the Free and Clear Sales Proceeds, plus the balance of the Cash Collateral pursuant to Section 6.2(d)(vi) of the Plan.

#### Section 5.3 Class 4 - The MPI Portfolio Note Claim

On the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the MPI Portfolio Note Claim shall be assumed by GA Portfolio (or, if the Purchasers are not the Arbor Purchasers, the parent company of the Purchasers), as modified by the Amended MPI Portfolio Note. Alternatively, on the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the holder of the MPI Portfolio Note Claim shall receive any Free and Clear Sales Proceeds after payment in full of the Lender Claims; if the Lender Claims are not paid in full, then the holder of the MPI Portfolio Note Claim shall receive nothing in a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale.

# **Section 5.4** Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims

On the Effective Date, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Liquidating Trustee shall receive and be fully vested with the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, and each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim that is a member of Class 5 shall receive its pro rata share of the proceeds of the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, net of the costs of the Liquidating Trustee, as and when the Liquidating Trustee makes distributions under the Liquidating Trust Agreement.

#### Section 5.5 Class 6 – Interests

No property or assets of any kind shall be distributed to, or retained by, the holders of Interests, regardless of whether any such Interest is Allowed.

#### Article VI. MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS PLAN

# Section 6.1 Termination of Equitable, Legal, and Contractual Subordination Rights

The classification and manner of satisfying all Claims and Interests under this Plan takes into consideration all contractual, legal, and equitable subordination and subrogation rights, whether arising under general principles of equitable subordination, Section 510(c) of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise, that any Creditor or holder of an Interest has or may have against any other Creditor or holder of an Interest with respect to any distribution made pursuant to this Plan. Upon Confirmation, all contractual, legal, or equitable subordination or subrogation rights that a Creditor or Holder of an Interest has or may have with respect to any distribution to be made pursuant to this Plan shall be discharged and terminated, and all actions related to the enforcement of such subordination or subrogation rights shall be permanently enjoined. Accordingly, holders of Allowed Claims shall not be subject to payment to a beneficiary of such terminated subordination or subrogation rights, or to levy, garnishment, attachment, or other legal process by any such beneficiary, on account of such terminated subordination or subrogation rights. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Section 6.1 shall in any way alter the subordination provisions or other rights of the parties under the Participation Agreement Amendment or the Amended Intercreditor Agreement, which shall be fully enforceable according to their terms.

# **Section 6.2** Transfer and Vesting of Debtors' Assets

Reorganization via Debt Assumption. On the Effective Date in a (a) Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Purchasers shall (i) acquire all assets set forth in the Purchase and Sale Agreement from Debtors, (ii) make or cause to be made the Arbor Contribution (or the amount of the Arbor Contribution plus the Auction Overbid, if higher) to the Cash Collateral, and (iii) execute the Amended Loan Documents, and assume all obligations of Debtors thereunder. Also on the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Arbor Guarantor (or, if the Purchasers are not the Arbor Purchasers, an affiliate of the Purchasers) shall execute the Arbor Guaranty, and GA Portfolio (or, if the Purchasers are not the Arbor Purchasers, the parent company of the Purchasers) shall execute the Amended MPI Portfolio Note, and assume all obligations of MPI Portfolio thereunder. As a result, Debtors and their Estates shall no longer own any assets except for the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, and the Retained Actions (which shall, upon the Effective Date, vest in Reorganized Debtors), nor shall Debtors, their Estates, or Reorganized Debtors have any interest in the Cash Collateral, except for the distributions from Cash Collateral required by Section 6.2(d) of this Plan.

- (b) Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale. Alternatively, on the Effective Date in a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, the Purchasers shall acquire all assets set forth in the Purchase and Sale Agreement from Debtors. As a result, Debtors and their Estates shall no longer own any assets except for the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, and the Retained Actions (which shall, upon the Effective Date, vest in Reorganized Debtors), nor shall Debtors, their Estates, or Reorganized Debtors have any interest in the Cash Collateral, except for the distributions from Cash Collateral required by Section 6.2(d) of this Plan.
- (c) Vesting of Debtors' Assets. Regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, on the Effective Date all assets and property of each Debtor's Estate transferred to the Purchasers pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, this Plan, and the Confirmation Order shall vest in the applicable Purchaser free and clear of all liens and other encumbrances, except for the liens and encumbrances of the Lender in a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, and the liens and encumbrances of any party holding an Allowed Class 3 Claim that is reinstated under Section 4.3(i) of this Plan. Creditors' Assets, except the Retained Actions (which shall, upon the Effective Date, vest in Reorganized Debtors), are hereby preserved and retained for enforcement solely and exclusively and in the discretion of the Liquidating Trustee and are vested in the Liquidating Trustee on the Effective Date, who shall be designated as the representative of Debtors' Estates for purposes of liquidating all Unsecured Creditors' Assets (except the Retained Actions), pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1123(b)(3)(B). The Retained Actions shall vest solely in Reorganized Debtors pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1123(b)(3)(B).

#### (d) Distributions on the Effective Date.

- (i) No later than two business days after the Confirmation Date, all parties expecting to submit a Fee Request shall provide an estimate of their unpaid and expected fees and expenses through the Effective Date to Arbor and Wachovia. On the Effective Date, an amount equal to that estimate shall be segregated from the Cash Collateral and placed in escrow pending approval of the Fee Requests. To the extent that amount is insufficient to pay all Fee Requests in full once approved by a Final Order, Wachovia shall supplement the amount from Cash Collateral upon entry of a Final Order, and to the extent that amount is greater than what is necessary to pay all Fee Requests in full once approved by a Final Order, the balance of the funds set aside shall be returned to Wachovia as Cash Collateral.
- (ii) The Liquidating Trust shall receive the Estates' Share of Proceeds, \$250,000 of which shall come from the Cash Collateral and \$50,000 of which shall be delivered by or on behalf of MPI in connection with certain monthly fee based payments received from Hediger Enterprises, Inc. as related to the management of Miles-Cherry Hill, Miles-Fox Hollow, Miles-Oak Park, MPI Azalea, MPI British Woods, MPI Cimarron, MPI Palms West and MPI Sunset Place pursuant to the Purchase and Sale

Agreement (the "Fee Based Payments"). MPI shall deliver to the Liquidating Trust the Fee Based Payments no later than the 20<sup>th</sup> day of each month until \$50,000 has been delivered in aggregate. If MPI ceases receiving the Fee Based Payments prior to delivering \$50,000 in aggregate to the Liquidating Trust, then MPI shall deliver the balance of the \$50,000 due to the Liquidating Trust within 10 business days of receiving notice that the Fee Based Payments will be discontinued. The Liquidating Trust shall also receive the Estates' Share of Auction Overbid which shall be delivered by the Purchasers.

- (iii) To the extent not already paid, Wachovia's Expenses shall be paid out of Cash Collateral.
- (iv) In a Reorganization via Debt Assumption, the Purchasers shall receive \$150,000 from the Cash Collateral to be applied against their professional fees incurred in connection with the Reorganization Cases. To the extent the Arbor Purchasers are not the Successful Bidder at the Auction, regardless of whether there is a Reorganization via Debt Assumption or a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, Arbor shall receive the break-up fee from the Free and Clear Sale Proceeds on the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan Support and Bidding Procedures Order.
- (v) Any Cash Collateral distributed or advanced by Wachovia prior to the Effective Date to Debtors or their property manager for the payment of Allowed Administrative Claims against Debtors shall, if such funds have not be paid to holders of Allowed Administrative Claims (with checks in float assumed to be amounts paid as long as the funds subsequently clear the payor's account) either be (i) immediately paid to holders of Allowed Administrative Claims designated by the Purchasers, or (ii) returned to Wachovia and treated as Cash Collateral.
- (vi) The balance of the remaining Cash Collateral after the distributions described in parts (i)-(v) shall be retained by Wachovia and (y) in Reorganization via Debt Assumption, allocated to the various reserves and escrow accounts in accordance with the Amended Loan Documents, or (z) in a Reorganization via Free and Clear Sale, applied against the Lender's Claims, provided, however, that in either case, sufficient reserves or escrows shall be established in the event the amount set aside for Fee Requests is insufficient to pay all Allowed Fee Requests.

# Section 6.3 Appointment of the Liquidating Trustee and Transfer of Unsecured Creditors' Assets

(a) Subject to subpart (b) immediately below, on the Effective Date or as soon thereafter as is practicable, the Unsecured Creditors' Assets, except the Retained Actions (which shall, upon the Effective Date, vest in Reorganized Debtors), shall be transferred to the Liquidating Trust. The Liquidating Trust shall also assume all Administrative Claims which arise after the Effective Date, including, without limitation, all fees payable pursuant to Section 1930 of Title 28 of the United States Code arising after the Effective Date, until a final decree is entered in the Reorganization Cases.

- (b) At any time prior to the Effective Date, Ronald L. Glass, Debtors' Interim Chief Executive Officer, may determine in his sole discretion to liquidate and distribute the Unsecured Creditors' Assets by use of a plan administrator instead of a Liquidating Trustee if (i) in his business judgment he determines that doing so is advantageous to the holders of General Unsecured Claims and (ii) doing so does not diminish the expected distribution to holders of General Unsecured Claims under this Plan. If such an election is made, then there shall not be a Liquidating Trust and all references to the Liquidating Trust or the Liquidating Trustee under this Plan shall be deemed to refer to the plan administrator.
- (c) On or as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, the Liquidating Trustee shall be authorized to pay from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets all Allowed Administrative Claims, to the extent not assumed by the Purchasers.
- (d) As of the Effective Date, the Liquidating Trustee shall act in a fiduciary capacity for the holders of all Allowed General Unsecured Claims and shall have only those rights, powers, and duties conferred to him/her by this Plan, as well as the rights and powers of a trustee under Sections 542 through 552 of the Bankruptcy Code and the duties of a trustee under Sections 704(1), (2), (4), (5), (7), and (9) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Liquidating Trustee shall administer the Plan subject to the foregoing duties and powers, which shall include the following:
- (i) To prosecute, compromise, or settle objections to General Unsecured Claims and to make or direct that Distributions be made to holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims:
- (ii) To make decisions regarding the retention or engagement of professionals and to pay all reasonable fees and expenses incurred by such professionals after the Effective Date:
- (iii) To make or direct distributions to holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims and to otherwise implement and administer the Plan;
- (iv) To pursue, litigate or settle all Avoidance Actions, and to the extent reasonable or necessary, to cooperate with the Reorganized Debtors to the extent any Retained Actions prosecuted by Reorganized Debtors are also pursued against a party that may be liable on an Avoidance Action;
- (v) To file with the Bankruptcy Court the reports and other documents, and to pay any and all fees required by the Plan or otherwise required, to close the Reorganization Cases;
- (vi) To set off amounts owed to Debtors against any and all amounts otherwise due to be distributed to the holder of any Allowed Claim under the Plan; and
- (vii) To take all other actions not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan deemed necessary or desirable in connection with administering the Plan.

- (e) The Liquidating Trustee shall be compensated from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets. The Liquidating Trustee shall be entitled to bill for his services at the hourly rate he/she charges in the ordinary course of business and shall be compensated for such services from available Cash. The Liquidating Trustee may engage counsel and other professionals to represent him/her in connection with his/her duties hereunder (the "Post-Confirmation Professionals"); provided, however, that Post-Confirmation Professionals shall not be precluded from representing the Liquidating Trustee to the extent that certain of their Administrative Claims remain unpaid. Any fees and expenses of such Post-Confirmation Professionals shall constitute post-confirmation Administrative Claims, but shall be paid solely from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets.
- The Post-Confirmation Professionals shall be paid 90% of their fees and 100% of their costs on a monthly basis from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets. Post-Confirmation Professionals shall file fee applications no less frequently than every 120 days seeking approval of fees and expenses to be awarded by the Bankruptcy Court, including approval of the amounts paid on a monthly basis. A Post-Confirmation Professional who fails to file an application seeking approval of compensation and expenses previously paid when such application is due every 120 days shall preclude such Post-Confirmation Professional from being paid monthly as provided herein until an interim fee application has been filed and heard by the Bankruptcy Court. Upon the filing of each such application, the Post-Confirmation Professionals shall be entitled to request the payment of some or all of any pending holdbacks in fees. The Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to allow or disallow all post-confirmation Administrative Claims of the Liquidating Trustee and the Post-Confirmation Professionals. invoices for services rendered and out-of-pocket expenses incurred which are to be submitted shall be sufficiently detailed to identify the hours worked, the rates charged, and the work performed.
- (g) The Liquidating Trustee may employ such staff as is reasonably necessary to carry out his/her functions and duties, store the books and records of Reorganized Debtors, and compensate such staff and pay for such premises from the Unsecured Creditors' Assets.
- (h) The Liquidating Trustee may resign at any time; provided, however, that he/she shall file a motion with the Bankruptcy Court in connection therewith and request that a successor or replacement be appointed in accordance herewith, which motion shall be on notice to the twenty (20) largest creditors of each Debtor holding Allowed General Unsecured Claims and the Office of the United States Trustee. The Office of the United States Trustee or any party in interest, by motion filed with the Bankruptcy Court, or the Bankruptcy Court on it own order to show cause, may seek to remove the Liquidating Trustee for cause, including under Section 324 of the Bankruptcy Code, for the violation of any material provision of this Plan, or in the event the Liquidating Trustee becomes incapable of acting hereunder as a result of physical or mental disability and such physical or mental disability continues for a period in excess of thirty (30) days (except in the case of death, in which instance the procedures for replacement will begin immediately). In the event of a resignation or removal, the Liquidating Trustee, unless he/she is incapable of doing so, shall continue to perform his/her duties hereunder until

such a time as a successor is approved by a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court. In the event the Liquidating Trustee resigns or is removed, the successor shall be elected in the manner prescribed by Section 1104(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

# **Section 6.4** Management

On the Effective Date, all managers, officers, or other officials of Debtors shall be deemed to have resigned, without any further action on the part of any Person. Unless already set forth in the Disclosure Statement, on or before the Plan Documents Filing Date, the Plan Proponents shall have Filed a notice listing the Liquidating Trustee and the responsible party or parties of Reorganized Debtors, and such notice shall include, in accordance with Section 1129(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, (i) the identity of and affiliations of the Liquidating Trustee and the responsible party or parties of Reorganized Debtors, and (ii) the identity of any insider (as such term is defined in Section 101(13) of the Bankruptcy Code) that will be employed and retained by the Liquidating Trustee or Reorganized Debtors, and the nature of any compensation for such insider.

# **Section 6.5** Manner of Payments Under this Plan

At the option of the applicable payor, any cash payment to be made pursuant to this Plan may be made by a check or wire transfer or as otherwise required or provided in applicable agreements. Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, any payment or other distribution which any payor is required, by this Plan, to make to the holder of an Allowed Claim on the Effective Date shall be deemed timely made if made on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Date.

#### **Section 6.6 Unclaimed Consideration**

If any Person entitled to receive cash or other consideration under this Plan cannot be located, does not respond to mailings to such Person's last known address according to Debtors' books and records, or does not negotiate any check representing a distribution within six months of receipt thereof, any such cash or other consideration (and accrued interest or dividends thereon) will revert to the payor, and in the case of the Liquidating Trust as payor, shall remain for the benefit of all other beneficiaries of the Liquidating Trust. The Liquidating Trustee shall not be required to attempt to locate such Person beyond six months after the Effective Date.

# Section 6.7 Term of Injunctions or Stays

Unless otherwise provided, all injunctions or stays provided for in the Reorganization Cases pursuant to Section 105 or 362 of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise in effect on the Confirmation Date shall remain in full force and effect until the Effective Date. All distributions and transfers of property pursuant to the terms of this Plan shall be made free and clear of all Claims and Interests, except for in a

Reorganization via Debt Assumption (i) the liens and encumbrances of the Lender, (ii) the liens and encumbrances granted to Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd. in the equity interests of the Arbor Purchasers, and (iii) the liens and encumbrances of any party holding an Allowed Class 3 Claim that is reinstated under Section 4.3(i) of this Plan. Upon the Confirmation of this Plan, all holders of Claims or Interests will be permanently enjoined from and restrained against commencing or continuing any suit, action, or proceeding, or asserting against any of Debtors, the Purchasers, or their assets or property, any Claim, Interest or cause of action based upon any act or omission, transaction or other activity of any kind or nature that occurred before the Confirmation Date as contemplated by Sections 524 and 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code.

# **Section 6.8** Date for Objections to Claims or Interests

Unless an earlier date has been set by the Bankruptcy Court or a later date is set by the Bankruptcy Court upon a motion (that may be Filed *ex parte* by Reorganized Debtors or Liquidating Trustee), all objections to Claims or Interests shall be Filed no later than the later of (i) 120 days after the Effective Date and (ii) 120 days after a particular proof of Claim or Interest is Filed, provided, however, that all proofs of Claim or proofs of Interest Filed after the Effective Date shall be deemed disallowed by operation of this Plan and without any Person having to File an objection thereto, with the exception of those Claims which may be filed after the Confirmation Date pursuant to Section 7.2 of this Plan.

#### **Section 6.9 Corporate Action**

On the Effective Date, the cancellation of all Interests, the execution and delivery of all documents contemplated by this Plan or any exhibit thereto to be executed and delivered in connection with this Plan, and all other matters provided for by this Plan involving corporate action by Debtors shall be deemed to have occurred and shall be in effect from and after the Effective Date pursuant to applicable state law governing Debtors, without any requirement of further action by any members, managers, or holders of Interests in Debtors or Reorganized Debtors.

# **Section 6.10 Compliance with Tax Requirements**

To the extent applicable, Reorganized Debtors and the Liquidating Trustee will comply with all tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed on them in connection with any distribution made pursuant to this Plan.

#### **Section 6.11 Dissolution of Reorganized Debtors**

After the entry of a final decree in the Reorganization Cases, or earlier if deemed appropriate by Reorganized Debtors, Reorganized Debtors shall be dissolved. To the extent necessary or appropriate, Reorganized Debtors or the Liquidating Trustee shall file

papers with the appropriate Governmental Unit (as defined under the Bankruptcy Code) to effectuate such dissolution, and the Plan and Confirmation Order shall be conclusive evidence of all necessary corporate authority to cause such dissolution to occur and be recognized.

#### Article VII. EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

# Section 7.1 Assumption and Rejection

All executory contracts and unexpired leases listed on Exhibit D shall be assumed and assigned to the Purchaser on the Effective Date. All other executory contracts and unexpired leases shall be deemed rejected as of the Confirmation Date. All cure payments which may be required to be made by the Purchasers under Section 365(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code in connection with such assumption and assignment as listed on Exhibit D shall be made on the Effective Date. In the event of a dispute regarding the need for and/or amount of any such cure payments, the ability of the Purchaser to provide adequate assurance of future performance, or any other matter relating to such assumption and assignment, the Purchasers shall make such cure payments in accordance with Final Orders of the Bankruptcy Court.

# **Section 7.2** Bar Date for Rejection Claims

Unless an order of the Bankruptcy Court provides otherwise, any proof of claim with respect to a Rejection Claim must be Filed no later than the earlier of (i) thirty days after the Confirmation Date and (ii) thirty days after the rejection by Debtors of such contract or lease.

#### Article VIII. DISCHARGE OF DEBTORS AND RELEASES

# **Section 8.1** Plan Binding

The provisions of this Plan shall bind all Creditors and holders of Interests, regardless of whether they accept this Plan as contemplated by Section 1141(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

#### **Section 8.2** Discharge

Pursuant to Sections 363(f), 524, and 1141(d)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, and except as otherwise specifically provided in this Plan or the Confirmation Order, as of the Effective Date, Confirmation shall discharge and release Debtors and their Estates, Reorganized Debtors, the Purchasers, and all property of Debtors and their Estates or the

Purchasers from any and all Claims, debts, liens, security interests, encumbrances and Interests that arose before the Confirmation Date including, but not limited to, all principal and any interest accrued thereon, and all liabilities in respect thereof shall be extinguished completely. The distributions of cash and other property or other performance under this Plan shall be in exchange for and in complete satisfaction, discharge, and release of all Claims against and Interests in Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, the Purchasers, or any of their assets or properties that arose prior to the Confirmation Date, including any Claim for interest accruing after the Petition Date and prior to the Effective Date. On and after the Effective Date, except as specifically provided in this Plan, all holders of Claims and Interests arising prior to the Confirmation Date shall be permanently barred and enjoined from asserting against any Debtor, Reorganized Debtor, the Purchasers, or their respective assets any other or further Claims or Interest that arose prior to the Confirmation Date, including Claims based on any act or omission, transaction, or other activity of any kind or nature that occurred prior to the Confirmation Date.

#### Section 8.3 Release of Arbor Released Parties

As of the Effective Date, and except for the specific obligations and Claims assumed under this Plan, the Arbor Released Parties shall be released by the Debtor Released Parties and the Wachovia Released Parties from any and all Claims, Avoidance Actions, Retained Actions, debts, liens, security interests, encumbrances, and Interests that arose before the Confirmation Date (including, but not limited to, all principal and any interest accrued thereon) held by the Debtor Released Parties or the Wachovia Released Parties and that are in any way relating to Debtors or their bankruptcy cases.

#### **Section 8.4** Release of Debtor Released Parties

As of the Effective Date, and except for the specific obligations and Claims assumed under this Plan, the Debtor Released Parties shall be released by the Arbor Released Parties and the Wachovia Released Parties from any and all Claims, including the Lender Claims and the MPI Portfolio Note Claim, Avoidance Actions, debts, liens, security interests, encumbrances, and Interests that arose before the Confirmation Date (including, but not limited to, all principal and any interest accrued thereon) held by the Arbor Released Parties and the Wachovia Released Parties and that are in any way relating to Debtors or their bankruptcy cases.

#### **Section 8.5** Release of Wachovia Released Parties

As of the Effective Date, and except for the specific obligations and Claims assumed under this Plan, the Wachovia Released Parties shall be released by the Arbor Released Parties and Debtor Released Parties from any and all Claims, Avoidance Action, Retained Actions, debts, liens, security interests, encumbrances, and Interests that arose before the Confirmation Date (including, but not limited to,

all principal and any interest accrued thereon) held by the Arbor Released Parties or the Debtor Released Parties and that are in any way relating to Debtors or their bankruptcy cases.

#### Article IX. NOTICES

Any notice given in connection herewith shall be as follows:

If to one or all of Debtors:

GlassRatner 3391 Peachtree Road, NE Suite 110 Atlanta, GA 30326-1014 Fax No. (678) 904-1991 Attn: Ronald L. Glass

# With a copy to:

Berger Singerman, PA 350 East Las Olas Boulevard Suite 1000 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Fax No. (954) 523-2872 Attn: Brian K. Gart

#### If to Arbor:

Arbor Realty Trust
333 Earle Ovington Boulevard
Suite 900
Uniondale, NY 11553
Fax No.
Attn: Jaclyn A. Jesberger

# With a copy to:

Hunton & Williams LLP 600 Peachtree Street, NE Suite 4100 Atlanta, GA 30308 Fax No. (404) 602-8864 Attn: Mark I. Duedall

If to Wachovia:

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 301 South College Street MAC D1053-254, 25<sup>th</sup> Floor Charlotte, NC 28202-6000 Fax No. \_\_\_\_\_\_ Attn: Dan Marthinsen

# With a copy to:

Alston & Bird, LLP One Atlantic Center 1201 West Peachtree Street Atlanta, GA 30309 Fax No. (404) 881-7777 Attn: Jason H. Watson

#### Article X. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

#### **Section 10.1 Jurisdiction over Claims and Actions**

The Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction over the Reorganization Cases, including, without limitation, such jurisdiction as is necessary to ensure that the purposes and intent of this Plan are carried out and that all distributions to holders of Allowed Claims are made as provided herein. The Bankruptcy Court shall also expressly retain jurisdiction: (i) to hear and determine all Claims and Interests and objections thereto; and (ii) to adjudicate and enforce all causes of action which exist or may exist on behalf of one or more of Debtors and Reorganized Debtors, including any Avoidance Actions, and including the Retained Actions (all of which shall, upon the Effective Date, vest in Reorganized Debtors).

#### **Section 10.2 Retention of Additional Jurisdiction**

The Bankruptcy Court shall also retain jurisdiction for the purpose of classification of Claims or Interests, the re-examination of Claims and Interests which have been allowed for purposes of voting, and the determination of such objections as may be Filed with respect to the Claims and Interests, including Section 502(c) proceedings for estimation of Claims. The Bankruptcy Court shall further retain jurisdiction for the following additional purposes:

(i) to determine all questions and disputes regarding title to the assets of Debtors, all causes of action, controversies, disputes or conflicts, regardless of whether subject to any pending action as of the Effective Date, between Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, the Liquidating Trustee, Purchasers and any other party, including, without limitation, any right to recover assets pursuant to the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code;

- (ii) to modify this Plan after the Effective Date pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules;
  - (iii) to enforce and interpret the terms and conditions of this Plan;
- (iv) to enter such orders, including, but not limited to, such future injunctions as are necessary to enforce the respective title, rights, and powers of Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, the Liquidating Trustee, or the Purchasers, and to impose such limitations, restrictions, terms, and conditions on such title, rights, and powers as the Bankruptcy Court may deem necessary;
  - (v) to enter an order closing the Reorganization Cases;
- (vi) to correct any defect, cure any omission, or reconcile any inconsistency in this Plan or the Confirmation Order as may be necessary to implement the purposes and intent of this Plan;
- (vii) to determine any and all applications for allowance of compensation and reimbursement of expenses and the reasonableness of any fees and expenses authorized to be paid or reimbursed under the Bankruptcy Code or this Plan;
- (viii) to determine any applications or motions pending on the Effective Date for the rejection, assumption, or assumption and assignment of any executory contract or unexpired lease and to hear and determine, and, if need be, to liquidate any and all Claims arising therefrom;
- (ix) to determine any and all applications, adversary proceedings, and contested matters that may be pending on the Effective Date;
- (x) to determine all controversies, suits, and disputes that may arise in connection with the interpretation, enforcement, or consummation of this Plan;
- (xi) to consider and act on the compromise and settlement of any Claim against or cause of action including the Avoidance Actions, and including the Retained Actions (which shall, upon the Effective Date, vest in Reorganized Debtors), by or against Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, or the Liquidating Trustee arising under or in connection with this Plan;
- (xii) to issue such orders in aid of execution of this Plan to the extent authorized by Section 1142 of the Bankruptcy Code;
- (xiii) to determine such other matters or proceedings as may be provided for under Title 28 or any other title of the United States Code, the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, other applicable law, this Plan, in any order or orders of the Bankruptcy Court, the Confirmation Order, or any order which may arise in connection with this Plan or the Confirmation Order:

- (xiv) to enter and implement such orders as may be necessary or appropriate in the event the Confirmation Order is for any reason stayed, revoked, modified, or vacated;
- (xv) to resolve all disputes concerning the releases and compromises of claims and causes of action contained in this Plan or granted pursuant to this Plan, and enter all orders necessary or appropriate in connection with such resolution; and
- (xvi) to hear and determine federal, state and local tax matters in accordance with Sections 346, 505, and 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code.

#### **Section 10.3 Modifications of this Plan**

This Plan may be modified at any time or from time to time jointly by the Plan Proponents to the extent allowed by 11 U.S.C. § 1127. Notwithstanding any reference herein to documents in the forms annexed to this Plan or Filed, the Plan Proponents may revise those documents or those forms (i) by filing such revised forms with the Bankruptcy Court prior to the Confirmation Date, or (ii) with the written consent of any party in interest that is entitled to vote on this Plan and is adversely affected thereby.

#### Section 10.4 Revocation and Withdrawal of this Plan

The Plan Proponents reserve the right to jointly revoke or withdraw this Plan at any time before the Confirmation Date. If the Plan Proponents jointly revoke or withdraw this Plan prior to the Confirmation Date, or if the Confirmation Date or the Effective Date does not occur despite the satisfaction of all the conditions to the Effective Date set forth in Section 12.1 hereof, then this Plan shall be deemed null and void. In such event, nothing contained herein or in the Disclosure Statement shall be deemed to constitute an admission of validity of any Claims or Interests, or waiver or release of any claims or causes of action of Debtors or any other Person, or prejudice in any manner any right of Debtors or any Person in any proceeding.

# **Section 10.5 Section 1146 Exemption**

Pursuant to Section 1146(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, the issuance, transfer, or exchange of any security under this Plan, the making or delivery of any and all instruments evidencing the transfer of property interests, or the making or delivery of mortgages, deeds to secure debt, or other security instruments executed pursuant to, in implementation of, or as contemplated by this Plan including, without limitation, deeds and mortgages to which any Debtor or Purchaser is a party whether as grantor or grantee, shall not be taxed under any law imposing a stamp tax, deed stamps, documentary stamp tax, transfer tax, mortgage recording tax, intangible tax, or similar tax.

The exempt transfer instruments shall include, without limitation, all instruments evidencing the transfer of the Properties to the Purchasers and, in a Reorganization via

Debt Assumption, the Purchasers' granting of security interests, mortgages, deeds of trust, or deeds in favor of Wachovia or the Lender.

#### Article XI. DISPUTED CLAIMS RESERVE

# **Section 11.1 Reserve for Disputed Claims**

On each date the Liquidating Trustee is to make a distribution to the holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims, the Liquidating Trustee shall be obligated to reserve for the account of any holder of a Disputed Claim property that the Liquidating Trustee estimates to be the property that would be distributable to such holder in accordance with this Plan if such Disputed Claim were an Allowed Claim. In the event, and to the extent, such Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim, the property so reserved for the holder thereof shall be distributed to such holder pursuant to this Plan.

# Article XII. CONDITIONS TO CONFIRMATION AND TO THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THIS PLAN

# **Section 12.1 Conditions to Confirmation**

Except as expressly jointly waived by the Plan Proponents, the following condition must occur and be satisfied before Confirmation may take place:

(a) the Confirmation Order shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Plan Proponents, the Purchasers, and Wachovia.

#### **Section 12.2 Conditions to Effective Date**

Except as expressly jointly waived by the Plan Proponents, the following conditions must occur and be satisfied before the Effective Date may take place:

- (a) <u>Entry of Confirmation Order.</u> The Confirmation Order shall have been signed by the Bankruptcy Court and duly entered on the docket for the Reorganization Cases by the Clerk.
- (b) <u>No Stay.</u> The Confirmation Order shall not have been reversed, stayed, modified, or amended, and the time for filing a notice of appeal, or petition for certiorari, or request for reargument or further review or rehearing shall have expired.
- (c) <u>Effectiveness of Documents.</u> The Plan Documents and all other instruments, certificates, agreements, and documents provided for under, or necessary or

appropriate to effectuate the terms of this Plan and the actions contemplated hereunder, shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Plan Proponents, the Purchasers, and Wachovia, shall have been executed and delivered by the parties thereto, and shall have become effective prior to or contemporaneously with the occurrence of the Effective Date.

# **Section 12.3** Notice of Effective Date

Promptly following the occurrence of the Effective Date, Debtors shall File a written notice regarding the occurrence of same.

#### Article XIII. MISCELLANEOUS

# **Section 13.1 Headings**

The headings used in this Plan are inserted for convenience only and neither constitute a portion of this Plan nor in any manner affect the provisions of this Plan.

# Section 13.2 Binding Effect, Successors, and Assigns

The rights and obligations of any Person named or referred to in this Plan shall be binding upon such Person and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of such Person.

#### Section 13.3 Cram Down

If all of the applicable requirements for Confirmation are met as set forth in Section 1129(a) of the Bankruptcy Code except subsection (8) thereof, the Plan Proponents shall request the Bankruptcy Court to confirm this Plan pursuant to Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, notwithstanding the requirements of subsection (8) thereof, on the basis that this Plan is fair and equitable and does not discriminate unfairly with respect to any non-accepting, impaired Class or Classes, and, if necessary, the Plan Proponents, may, at the Confirmation Hearing, alter the proposed treatment of any Class that has voted to reject this Plan so as to provide treatment of such Class of a type consistent with the minimal treatment required to satisfy the requirements of Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to such Class.

# **Section 13.4 Governing Law**

Except to the extent that the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules are applicable or a rule of law or procedure is supplied by other federal law, and subject to the provisions of any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document entered in connection with this Plan, the rights and obligations arising under this Plan shall be

governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Georgia, without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of law thereof.

# Section 13.5 Severability

Should any non-material provision in this Plan be determined to be unenforceable, such determination shall in no way limit or affect the enforceability and operative effect of any or all other provisions of this Plan. To the extent that any provision of this Plan would, by its inclusion in this Plan, prevent or preclude the Bankruptcy Court from entering the Confirmation Order, the Bankruptcy Court, on the request of the Plan Proponents, may modify or amend or permit the modification or amendment of such provision, in whole or in part as necessary to cure any defect or remove any impediment to the Confirmation existing by reason of such provision.

#### Section 13.6 Time

Bankruptcy Rule 9006 shall be used to compute any period of time prescribed or allowed by this Plan.

# **Section 13.7 Voting and Objections to Claims or Interests**

The failure by Debtors or other Persons to object to or examine any Claim or Interest for purposes of voting shall not be deemed a waiver of Debtors', Reorganized Debtors' or such other Person's rights to object to, or re-examine, such Claim or Interest, in whole or in part, for purposes of allowance or distribution.

# **Section 13.8 Exculpations and Injunctions**

Exculpations. Except as otherwise provided in this Plan or the (a) Confirmation Order, on the Effective Date, the Debtor Released Parties, the Arbor Released Parties, and the Wachovia Released Parties (collectively, the "Exculpated Parties"), shall be deemed to have been released by each other, the Purchasers, the Newco SPEs (as defined in the Letter of Intent), and all holders of Claims or Interests, of and from any Claims, obligations, rights, causes of action and liabilities for any act or omission occurring from and after the Petition Date in connection with, or arising out of, the Reorganization Cases, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any sales of assets of some or all of Debtors' Estates, the negotiation of the terms of this Plan and the Disclosure Statement, the pursuit of approval of the Disclosure Statement, the pursuit of confirmation of the Plan, the consummation of the Plan, and the administration of the Plan or the property to be distributed under the Plan, except for acts or omissions which constitute bad faith, willful misconduct, self dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, or gross negligence, and all such Persons, in all respects, shall be entitled to rely upon the advice of counsel

with respect to their duties and responsibilities under the Plan and under the Bankruptcy Code. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the exculpations and releases provided for herein shall not apply to any acts or omissions that occurred prior to the Petition Date, and for the avoidance of doubt, the defined term "Exculpated Parties" does not include Daniel J. Miles or his Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate, Case No. 09-92601-MHM, which case is also pending before the Bankruptcy Court.

Injunctions. As of the Confirmation Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, the Purchasers, the Newco SPEs (as defined in the Letter of Intent), the Wachovia Released Parties, the Arbor Released Parties, and any Persons that have held, currently hold, or may hold a Claim, Interest, or other debt or liability that is treated pursuant to the terms of the Plan are enjoined from taking any of the following actions on account of any such Claims, Interests, debts, or liabilities, other than actions brought to enforce any rights or obligations under the Plan, against Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, the property of Debtors' respective estates, the Liquidating Trustee, or the Purchasers (or any of the foregoing parties respective affiliates): (i) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding; (ii) enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering in any manner any judgment, award, decree, or order; (iii) creating, perfecting, or enforcing any lien or encumbrance; (iv) asserting a setoff or right of recoupment of any kind against any debt, liability, or obligation; and (v) commencing or continuing, in any manner or in any place, any action that does not comply with or is inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan or the Confirmation Order. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan does not release, impair, waive, or serve as any impediment whatsoever of the prosecution of any Retained Actions, except for those Retained Actions against the Arbor Released Parties and the Wachovia Released Parties that are released under Sections 8.3 and 8.5 of the Plan.

#### **Section 13.9 De Minimis Distributions**

No cash distribution of less than ten dollars shall be made to any holder of an Allowed Claim. Such undistributed amount will be retained by the applicable payor for purposes of implementing the Plan in accordance with the provisions thereof.

# **Section 13.10 Construction**

As used in this Plan, singular terms shall include the plural, plural terms shall include the singular, masculine pronouns shall include all pronouns, and the word "or" shall not be construed as exclusive.

# **Section 13.11 Other Documents and Actions**

The Plan Proponents may execute, deliver, file, or record such documents, contracts, instruments, releases, and other agreements, and take such other action as is reasonable, necessary, or appropriate to effectuate the transactions provided for in this Plan or the terms of this Plan, without any further action by or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

Respectfully submitted,

Ronald L. Glass
Interim Chief Executive Officer

Dated: November 11, 2010

# EXHIBIT A Arbor Guaranty

# EXHIBIT B Amended MPI Portfolio Note

# EXHIBIT C Liquidating Trust Agreement

# EXHIBIT D List of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

# **EXHIBIT E Management Agreement**

# EXHIBIT F Purchase and Sale Agreement

# EXHIBIT G Participation Agreement Amendment

# **EXHIBIT H Transfer Agreement**

# EXHIBIT I Letter of Intent



August 9, 2010

Via Electronic Mail
Mr. Ronald L. Glass
Chief Restructuring Officer
Miles Properties, Inc.
10800 Alpharetta Highway
Suite 208-525
Roswell, GA 30076

Re: Letter of Intent for the Acquisition of Substantially All of the Assets of MPI Portfolio I, LLC, MPI Azalea, LLC, Miles-Cherry Hill, LLC, Miles-Oak Park, LLC, Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC, MPI Cimarron, LLC, MPI Sunset Place, LLC, MPI Palms West, LLC, and MPI British Woods, LLC

Dear Mr. Glass:

Arbor Realty Trust, Inc. ("Arbor") on behalf of its to-be-formed affiliates set forth below (such affiliates are collectively referred to herein as the "Buyer"), is pleased to present this non-binding letter of intent (the "Letter of Intent") for the acquisition of certain assets and liabilities of MPI Portfolio I, LLC ("MPI Portfolio") and of MPI Azalea, LLC, Miles-Cherry Hill, LLC, Miles-Oak Park, LLC, Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC, MPI Cimarron, LLC, MPI Sunset Place, LLC, MPI Palms West, LLC, and MPI British Woods, LLC (the "SPE Sellers," and collectively with MPI Portfolio, the "Sellers"), currently debtors in Chapter 11 cases (the "Bankruptcy Cases") administered by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Georgia (the "Bankruptcy Court"), subject to the terms and conditions set forth below (the "Proposed Transaction").

The following structure for the Proposed Transaction is contemplated:

1. Acquisition Structure. The Buyer is prepared to be the sponsor and co-proponent (the other proponent being the Sellers) of a plan of reorganization (the "Plan") under Section 1129 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the "Bankruptcy Code") through which the Buyer would acquire substantially all of the assets of the Sellers. With respect to the SPE Sellers, the acquired assets would include, without limitation, their real property (each sometimes referred to herein as a "Property," and collectively, the "Properties"), other fixed assets, deposits, intangible assets, contracts and leases, reserves related to the Purchased Assets, claims and causes of action of the SPE Sellers against third parties, and other cash or cash equivalents on hand at closing (or held for the benefit of the Sellers or

for payment of Sellers' obligations). With respect to MPI Portfolio, the acquired assets would include any assets pertaining to the operation of the SPE Sellers and any claims and causes of action of the SPE Sellers against third parties, but would specifically exclude the equity interests in the SPE Sellers. The items in the foregoing sentences are collectively referred to as the "Purchased Assets." The Purchased Assets would be acquired free and clear of all claims, liens, interests, encumbrances, and the like except for (i) the Assumed Liabilities (as set forth in Section 4 of this Letter of Intent), (ii) the claims of Wachovia Bank, National Association (the "Lender") under the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents (as defined below), and (iii) the claims of Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd. under the MPI Portfolio Loan Documents (as defined below).

- 2. <u>Definitive Plan</u>. Following execution of this Letter of Intent by the Sellers and the Buyer, the Sellers and the Buyer shall commence drafting of the Plan for the purchase by the Buyer of the Purchased Assets (which Plan shall include, and may not materially alter, except upon agreement by the Sellers and the Buyer, the terms and conditions set forth in this Letter of Intent).
- Consideration. As consideration for the Proposed Transaction (the "Transaction Consideration") and as sponsor of the Plan, Arbor would form various new entities, the first being referred to herein as Arbor Newco Holdings ("Newco Holdings"), and the balance being newly-formed, special purpose entities, each of which would be a subsidiary of Newco Holdings and each of which would own one of the Properties of the SPE Sellers (the "Newco SPEs"). In consideration for this transaction, the following would occur at closing:
  - a. The Newco SPEs would assume the full amount, currently \$73,300,544.20, of the debt evidenced by that certain Promissory Note by and between the Lender and the SPE Sellers, dated May 17, 2007, in the original principal amount of \$92,700,000.00 (the "SPE Note"), and all other obligations of the SPE Sellers to the Lender under the mortgages, deeds to secure debt, or deeds of trust, as applicable, and assignments of leases and rents (the "SPE Sellers' Security Instruments" and collectively with the SPE Note, the "SPE Sellers' Loan Documents"), subject to certain amendments to the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents (as set forth in Section 5 below), which amendments shall be a condition precedent to closing; plus
  - b. Newco Holdings will assume the full amount, currently \$11,860,928, of the debt evidenced by that certain Promissory Note by and between the Lender and MPI Portfolio, dated May 17, 2007, in the original principal amount of \$15,000,000.00 (the "MPI Portfolio Note") (which MPI Portfolio Note is currently held by Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd.), and all other obligations of MPI Portfolio under the mortgages, deeds to secure debt, or deeds of trust, as applicable, and assignments of leases and rents (the "MPI Portfolio Security Instruments" and collectively with the MPI Portfolio Note, the "MPI Portfolio Loan Documents"), subject to certain amendments to the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents (as set forth in Section 6 below), which amendments shall be a condition precedent to closing; plus

- c. An existing affiliate of the Buyer, reasonably acceptable to the Lender after the Lender's review of financial statements for such affiliate, shall provide a guaranty of the entire amount of the SPE Note, <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that such guaranty shall only take effect on the occurrence of diversion of rents, malfeasance by the Newco SPEs, and other similar "bad boy" actions as that term is commonly understood in similar real estate transactions, including any environmental damage or environmental claims arising due to actions by the Newco SPEs from and after the time the Newco SPEs take ownership of the Properties; plus
- d. The Buyer will provide \$1,000,000 in new equity, to further enhance the Recurring Replacement Reserve Escrow Account, as defined in the SPE Loan Documents; plus
- e. \$250,000 would be provided to the Sellers on the effective date of the Plan, which the Sellers may allocate, in their sole discretion (but which allocation shall be set forth in the Plan), to fund a pro rata distribution to the holders of allowed, unsecured claims against the Sellers (but which may not be used to satisfy any claims whatsoever held by the Buyer or its affiliates or the Lender and its fund a post-confirmation trust or other mechanism determined by the Sellers, in their sole discretion, to wrap up the post-confirmation affairs of the Sellers and pursue other assets of the Sellers' estates (the "Estate Cash Recovery"); plus
- f. In consideration of the Buyer's retention of Carroll (as defined in Section 7, below) to provide management services for the Properties for not less than 90 days following closing of the Proposed Transaction, the Sellers' estates shall receive, as additional consideration allocated by the Sellers' estates from the Fee-Based Payments due the Sellers from the management fees paid to Carroll for such services, \$50,000, which funds shall be allocated under the Plan at the sole discretion of the Sellers (but which not be used to satisfy any claims whatsoever held by the Buyer or its affiliates or the Lender and its affiliates); plus
- Pursuant to provisions to be included in the Plan, the Buyer and Lender, on behalf g. of themselves and all affiliates, respectively, shall acknowledge and agree that they, individually and collectively, shall have no rights, whether legal, equitable or otherwise, in, to and under any and all claims and causes of action belonging to any of the Sellers or the bankruptcy estates of Miles Properties, Inc., MPI Development Group, Inc., MPI Chaucer, LLC and Miles-April Ridge, LLC (collectively, the "Other Debtors") under section 541(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, if any, including, but not limited to, any and all claims or recoveries of any nature by the Sellers or the Other Debtors (i) against non-debtor third parties, (ii) based upon or arising under chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code, (iii) against former directors and officers, (iv) based on commercial torts unrelated to the regular operations of the Properties, and the proceeds of all such claims or recoveries (collectively, the "Claims"). To the extent the Sellers or the Other Debtors, individually or collectively, are successful prosecuting the Claims, the Plan shall provide that the Buyer and Lender expressly waive (and not assert) any right to

share in any distributions from the Claims or their proceeds. Nothing in this Letter of Intent or in the Plan shall in any way limit the Sellers' or the Other Debtors' rights to determine how, whether, when, and against whom the Claims should be prosecuted, which determinations are and shall remain within the sole and exclusive control of the Sellers and the Other Debtors, including any successor in interest thereto, whether pursuant to a Plan or otherwise.

provided, however, that if during the course of the Buyer's due diligence with respect to the Purchased Assets, it is determined that there are (i) material decreases in the amount of the SPE Sellers' actual expenditures vs. budgeted expenditures to maintain the value of the SPE Sellers' Purchased Assets, (ii) insufficient reserves in place for taxes, insurance, and/or any other items as required by the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents, (iii) any other material issues relating to the Purchased Assets or the Proposed Transaction, (iv) costs to cure any defaults under any executory contracts or leases to be assumed, the Transaction Consideration (and specifically, the amount of the SPE Note that is assumed or the allocation of cash on hand or reserves as set forth in Section 5(e), below) may be reduced accordingly. Based on the allocation of funds on hand as set forth below and the due diligence conducted to date by the Buyer, it is not anticipated that there will be any alteration of Transaction Consideration.

- 4. Assumed Liabilities. The Newco SPEs will assume, at closing, (i) all obligations of the SPE Sellers to the Lender under the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents, and (ii) all post-petition, unpaid liabilities of the SPE Sellers which are set forth in the cash collateral budget approved by the Bankruptcy Court through closing. For the avoidance of doubt, item (ii) of the previous sentence will include all allowed administrative claims incurred by the Sellers through closing, including reasonable attorneys' fees and professional expenses of the Sellers. Newco Holdings will assume, at closing, all obligations of MPI Portfolio to Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd., as assignee under the MPI Portfolio Loan Documents.
- 5. <u>Amendments to the SPE Sellers Loan Documents</u>. At (and as a condition to) closing, the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents shall be revised as follows:
  - Term: The reference to "June, 2010" in Section 2.1(a)(iii) of the SPE Note shall a. be modified to be the date that is three years after the effective date under the Plan. The existing requirements set forth in Section 2.1(e) of the SPE Note for any one year Extension Option shall be modified so that the only conditions are: (i) the Lender has received written notice not more than one hundred twenty (120) days but not less than forty-five (45) days prior to the Maturity Date that the Borrower desires to extend the Maturity Date Notice (the "Maturity Date Notice"), (ii) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing as of the date of the Maturity Date Notice or the date the applicable Extension Term would commence, (iii) the completion, prior to the commencement of the proposed Extension Term, of updated property condition reports by a third party firm selected by the Lender, and to the extent such reports indicate material capital repairs, replacements and improvements needed to maintain the existing status of a particular Property or Properties (if any, the "Further Deferred Maintenance"), the Buyer shall provide, no more than thirty days after receipt of the reports, a

budget reasonably acceptable to the Lender, setting forth the costs and timing to perform the Further Deferred Maintenance, and to the extent the Recurring Replacement Reserve Escrow Account does not have or is not projected to have sufficient funds to perform the Further Deferred Maintenance, then such Extension Option be further conditioned on all funds remaining each month during the Extension Term after the funding of the various Sub-Accounts set forth in Section 5.05(a) of the SPE Sellers' Security Instruments have been set aside in the Recurring Replacement Reserve Escrow Account until the Recurring Replacement Reserve Escrow Account has sufficient funds to perform the Further Deferred Maintenance during the Extension Term, and (iv) Borrower has delivered proof, reasonably satisfactory to the Lender in all respects, of the existence, at the time of the proposed extension, of a debt yield ratio (trailing NOI/Debt) of no less than 7.5% (the "Debt Yield Ratio Extension Test") based on the then existing outstanding amount of the SPE Note. In the event the Debt Yield Ratio Extension Test is not satisfied as a pre-condition for an Extension Option, then the SPE Buyers shall be allowed to "curtail" (as that term is used in the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents) or otherwise cause the contribution of further funds to the Buyers to pay down the SPE Note in an amount sufficient to satisfy the Debt Yield Ratio Extension Test. The provisions of Section 2.1(e) of the SPE Note relating to the extension fee payment (and credit toward principal if the conditions are not satisfied), and payment of reasonable costs and expenses of the Lender shall remain in place. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents (as originally drafted or as amended or modified) or the satisfaction of any requirement set forth above extend, no Extension Term shall extend beyond June 9, 2015.

- b. Interest Rate/Debt Service Coverage: The interest rate shall remain unchanged, but be subject to the allocation of interest under the "Junior Participation Rate" and "Senior Participation Rate" in the Participation and Servicing Agreement. The interest rate used in the calculation of Aggregate Debt Service Coverage and Debt Service Coverage in the MPI Portfolio Security Instruments shall be based on the LIBOR Margin and the LIBOR Rate (as those terms are defined in the SPE Note) in effect as of the applicable measuring point, instead of being the greater of that amount and 7.5%.
- Release Provisions: Each of the SPE Sellers' Security Instruments shall be amended to reflect that there shall be no limit on the number of Properties that may be released from the Loan. In addition, pursuant to a third party market sale or refinancing, the Lender may, in its sole discretion, consent to the release of any Property, but in any event, must authorize the release of a Property if (i) the Lender receives 100% of the net sales proceeds from such sale or refinancing, (ii) the minimum release price is not less than the amount allocated to such Property (which amount shall be agreed to by the Lender and the Buyer prior the closing of this Proposed Transaction), (iii) after such release, the Aggregate Debt Service Coverage is not lower than the Aggregate Debt Service Coverage immediately prior to the Property(ies) being released, (iv) the Lender has received an opinion of counsel at the expense of Buyer, to the effect that such release will not cause

any of the Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduits (the "REMICs") established in connection with that trust fund in which a portion of the SPE Loan has been deposited to fail to qualify as a REMIC or cause a tax to be imposed on the related trust fund under the REMIC provisions of the federal income tax law, and (v) with respect to any funds held in the Sub-Accounts (as that term is defined in the MPI Portfolio Security Instruments) which, prior to closing, have been specifically allocated by the Lender and the SPE Buyers to the Property(ies) being sold or refinanced, 95% of such funds are applied at the closing of such sale or refinancing to the SPE Note and 5% of such amounts are re-allocated in the Sub-Accounts for the remaining Properties.

- Excess Cash Flow/Lockbox Collections: The waterfall of monthly allocation of d. funds as set forth in Section 5.05 of the SPE Sellers' Security Instruments shall remain in place, except that (i) payments on the MPI Portfolio Note shall be accrued, (ii) there shall be no Curtailment Reserve Escrow Account, regardless of the Aggregate Debt Service Coverage (as defined in the SPE Sellers' Security Instruments) or other similar ratios required to be tested, and the definition of "O&M Operative Period" and "Curtailment Reserve Escrow Account" and all references thereto shall be deleted from the SPE Sellers' Security Instruments in their entirety, (iii) through June, 2013, all funds remaining each month after the funding of the various Sub-Accounts set forth in Section 5.05(a) of the SPE Sellers' Security Instruments shall be allocated to the Recurring Replacement Reserve Escrow Account, and (iv) starting in July, 2013, and provided that the conditions for an Extension Option have been satisfied (including the requirement, set forth in Section 5(a), above, that the Recurring Replacement Reserve Escrow Account has sufficient funds to allow for the performance of any Further Deferred Maintenance during the Extension Term), then all funds remaining each month after the funding of the various Sub-Accounts set forth in Section 5.05(a) of the SPE Sellers' Security Instruments shall be allocated (y) 75% to amortize the SPE Note, and (z) 25% to be retained by the Buyer, distributed to its affiliates, or used to make payments on the MPI Portfolio Note, in the Buyer's discretion.
- e. Reserves: With respect to reserves or other funds held by the Lender or the Sellers at closing, such funds shall be allocated first, to all allowed administrative claims incurred by the Sellers through closing, including reasonable attorneys' fees and professional expenses of the Sellers, to the extent any of the foregoing were not (i) already paid in full pursuant to any authority of the Sellers to use cash collateral through closing or (ii) assumed by the Newco SPEs pursuant to Section 4(ii) of this Letter of Intent, second, to pay the Estate Cash Recovery, third, to the actual closing costs, reasonable attorneys' fees, and professional expenses incurred by the Lender relating to the Bankruptcy Cases or the Proposed Transaction, fourth, to the actual closing costs, reasonable attorneys' fees, and professional expenses incurred by Arbor Realty Mortgage Securities 2004-1, Ltd., Arbor Realty Funding, LLC and the Buyer relating to the Bankruptcy Cases or the Proposed Transaction in an amount not to exceed \$150,000, fifth, to replenish insurance and tax reserves relating to the Properties, in an amount to be agreed to

- f. All Defaults Waived/Fees and Charges: For the avoidance of doubt, all defaults in existence as of closing under the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents shall be deemed waived. No late fees or default interest will be charged or collected on the SPE Note based on any actions or events prior to confirmation of the Plan.
- 6. <u>Amendments to MPI Portfolio Loan Documents</u>. At (and as a condition to) closing, the MPI Portfolio Loan Documents shall be revised as follows:
  - a. <u>Certain Interest Accrued</u>: The MPI Portfolio Note shall be amended to provide that all interest, fees, or other cash payment obligations under the MPI Portfolio Note shall be accrued, until maturity under the SPE Sellers' Loan Documents.
  - b. <u>All Defaults Waived/Fees and Charges</u>: For the avoidance of doubt, all defaults in existence as of closing under the MPI Portfolio Loan Documents shall be deemed waived. No late fees or default interest will be charged or collected on the MPI Portfolio Note based on any actions or events prior to confirmation of the Plan.
- Management of the Properties. Following closing, all management services of the Properties shall be performed by an entity selected by the Buyer, in its sole and absolute discretion, provided, however that the Buyer shall confirm in writing promptly after execution of this Letter of Intent, that management of the Properties shall be performed by Carroll Property Management, LLC ("Carroll") pursuant to a management services contract reasonably acceptable to the Buyer and Carroll, for the period up to closing and through 90 days after closing of the Proposed Transaction (and if Buyer does not so confirm, then the Sellers may terminate this Letter of Intent immediately and without any obligation to the Buyer), and Buyer shall engage in good faith negotiations with Carroll thereafter for a longer term continuation of the use of Carroll for management services and provided further, however, any fees paid to Carroll or any other property manager for any period beginning on or after Closing shall not exceed 4% of Rents (as that term is defined in the SPE Seller's Security Instruments), and the Buyer shall not be entitled to any additional asset management or similar fee related to ownership of the properties.
- 8. <u>Break-Up Fee</u>. The Buyer shall be entitled to a break-up fee equal to \$600,000 (the "Break-Up Fee"), on the terms set forth immediately below. The Break-Up Fee shall be payable only if (i) this Letter of Intent is executed by the Sellers, (ii) the Buyer stands ready, willing, and able to close on the terms set forth in this Letter of Intent (or, once the Plan is filed, on the terms set forth in the Plan), and (iii) either (a) the Lender thereafter

withdraws its support for the Proposed Transaction and a disposition or reorganization of the Sellers or the Properties (singly or collectively, an "Alternative Transaction") actually closes or is consummated, or (b) the Sellers propose an Alternative Transaction which the Lender does not oppose, and such Alternative Transaction actually closes or is consummated (provided that nothing in the foregoing sentence shall in any way limit or alter the Lender's discretion regarding any Alternative Transaction). The Break-Up Fee, if due under the terms of the preceding sentence, shall be paid at closing or upon consummation of an Alternative Transaction.

- Releases. The Plan shall contain standard and customary mutual, general releases, along 9. with an injunction preventing any party from taking action with respect to any such released claims. The releases shall cover (i) with respect to the Buyer and its affiliates, all claims in any way relating to the Bankruptcy Cases, the Sellers, or their affiliates, which are or may be held by the Lender and its affiliates, any creditors of the Sellers, or by the Sellers and any of their affiliates (except Daniel Miles), (ii) with respect to the Lender and its affiliates, all claims in any way relating to the Bankruptcy Cases, the Sellers, or their affiliates, which are or may be held by the Buyer and its affiliates, any creditors of the Sellers, or by the Sellers and any of their affiliates (except Daniel Miles), and (iii) with respect to the Sellers, all claims in any way relating to the Bankruptcy Cases, the Sellers, or their affiliates (except Daniel Miles) which are or may be held by the Buyer and its affiliates, the Lender and its affiliates, or any creditors of the Sellers, provided, however, that the releases provided to any of the foregoing parties shall (x) extend to each of the foregoing parties' respective officers, directors, members, managers, representatives, legal counsel, financial advisors and/or other agents, and their respective successors and assigns (except Daniel Miles), and (y) exclude obligations specifically set forth in the Plan relating to effectuation of the Plan (such as the loan assumption matters contemplated hereby, the obligation to transfer the Properties under the Plan, and the like).
- Bankruptcy Court Approval. The Sellers and the Buyer shall jointly seek and obtain Bankruptcy Court approval of the Plan. The Plan shall provide that the Buyer, may upon written notice to the Sellers, terminate its commitment under the Plan immediately upon (i) failure by the Bankruptcy Court to approve, by a date certain, certain bidding protections (including the Break-Up Fee as set forth in paragraph 8 herein) and auction procedures that will be negotiated by the Buyer and the Sellers and will be set forth in the Plan or the Stalking Horse Order, or (ii) the Bankruptcy Court's ruling that it will not approve the Proposed Transaction under the Plan, or conditions such approval on modifications to the Plan that are not acceptable to the Buyer, in its sole and absolute discretion.
- 11. <u>Conditions</u>. The Proposed Transaction would be subject to the prior satisfaction of customary conditions precedent, which shall include (without limitation):
  - a. the negotiation of the Plan and all related documents required thereby, in form and substance acceptable to the Buyer and the Sellers each in their sole and absolute discretion, and which will contain such representations, warranties, and covenants that are customary for a sale under the Bankruptcy Code;

- b. the submission by the Buyer of an operating expense budget for the balance of 2010 and for 2011, by Property (and then consolidated), including a capital expenditure budget for the same period, by Property, all of which has been approved by the Lender in its sole discretion;
- c. the entry by the Bankruptcy Court of an order, in form and substance acceptable to the Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion (provided, however, that it shall contain bidding procedures that provide for a cap (in an amount to be negotiated) on the maximum credit bid by the Lender in any auction, and an allocation of excess proceeds of any auction between the Lender and to enhance the Estate Cash Recovery (also to be negotiated)), approving the Buyer as the stalking horse bidder for the Purchased Assets under the Plan (the "Stalking Horse Order"), which order has not been stayed or reversed;
- d. the entry by the Bankruptcy Court of an order, in form and substance acceptable to the Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion, approving the Plan and the consummation of the Proposed Transaction (the "Confirmation Order"), which order has not been stayed; and
- e. to the extent necessary, the negotiation, assumption, and assignment to the Buyer of any executory contracts or unexpired leases.

As an additional condition precedent to closing, the SPE Sellers shall provide evidence, reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer, that they have taken all action reasonably necessary to fully realize on those insurance proceeds available to fix certain hail damage and damage to signage at the location known as Highland Brooke.

- 12. <u>Due Diligence</u>. The Sellers will use reasonable efforts to accommodate all bona fide requests for due diligence from the Buyer, which shall include reasonable access to the Purchased Assets, the Sellers' personnel and professionals, contracts, books and records and all other documents and data, as the Buyer or its professionals may reasonably request in connection with their investigation and due diligence of the Purchased Assets. The Buyer shall use reasonable efforts to complete all due diligence on the Purchased Assets such that it can be a joint proponent of the Plan to be filed by no later than August 20, 2010.
- Timing. If this Letter of Intent is accepted as the framework for good faith efforts by the Buyer and the Sellers to prepare the Plan and its associated documents, then it is contemplated that (i) the Buyer shall promptly deliver an initial draft of the Plan and accompanying Disclosure Statement to the Sellers by August 16, 2010, and the Sellers and the Buyer shall endeavor to negotiate and finalize the Plan for filing by August 23, 2010, (ii) the Sellers shall, by no later than August 23, 2010, submit appropriate papers to the Bankruptcy Court seeking entry of an order approving the bidding protections and auction procedures associated with the Plan, (iii) the Bankruptcy Court will approve the bidding protections and auction procedures set forth in the Stalking Horse Order by no later than September 10, 2010, (iv) an auction of the Purchased Assets, subject to the terms of the Stalking Horse Order, shall take place by no later than October 1, 2010, (v) a

hearing to approve the Plan and the Proposed Transaction shall be convened, and the Confirmation Order entered, by no later than October 25, 2010, and (vi) closing of the Proposed Transaction shall occur as soon thereafter as possible.

If this Letter of Intent is accepted by the Sellers, it is expected that the Sellers, the Buyer and the Lender shall work cooperatively to ensure that no later than five business days following its execution, a consent order extending the Sellers' use of cash collateral pursuant to the Final Order Authorizing Use of Cash Collateral for Eight "Wachovia Debtors" (the "Final Cash Collateral Order," located at Docket No. 500 in the Bankruptcy Cases, and as supplemented by Docket No. 510) shall be entered in the Bankruptcy Cases, permitting the Sellers to use cash collateral of the Lender through October 31, 2010, for line items and in amounts consistent with the budgeted amounts in the Final Cash Collateral Order, and also including all other reasonable administrative claims incurred by the Sellers through closing, including reasonable attorneys' fees and professional expenses of the Sellers, subject to the Sellers' adherence to the timeframe set forth above for the consummation of the Proposed Transaction (or an Alternative Transaction, as defined in paragraph 8, on a timeframe that requires consummation of such Alternative Transaction by no later than October 25, 2010). If no such consent order is entered, then it is understood that the Sellers or the Buyer may either terminate this Letter of Intent.

- 14. <u>As-is, Where-is sale.</u> The Proposed Transaction shall be consummated on an as-is, where-is basis.
- 15. Confidentiality. Until the filing of the Plan, and except as otherwise required by order of the Bankruptcy Court, the Sellers shall not share with any other person or entity a copy of (or any part or description of) this Letter of Intent, or any terms of the Proposed Transaction (which shall except for (i) the Sellers' professionals, agents, and employees who need to know the terms hereof in order to assist the Sellers in evaluating the Proposed Transaction and taking the other steps contemplated hereby, and (ii) the Lender and its professionals, agents, and employees who need to know of the terms hereof in order to assist the Lender in evaluating the Proposed Transaction and taking the other steps contemplated hereby.
- 16. <u>Termination</u>. This Letter of Intent, once executed, will automatically terminate and be of no further force and effect (except with respect to the enforceable provisions set forth below) upon the earliest of (i) the filing of the Plan by the Sellers and the Buyer, (ii) mutual agreement of the Buyer and the Sellers, and (iii) August 23, 2010.
- 17. Non-Binding Nature of this Letter of Intent. The parties acknowledge and agree that (i) they have not attempted in this Letter of Intent to set forth all essential terms of the subject matter of the Proposed Transaction, (ii) such remaining essential terms shall be the subject of further negotiations, and (iii) a binding commitment with respect to the Proposed Transaction described herein will result only from the filing of the Plan. Notwithstanding that either or both parties may expend substantial efforts and sums in anticipation of consummating the Proposed Transaction under the Plan, in no event will this Letter of Intent be construed as an enforceable contract to sell or purchase the

Purchased Assets and that each party accepts the risk that the Plan will not be completed or agreed to by both the Sellers and the Buyer; provided, however, that paragraphs 8, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, and 21 of this Letter of Intent are intended to constitute enforceable agreements by the parties (the "Binding Provisions"). The Binding Provisions constitute the entire agreement and understanding of the parties in respect of the Proposed Transaction and supersede all prior understandings, agreements, or representations by or among the parties, written or oral, regarding the Proposed Transaction. The Buyer shall be free to terminate its due diligence, and each party shall be free to terminate negotiations with the other and to terminate this Letter of Intent, for any reason whatsoever or for no reason, at any time prior to the filing of the Plan, without incurring liability to the other.

- 18. Governing Law and Jurisdiction. This Letter of Intent shall be governed by and construed in accordance with internal substantive laws of the State of New York, and the Bankruptcy Court shall have continuing jurisdiction over this Letter of Intent.
- 19. Expenses. Except for the Break-Up Fee subject to the terms of this Letter of Intent and the Stalking Horse Order, the Buyer shall bear its own expenses in connection with the Proposed Transaction. The Sellers shall bear their own respective expenses in connection with the Proposed Transaction.
- 20. <u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. Nothing herein is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or entity other than the parties hereto, any rights or remedies under or by reason of this Letter of Intent.
- Miscellaneous. This Letter of Intent may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one agreement. The headings of the various paragraphs of this letter agreement have been inserted for reference only and shall not be deemed to be a part of this Letter of Intent. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Letter of Intent may be amended or modified only by a writing executed by all of the parties hereto.

If this Letter of Intent is not countersigned by the Sellers by August 10, 2010, it will automatically expire and thereafter be of no further force or effect.

We look forward to continuing to work with you to finalize this Proposed Transaction. If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at 516-506-4411.

John Felletter

Sincerely,

Authorized Signatory

AGREED TO, this \_\_\_\_ day of August, 2010

Mr. Ronald L. Glass
Chief Restructuring Officer
MPI Portfolio I, LLC
MPI Azalea, LLC
Miles-Cherry Hill, LLC
Miles-Oak Park, LLC
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC
MPI Cimarron, LLC
MPI Sunset Place, LLC
MPI Palms West, LLC
MPI British Woods, LLC

We look forward to continuing to work with you to finalize this Proposed Transaction. If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at 516-506-4411.

Sincerely,

John Felletter Authorized Signatory

AGREED TO, this 10 day of August, 2010

Mr. Ronald L. Glass

Acting Chief Executive Officer

MPI Portfolio I, LLC

MPI Azalea, LLC

Miles-Cherry Hill, LLC

Miles-Oak Park, LLC

Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC

MPI Cimarron, LLC

MPI Sunset Place, LLC

MPI Palms West, LLC

MPI British Woods, LLC

### **EXHIBIT J**List of Transfers Within 90 Days of Petition Date

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 115 of 126 Payments to Creditors Within 90 Days of the Petition Date

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI Azalea, LLC	B Jay Contracting	12/3/09, 12/14/09, 12/29/09, 1/4/10	\$6,560.00
MPI Azalea, LLC	City of Atlanta Water Dept.	12/15/2009	\$44,826.82
		10/13/09, 10/22/09, 11/10/09,	
MPI Azalea, LLC	CSS Services, Inc.	12/2/09	\$11,409.00
MPI Azalea, LLC	Gas South	10/22/09, 11/20/09, 12/22/09	\$18,888.92
MPI Azalea, LLC	Landscape Management Services	10/12/2009	\$12,000.00
		10/26/09, 12/3/09, 12/14/09,	
MPI Azalea, LLC	Nasworthy Carpet Care	12/29/09, 12/30/09	\$12,340.00
		10/8/09, 10/13/09, 10/14/09,	
MPI Azalea, LLC	Seagull Enterprises	10/15/09, 10/21/09	\$6,067.17
SUBTOTAL			\$112,091.91

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
	·	10/20/09, 11/9/09, 12/3/09,	•
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	B Jay Contracting	12/14/09, 12/29/09	\$10,000.00
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Dekalb County Water	10/22/09, 11/16/09, 12/15/09 10/22/09, 12/10/09, 12/15/09,	\$24,182.57
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Gas South	12/22/09, 1/4/10 10/22/09, 11/12/09, 12/3/09,	\$8,665.13
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Jennie Carpentry	12/15/09 10/9/09, 10/15/09, 10/22/09, 10/23/09, 11/9/09, 11/19/09,	\$8,486.00
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Seagull Enterprises	12/21/09	\$12,686.18
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Wilmar Industries	10/14/2009	\$6,756.57
SUBTOTAL			\$70,776.45

	Name of Recipent of		Amount of
Name of Debtor	Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Payment/Transfer

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 116 of 126 Payments to Creditors Within 90 Days of the Petition Date

MPI Oak Park, LLC **SUBTOTAL** 

Dekalb County Water

12/15/2009

\$9,424.47 \$9,424.47

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Dekalb County Water	11/16/2009	\$10,142.59
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Georgia Power	10/22/09, 11/16/09, 12/15/09	\$8,864.43
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Home Depot Supply	11/12/2009	\$9,184.09
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Imagistics International, Inc.	10/14/2009 11/13/09, 11/18/09, 12/11/09,	\$5,948.01
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Seagull Enterprises	12/24/09 10/22/09, 12/11/09, 12/22/09,	\$5,475.33
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	The Overseer Protective Svc	1/4/10	\$8,316.00
SUBTOTAL			\$47,930.45

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI Cimarron,LLC	City of Tampa Utilities	10/23/09, 11/12/09, 12/15/09 10/23/09, 11/12/09, 11/16/09,	\$27,014.83
MPI Cimarron,LLC	Critical Intervention Services	12/15/09	\$12,660.32
MPI Cimarron,LLC	Hillsborough Cnty Water Dept.	10/23/09, 11/12/09, 12/15/09	\$28,622.73
MPI Cimarron,LLC	Home Depot Supply	11/12/09, 12/14/09, 12/22/09	\$15,315.65
MPI Cimarron,LLC	Llifestyle Carpets	11/17/09, 12/17/09 10/23/09, 11/1/09, 11/12/09,	\$7,477.17
MPI Cimarron,LLC SUBTOTAL	Tampa Electric	11/18/09, 12/15/09	\$14,768.84 <b>\$105,859.54</b>

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI Sunset Place, LLC	City of St. Petersburg Real Estate & Prop. Mgt. Dept.	10/13/09, 10/23/09, 11/12/09, 12/15/09	\$22,098.87

#### Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main

Document Page 117 of 126
Payments to Creditors Within 90 Days of the Petition Date

MPI Sunset Place, LLC Lifestyle Carpets **SUBTOTAL** 

11/12/2009

\$5,489.46 **\$27,588.33** 

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI Palms West, LLC	Critical Intervention Services	10/13/09, 12/11/09, 12/14/09	\$20,144.20
MPI Palms West, LLC	Orlando Utilities Commission	11/10/09, 12/16/09	\$21,409.12
MPI Palms West, LLC	Waste Services of FL	10/23/09, 12/10/09, 12/16/09	\$7,117.95
SUBTOTAL			\$48,671.27

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI British Woods, LLC	City of Durham	10/22/09, 11/12/09, 12/7/09, 12/29/09 10/22/09, 10/23/09, 10/27/09,	\$38,786.30
MPI British Woods, LLC	Duke Energy	10/31/09, 11/23/09, 12/29/09	\$10,471.50
MPI British Woods, LLC	Home Depot Supply	10/14/09, 11/12/09, 12/14/09	\$17,902.44
MPI British Woods, LLC	Reliable Roofing	10/31/2009	\$6,728.10
MPI British Woods, LLC SUBTOTAL	Waste Management of Atlanta	10/22/09, 11/12/09, 11/24/09	\$10,348.20 <b>\$84,236.54</b>

	Name of Recipent of		Amount of
Name of Debtor	Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Payment/Transfer
MPI Portfolio I, LLC	Wachovia Bank, N.A.	10/9/09, 11/9/09, 12/9/09	\$458,979.36

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 118 of 126 Payments to Creditors Within 90 Days of the Petition Date

MPI Portfolio I, LLC Wachovia Bank, N.A. \$173,955.20 \$356,848.06 MPI Portfolio I, LLC Wachovia Bank, N.A. **SUBTOTAL** \$989,782.62

**TOTAL** \$1,496,361.58

### **EXHIBIT K Amended Intercreditor Agreement**

(To be Filed By Plan Documents Filing Date)

### EXHIBIT B List of Transfers Within 90 Days of Petition Date

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 121 of 126 Payments to Creditors Within 90 Days of the Petition Date

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI Azalea, LLC	B Jay Contracting	12/3/09, 12/14/09, 12/29/09, 1/4/10	\$6,560.00
MPI Azalea, LLC	City of Atlanta Water Dept.	12/15/2009 10/13/09, 10/22/09, 11/10/09,	\$44,826.82
MPI Azalea, LLC	CSS Services, Inc.	12/2/09	\$11,409.00
MPI Azalea, LLC	Gas South	10/22/09, 11/20/09, 12/22/09	\$18,888.92
MPI Azalea, LLC	Landscape Management Services	10/12/2009 10/26/09, 12/3/09, 12/14/09,	\$12,000.00
MPI Azalea, LLC	Nasworthy Carpet Care	12/29/09, 12/30/09 10/8/09, 10/13/09, 10/14/09,	\$12,340.00
MPI Azalea, LLC SUBTOTAL	Seagull Enterprises	10/15/09, 10/21/09	\$6,067.17 <b>\$112,091.91</b>

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
ramo or Bobtor	r aymond rranerer	Date of Faymond Transfer	r dymond rrando
		10/20/09, 11/9/09, 12/3/09,	
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	B Jay Contracting	12/14/09, 12/29/09	\$10,000.00
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Dekalb County Water	10/22/09, 11/16/09, 12/15/09	\$24,182.57
		10/22/09, 12/10/09, 12/15/09,	
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Gas South	12/22/09, 1/4/10	\$8,665.13
•		10/22/09, 11/12/09, 12/3/09,	
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Jennie Carpentry	12/15/09	\$8,486.00
•	• •	10/9/09, 10/15/09, 10/22/09,	
		10/23/09, 11/9/09, 11/19/09,	
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Seagull Enterprises	12/21/09	\$12,686.18
MPI Cherry Hill, LLC	Wilmar Industries	10/14/2009	\$6,756.57
SUBTOTAL			\$70,776.45

Name of Recipent of Amount of Name of Debtor Payment/Transfer Date of Payment/Transfer Payment/Transfer

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 122 of 126 Payments to Creditors Within 90 Days of the Petition Date

MPI Oak Park, LLC **SUBTOTAL** 

Dekalb County Water

12/15/2009

\$9,424.47 \$9,424.47

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Dekalb County Water	11/16/2009	\$10,142.59
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Georgia Power	10/22/09, 11/16/09, 12/15/09	\$8,864.43
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Home Depot Supply	11/12/2009	\$9,184.09
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Imagistics International, Inc.	10/14/2009 11/13/09, 11/18/09, 12/11/09,	\$5,948.01
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC	Seagull Enterprises	12/24/09 10/22/09, 12/11/09, 12/22/09,	\$5,475.33
Miles-Fox Hollow, LLC SUBTOTAL	The Overseer Protective Svc	1/4/10	\$8,316.00 <b>\$47,930.45</b>

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI Cimarron,LLC	City of Tampa Utilities	10/23/09, 11/12/09, 12/15/09 10/23/09, 11/12/09, 11/16/09,	\$27,014.83
MPI Cimarron,LLC	Critical Intervention Services	12/15/09	\$12,660.32
MPI Cimarron,LLC	Hillsborough Cnty Water Dept.	10/23/09, 11/12/09, 12/15/09	\$28,622.73
MPI Cimarron,LLC	Home Depot Supply	11/12/09, 12/14/09, 12/22/09	\$15,315.65
MPI Cimarron,LLC	Llifestyle Carpets	11/17/09, 12/17/09 10/23/09, 11/1/09, 11/12/09,	\$7,477.17
MPI Cimarron,LLC SUBTOTAL	Tampa Electric	11/18/09, 12/15/09	\$14,768.84 <b>\$105,859.54</b>

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI Sunset Place, LLC	City of St. Petersburg Real Estate & Prop. Mgt. Dept.	10/13/09, 10/23/09, 11/12/09, 12/15/09	\$22,098.87

#### Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main

Document Page 123 of 126
Payments to Creditors Within 90 Days of the Petition Date

MPI Sunset Place, LLC Lifestyle Carpets **SUBTOTAL** 

11/12/2009

\$5,489.46 **\$27,588.33** 

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI Palms West, LLC MPI Palms West, LLC MPI Palms West, LLC SUBTOTAL	Critical Intervention Services Orlando Utilities Commission Waste Services of FL	10/13/09, 12/11/09, 12/14/09 11/10/09, 12/16/09 10/23/09, 12/10/09, 12/16/09	\$20,144.20 \$21,409.12 \$7,117.95 <b>\$48,671.27</b>

Name of Debtor	Name of Recipent of Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Amount of Payment/Transfer
MPI British Woods, LLC	City of Durham	10/22/09, 11/12/09, 12/7/09, 12/29/09 10/22/09, 10/23/09, 10/27/09,	\$38,786.30
MPI British Woods, LLC	Duke Energy	10/31/09, 11/23/09, 12/29/09	\$10,471.50
MPI British Woods, LLC	Home Depot Supply	10/14/09, 11/12/09, 12/14/09	\$17,902.44
MPI British Woods, LLC	Reliable Roofing	10/31/2009	\$6,728.10
MPI British Woods, LLC SUBTOTAL	Waste Management of Atlanta	10/22/09, 11/12/09, 11/24/09	\$10,348.20 <b>\$84,236.54</b>

	Name of Recipent of		Amount of
Name of Debtor	Payment/Transfer	Date of Payment/Transfer	Payment/Transfer
MPI Portfolio I, LLC	Wachovia Bank, N.A.	10/9/09, 11/9/09, 12/9/09	\$458,979.36

# Case 10-60797-mhm Doc 828 Filed 11/11/10 Entered 11/11/10 16:33:15 Desc Main Document Page 124 of 126 Payments to Creditors Within 90 Days of the Petition Date

MPI Portfolio I, LLC Wachovia Bank, N.A. \$173,955.20 \$356,848.06 MPI Portfolio I, LLC Wachovia Bank, N.A. **SUBTOTAL** \$989,782.62

**TOTAL** \$1,496,361.58

#### EXHIBIT C Liquidation Analysis

(To be Filed By Plan Documents Filing Date)

#### EXHIBIT D Feasibility Analysis

(To be Filed By Plan Documents Filing Date)